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From: Faisal Siddiqi, Chair
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Date: February 19, 2019

Subject: Draft Educational Note: Application of IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

International Financial Reporting Standard 17 (IFRS 17) will be ef@Ttive ifganada on January 1,
2021 (tentatively deferred by the International Accounting S Boggl to January 1, 2022).

In preparation for this new standard, the Standards and il (SGC) has reviewed
the exposure draft of the International Actuarial Note 1 y the International
Actuarial Association (IAA), and has decided to release it educational note to assist CIA
members in the application of IFRS 17. Since IA
presented in a different format and may use dffe
Standards of Practice and educational notes de
decided to release the document withou

ology than that used in the
p y the CIA. Nevertheless, the SGC has

This draft educational note address#5 each oTge main topics of IFRS 17 and offers practical
examples of ways in which actuarigamight fhplement the standard. It will be supplemented by

Canadian-specific guidance € by various CIA practice committees. Additional
information about the IFR activities of these committees can be found on the CIA
IFRS 17 blog (login required)?

In accordance with th on Due Process for the Approval of Guidance Material Other

than Standards of Prac and research Documents, this draft educational note received final
approval for distribution @y the SGC on February 12, 2019.

Due to the length of the document and the time-sensitive nature of the information, and in
accordance with the exemptions section of the Bilingualism Policy, the President of the CIA
granted an exemption from publishing the French version of the IAN 100 simultaneously with
the English version. The translation is underway, and a French version will be released as soon
as practicable.

The actuary should be familiar with relevant educational notes. They do not constitute
standards of practice and are, therefore, not binding. They are, however, intended to illustrate
the application of the Standards of Practice, so there should be no conflict between them. The
actuary should note however that a practice that the educational notes describe for a situation
is not necessarily the only accepted practice for that situation and is not necessarily accepted
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actuarial practice for a different situation. Responsibility for the manner of application of
standards of practice in specific circumstances remains that of the members.

The IAA invites comments to be submitted to them by no later than April 26, 2019. The CIA and
the Actuarial Standards Board intend to submit a joint comment letter to the IAA, including
consideration of comments and suggestions from CIA practice committees involved in the
development of IFRS 17 related guidance.

If you have any questions or comments regarding this process, please contact Faisal Siddiqi,
chair of the SGC, at his CIA Online Directory address, Faisal.siddigi@ca.ey.com.
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Introduction

This IAN has been written to assist actuaries in complying with IFRS17 and ISAP 4, by offering
practical examples of ways in which actuaries might implement the ISAP and IFRS 17 in the
course of their work. This IAN is organised into four sections and 15 self-standing chapters,
discussing the main topics of IFRS 17. Each section has a brief introduction to the topics
contained in that section. It is written as a series of questions and answers.

This IAN is based on the standard issued in May 2017 and also reflects some of the discussions
held at the February and May 2018 Transition Resource Group (TRG) meetings. In chapter 12
(Transition) we have based the illustrative dates on an assumed date of initial application of
January 1, 2022 as proposed by the IASB in November 2018. This document will be revised in
the future to reflect any future changes to the standard by the IASB and discussions held at
future TRG meetings.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS?), as issu ational Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), are intended to serve as guidan g general purpose

purpose financial statements are an important so ion for investors and other
users to make economic decisions.

IFRS are focused on general purpose financial ts of consolidated groups of enterprises
but are equally applicable to single soci anies, be they profit-oriented entities or
not-for-profit organizations such as urance companies. Financial reports in
compliance with IFRS (IFRS reports ared voluntarily or their provision may be
required, e.g., by state or stock ex ulations. To be able to make an explicit and
unreserved statement of cq RS, the financial report needs to comply with all
requirements of the relev contents of a complete IFRS report are determined in
IAS 1.10.

Some IFRSs are gener le (e.g., IAS 1 and IAS 8), some refer to specific circumstances
(e.g., IAS 27, IAS 34, IFR¥L, or IFRS 10) while others refer to specific subjects (e.g., IAS 19,

IAS 37, IFRS 9, IFRS 15, o/®FRS 17) and are accordingly of more or less relevance for specific
activities within the preparation of an IFRS report, but considering the need to be in compliance
with all IFRS as noted before.

LIFRS refers to the ensemble composed by each individual international financial reporting standard (IFRS), as
issued by the IASB since 2001, and by each individual International Accounting Standard (IAS), as issued by IASB’s
predecessor IASC before 2001, by each International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee Interpretation
(IFRIC), as issued by IFRIC, and by each individual Standard Interpretation Committee Interpretations (SIC), as
issued by IFRIC’s predecessor SIC. All these terms are registered trademarks owned by the IFRS Foundation,
owning as well the copyright of all IFRS.

2|ASB, Preface to International Financial Reporting Standards (PRE), September 2010, PRE.6-7.

3 PRE.15 and IAS 1.16.
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The project to develop authoritative guidance for accounting for insurance contracts in IFRS
reports began in 1997. After introducing an interim standard, IFRS 4, in 2002, applicable from
2004 onwards, which allowed a wide scope of accounting approaches to continue to be applied,
the IASB completed the project in 2017 by issuing IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. IFRS 17 may be
applied from 2018 onwards under certain conditions and is to be applied for all periods
commencing after January 1, 2021, at the latest.

IFRS 17 provides authoritative guidance whether or to what extent items are within the scope
of IFRS 17 (subsequently referred to as “classification”) and about recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of items within the scope of IFRS 17. IFRS 17 covers insurance
contracts, whether issued directly or acquired in the form of reinsurance contracts assumed by
the entity. Rights and obligations of policyholders of direct insurance contracts are not within
the scope of IFRS 17.

The scope of IFRS 17 refers mainly to insurance contracts, as de b 17, as contracts
transferring significant insurance risk, irrespective of the la of the respective
jurisdiction which might classify and regulate other con nsugamce contracts. Special
inclusions or exclusions of some forms of contracts whi
provided. Investment contracts with discretionary, icif@ti atures are also covered by
IFRS 17.

Recognition follows typical accounting practic
in some cases, where they do not repres
purpose, IFRS 17 introduces a conce fe
describing whether a future non-efforcea
liability determination.

mits the recognition of future premiums
t eénforceable right of the entity. For that
d to as contract boundary (see chapter 2)
mium might be anticipated or not in the

The measurement under IF requires the determination of a current value of the insurance
contract, considering ectives for financial risks and the reporting entity’s
perspective for all oth s, M IFRS 17 referred to as the fulfilment cash flows. This current
value is the basis of the Ryeasurement of the insurance contract and is to be disclosed. The
disclosures include its conceptual parts, the unbiased estimate of the expected present value of
future cash flows, which is adjusted for the time value of money and further adjustments
applied for financial risks and non-financial risks.

At the outset a contractual service margin (CSM) is established to offset any gain, if any, at
initial measurement — that is, the value of premiums in excess of the value of obligations. This is
then recognized as revenue over the period providing coverage. While there is no unit of
account defined for the fulfilment cash flows, the unit of account for the CSM are partitions of
annual cohorts, based on at least three different profitability categories, which are part of
annual new business and form the unit of account of the CSM.

The described main approach of IFRS 17 is referred to in this IAN as general measurement
approach (GMA). IFRS 17 allows for a simplified alternative approach to be used for contracts of
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short coverage period (typically not more than 12 months), known as the premium allocation
approach (PAA). The PAA is similar to the unearned premium method in that the measurement
of the liability for remaining coverage of short duration contracts might be simplified by
distributing premiums over the coverage period in line with passage of time or in proportion to
expected benefits. The PAA only applies to the part of the total measurement of the contract
referred to as liability for remaining coverage, with the liability of incurred claims following the
GMA.

Some special guidance applies for certain contracts whose benefits are determined based on
indices or other underlying items like surplus (i.e., insurance contracts with direct participation
features) sometimes referred to as the variable fee approach (VFA). It includes a feature
distributing the insurer’s share in changes of financial risk and incurred events over the
remaining coverage period of the contract.

Reinsurance ceded is measured using assumptions that are consis ith the ceded contract.

ection for the
e of cash flows, except

The statement of financial performance (profit or loss) is
insurance service result. This contains as insurance rev

liability for remaining coverage for the respectiv far as originally resulting from
premiums. Actual benefits and expenses of t ing changes in the liability for
incurred claims, but excluding any mvestment ent paid, are presented as insurance
service expenses. Changes in the effect N g and any other effect of financial risk are
presented as insurance finance reve rgurance finance expenses in the financial result.
There is an accounting policy choicffito presgn®he effect of changes of financial risk directly in
equity (other comprehensive incor®), poteftially avoiding/reducing volatility in the statement
of financial performance.

isclose information about the amounts recognized in the
IFRS report, particularl g reconciliations of presented amounts, significant judgment in
determining those figur® including disclosures of the applied interest rate curves and a
guantification of the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, and the nature and extent of the
risks from the covered contracts.

IFRS 17 includes requ

In applying IFRS 17 for the first time, the standard provides two alternative approaches for
transition if the retrospective approach as required by IAS 8 is impracticable. These are a
modified retrospective approach and a fair value approach.

There is not a separate chapter on disclosure in this IAN. Rather, disclosure is discussed in
various chapters as relevant.

In this IAN the use of the phrase “paragraph X” etc. is a reference to paragraphs in IFRS 17.
Where paragraphs from other IAS/IFRS are referenced (e.g., paragraph 28 of IFRS13) then that
international standard is stated.
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In conjunction with IFRS 17, the IASB has published illustrative examples to IFRS 17. The
document contains 18 examples applying IFRS 17 to hypothetical situations. Paragraph
numbers in the illustrative examples to IFRS 17 are prefixed “IE”.

Interpretations are issued from time to time by the IASB Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). At
the time of drafting this IAN there are no interpretations relating to IFRS 17 but one or more
could be issued in the future.

In this IAN reference is sometimes made to “BC” paragraphs from the IASB “Basis for
Conclusions” which accompanied IFRS17 when it was published. Those paragraphs together
with any staff papers issued for TRG meetings, which are also referred to in this IAN, should not
be considered as authoritative guidance. Rather they may be considered as background or
supporting material.

Materiality, in an accounting sense, is a principle that essentiall
issues that have an effect on the outcome in an accounting s
discernable effect. Judgment is required in determining thd
and extent of actuarial analysis for the GMA.

Qboundary between
e that have no
ich affects that scope

The following comes from paragraph 2.4 of ISAP 1,

In case of omissions, understatements, or overs me e actuary should assess whether or
not the effect is material. The threshold of ma®ga/Mgunder which the work is being conducted

should be determined by the actuary uniggs it j os® by another party such as an auditor or
the principal. When determining the of mdteriality, the actuary should.:.

e Assess materiality from the poi
the actuarial services; thu
actuary expects it to df]
intended user’s reasond

of vie of®he intended user(s), recognizing the purpose of
jssiongunderstatement, or overstatement is material if the
either the intended user’s decision-making or the
ions;

e Consider the actu
and

and the entity that is the subject of those actuarial services;

e Consult with the prin&pal if necessary.

Proportionality, in an accounting sense, is a principle that determines that the appropriate
weights are given to all influences on accounting measures. Again, actuarial judgment has a
major influence.

In this IAN some examples are provided to help ease of understanding of the topic. It should be
remembered that these examples are for illustrative purposes only and each case needs to be
considered on its own merits.
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Chapter 1 on Classification of Contracts and Contract Boundaries

This chapter considers approaches to the classification required by IFRS 17, including the
identification of contracts, the scope of IFRS 17, and contract boundaries. It refers to other IANs
addressing further specific classifications.

Section A — The General Measurement Approach
Chapter 2 on Estimates of Future Cash Flows

This chapter considers the requirements for determining the estimates of future cash flows
whether they be to calculate liabilities for remaining coverage or liabilities for incurred claims. It
discusses issues such as which cash flows would typically be included, how those cash flows
might be estimated, how the term “current estimate” is defined, or what does it mean to be
unbiased. The chapter also refers the reader to the IAA’s monogrg urrent estimates*
and on stochastic modelling®. This chapter does not discuss the %g particular to
contracts with participating features or other variable cash 5  discussed in

chapter 8.

Chapter 3 on Discount Rates

This chapter considers the time value of money j eurement of future cash flows and
financial risk. It discusses both the “top downgan®abotto™Pup” approaches referred to in

IFRS 17 for determining yield curves. The chap e to the estimation of risk-free rates, the
decomposition of credit and liquidity ris ion of yield curves, and investment-
related expenses. The roles of the dj nt e in the measurement of cash flows varying with
underlying items, the determinaticlli of integes®xpense and the interest to be accreted on the
CSM are also considered.

Chapter 4 on Risk Adjust n-Financial Risks

ia for, and measurement of, the risk adjustment for non-

e general measurement approach under IFRS 17 including
the purpose and gener guirements of the risk adjustment, what risks would typically be
covered, and specific cor@jderations in determining the risk adjustment. This note discusses
how to reflect risk mitigation as risk mitigation in a pool, diversification, risk sharing,
catastrophic and other infrequent events, qualitative risks considerations, use of different
approaches by line of business, and general considerations in selecting and calibrating a risk
adjustment approach. For detailed risk adjustment methods and how to apply them, reference
is made to the IAA monograph risk adjustments ©. This chapter also covers high-level disclosure
requirements including confidence level disclosure, and issues around allocation of risk
adjustments to a lower level.

This chapter consider,
financial risk required

4 Measurement of Liabilities for Insurance Contracts: Current Estimates and Risk Margins
5 Stochastic Modelling — Theory and Reality from an Actuarial Perspective
6 Risk Adjustments under IFRS 17
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Chapter 5 on Unit of Account

This chapter considers the appropriate level of aggregation when accounting for business under
IFRS 17. Amongst other considerations this includes the determination of the unit of account
and the setting of portfolios and groups to meet IFRS 17 needs.

Chapter 6 on Contractual Service Margin and Loss Component

This chapter considers the requirement under IFRS 17 to set up a contractual service margin
(CSM) at outset for each group of insurance contracts, including how it should be determined,
the subsequent measurement, including the allocation of revenue to future periods in line with
the provision of services, and the treatment of the loss component for “onerous contracts”.

Section B — Variations to the GMA

Chapter 7 for Premium Allocation Approach

nder IFRS 17

hod, the

e general
measurement approach. The chapter focuses on the “li Ining coverage”. The
measurement of the contract liability from the point of of an insured event includes
the “liability for incurred claims” which follows th i ent¥of the general measurement
approach discussed in other chapters.

This chapter considers the use of the premium allocation approg
including the criteria to be met for an insurance contract to ¢

Chapter 8 on Participation Features and Othe Cash Flows

This chapter considers the recognition, m ememt and presentation of participating
features, particularly in the case of #OntractsWith direct participation features, as well as for
other cash flows subject to the dis@@etion ofhe insurer or linked to indices, including the
criteria to be met for those ¢ iC

Chapter 9 on Reinsurance

This chapter conside
IFRS 17, including ho

treaQent of reinsurance, both held (ceded) and assumed, under
ine if IFRS 17 is applicable to specific reinsurance transactions.
It discusses issues relateq to the separate presentation and valuation of the reinsurance ceded
from associated underlyi®s (ceded) contracts, and considerations in determining the estimate
of future cash flows, risk adjustments and CSM and allowance for counter party risk on
reinsurance ceded. Similar issues are covered for reinsurance assumed.

Section C — Uses of Fair Value Measurement in IFRS 17
Chapter 10 on Fair Value Measurement

This chapter considers the use of the fair value measurement of insurance contracts for IFRS 17
including for business combinations or portfolio transfers and on transition if the fair value
approach is chosen.

It discusses the determination of the fair value of insurance contracts in the context of the
more general guidance on fair value measurement found in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
and of common insurance industry practices.
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Chapter 11 on Business Combinations and Portfolio Transfers

This chapter considers the requirements under IFRS 17 when accounting for insurance
contracts or liabilities for incurred claims acquired in a business combination or a portfolio
transfer, and in particular the need to use the fair value of the contracts as the initial
consideration. This chapter considers the interaction between IFRS 17 and the more general
guidance found in IFRS 3 Business Combinations and discusses aspects of business
combinations, such as the determination of goodwill and the recognition of intangible assets.

Chapter 12 — Transition

This chapter considers the one-time event of presenting statements applying IFRS 17 for the
first time. It has four sections: an overview and then a section for each of the three transition
methods described in IFRS 17 — the retrospective approach of IAS 8 and the alternative
approaches introduced by IFRS 17, modified retrospective and fair value. The chapter has a
sample timeline. It also references content from chapter 15 on fgj Qg easurement.

Section D — Other IFRS 17 Topics

Chapter 13 on Embedded Derivatives

This chapter considers the requirements under IFRS 17 g thQgegffration of certain derivatives
embedded in contracts subject to the scope of IF . TN chaPter discusses the issues that

may arise in detecting and identifying embeddeeriv in such contracts which may need
to be separated. Further information about e derivatives based on other IFRS is found
in the existing IAN 10 embedded derivatiges.

Chapter 14 on Contract Modificati

This chapter considers the treatme@t undeMFRS 17 of contract modification to insurance
contracts, including reinsurag erecognition, and transfer to third parties. It
discusses what constitute @ act modification and what can be simply treated as a change
in estimate.

The chapter describe W for determining the deemed premium when treated as a
cancellation, and repla®fient of the original contract as well as the application under the PAA.

The approaches applicalR to future contractual cash flows to be considered due to a prior
contract boundary are also outlined.

It also discusses when and how contracts can be derecognised.
Chapter 15 on Measurement, Presentation and Disclosures

This chapter considers the general requirements for presentation of financial information under
IFRS contained in IAS 1 as well as the specific additional requirements in IFRS 17. It also
provides general comments on the disclosures required to explain the presentation such as the
required reconciliations. Additionally, this chapter discusses the additional requirements of IFRS
17, including what constitutes revenue and expenses, how experience variances are presented,
what is to be reported in the statement of financial performance versus other comprehensive
income, the level of aggregation to be used in presentation and disclosure, and required
reconciliations.

10
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Chapter 1 - Classification of Contracts

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the Introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

1 A. What does this chapter address?

This chapter considers the scope of IFRS 17, the identification and boundary of insurance
contracts, separation of components and combination contracts and level of aggregation
under IFRS 17 and contract boundaries. It refers to other IANs addressing further specific
classifications.

1.B. Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?

Paragraphs 2-25, 34-35, 62, 72-74, appendix A, paragraphs B3-5, B7-18, B24-27, B31-32,
and B61, B64, C10, C21, and C23 provide guidance on this tg

BC 22, BC42-44, BC79, BC85, BC100, BC114, BC117, BC
provide background on the subject.

d BC160 also

1.C. What other IAA documents are relevant to this t@poi

None

1.1. Which contracts are covered under IFRS
Paragraph 3 states that the co hin tffe scope of the standard are:
a) Insurance contracts (inclding reigs

Ids;

nce contracts) an entity issues;
b) Reinsurance contr

c) Investment con
provided t ntit

pscretionary participation features any entity issues,
0 issues insurance contracts.

The definition o nce contract is the same as under IFRS4 and can be found in
appendix A of IFR7.

“A contract under which one party (the issuer) accepts significant insurance risk from
another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified
uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder.”

Insurance contracts held by an entity (i.e., as a policyholder), which are not reinsurance
contracts held, are not, however, within the scope of IFRS 17 (see paragraph 7(g)).

While IFRS 4 used the phrase “financial instruments with discretionary participation
features”, IFRS 17 refers instead to “investment contracts with discretionary participation
features”. The definition of this term in appendix A refers in turn to “financial
instruments” and so is very similar to that used in IFRS 4.

Appendix A defines “investment contracts with discretionary participation features” as

11
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A financial instrument that provides a particular investor with the contractual right to
receive, as a supplement to an amount not subject to the discretion of the issuer,
additional amounts:

(a) that are expected to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;
(b) the timing or amount of which are contractually at the discretion of the issuer; and
(c) that are contractually based on:

(i) the returns on a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract;

(i) realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets
held by the issuer; or

(iii) the profit or loss of the entity or fund that issues the contract.
1.2. What is the definition of an insurance risk under IFRS 17?

As noted in 1.1 above, appendix A of IFRS 17 defines an jns®aa ghtract in terms of

acceptance of “significant insurance risk”.

Insurance risk is defined in Appendix A of IFRS 174s
transferred from the holder of the contract to the i

than financial risk,

Paragraphs B7 to B16 provide guidance o rance risk when applying this

definition.
Financial risk as defined in Appendg A 1®includes non-financial variables,
provided they are not specific e gurer of policyholder. Paragraph B8 explains this

and provides examples.

Even if a financial variab
significant and depe
an insurance contrac

d in gftermining the size of a payment, if the payment is
on occurrence of an insured event, then the contract is
aph B10). An example of this is an index-linked life
insured death benefit is the difference between the value of
p death benefit.

An insured event iQdefined in appendix A of IFRS 17 as “An uncertain future event covered
by an insurance conftract that creates insurance risk.”

Paragraphs B3 to B5 provide guidance on what “an uncertain future event” is when
applying this definition.

The uncertainty can relate to one or more of the probability, timing or size of the event.
Hence, it includes cases where the event has already occurred, but the timing or size of
the compensation remains uncertain.

The insurance risk must have an adverse effect on the policyholder and is transferred to
the insurer by the insurance contract. Therefore, the policyholder should be already
exposed to this risk before the insurance contract is created (see paragraph B11). Lapse,
persistency and contract expense risks arising from a contract are for the reasons above
not insurance risks.

12
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1.3.

1.4.

A contract issued to an entity that covers risks such as lapse, persistency or contract
expenses on that entity’s existing portfolio is likely to meet the definition of an insurance
contract for the issuer since the entity is the policyholder. Further, if the entity’s existing
portfolio includes insurance contracts, not just investment contracts, then such a contract
is also likely to qualify as reinsurance held, for the holder of the contract. If there are no
insurance policies in the portfolio, the contract does not fall under IFRS 17 for the entity
(see paragraphs B14 and B15).

This adverse effect of the uncertain event on the policyholder is a necessary contractual
precondition for a contract to meet the definition of an insurance contract. Note this does
not require the insurer to investigate if an adverse effect occurred, but just to have the
ability to deny compensation if such adverse effect does not exist (see paragraph B13).

The compensation can be a payment in kind by providing goods or services (see
question 1.4).

What is the definition of significant insurance risk?

An insurance contract is only in scope of IFRS17 if it j#finsfgys a ficant amount of
insurance risk to the entity (or reinsurer).

Insurance risk is only significant if there is at Jeast o sceQffrio with commercial
substance where the compensation paid hgt r is significant, disregarding the
likelihood of that scenario. If commercigjsu nce exists only in very unlikely scenarios,
but the contract covers all these scenario is qualifies as being significant (see
paragraph B18).

Insurance risk can already beffignifica en if the policyholder still has to opt for

74-77).

unlike IFRS 4, which did not require the use of present values in
nt.

present value bas
making this assess

What are examples of contracts that are covered under IFRS 17?

Paragraph B26 gives a list of examples. Most of the items on the list were also on the one
in IFRS 4.

Some contracts may not fall under IFRS 17, even though they involve significant transfer
of insurance risk. For example:

e Product warranties may otherwise qualify as insurance contracts, but not when issued
directly by the manufacturer. These fall under IFRS 15 or IAS 37.

e Life-contingent annuities and pensions may otherwise qualify as insurance contracts,
but not when accounted for as part of employers’ liabilities from an employee
benefits plan or retirement plan. These fall under IAS 19 or IAS 26.

13
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1.5.

1.6.

In addition, for some contracts that meet the definition of an insurance contract, but
whose primary goal is to provide services for a fixed fee, paragraph 8 gives entities the
option to choose between IFRS 17 and IFRS 15, if the contract meets all of the following
criteria:

e the entity does not reflect an assessment of the risk associated with an individual
customer in setting the price of the contract with that customer;

e the contract compensates the customer by providing services, rather than by making
cash payments to the customer; and

e theinsurance risk transferred by the contract arises primarily from the customer’s use
of services rather than from uncertainty over the cost of those services.

An example of this type of contract could be roadside assistance.

What are examples of contracts that are not covered und

Paragraph 7 sets out contracts that are specifically exclgple scope of IFRS 17
even if they meet the definition of an insurance conijgct. Jgis similar to the one in
IFRS 4; however, it also now explicitly excludes reg ue gplarantees provided by a
manufacturer, dealer or retailer.

In addition, under paragraph 7(e), althouglgfi ia[uarantee contracts remain
excluded from the scope of IFRS 17, it ws anentity that has previously regarded
such contracts as insurance contracts an insurance accounting on them, the
option to use IFRS 17 for such cont ise the IFRS relating to financial
instruments apply (IFRS 7,9 a ).

Paragraph B27 provides exarfoles of @ntracts that do not qualify as insurance contracts.

These are unchanged ough in some cases they have been expanded
upon.

The following s ati Ips understanding which contracts fall under IFRS 17 or
elsewhere.

| significant insurance risk? |

yEes no
separation insurance/non-insurance components? | yes |di5|:reti0 nary participation features?
yes no
|en‘.i‘.\,ti55ue5 insurance cun‘.rac‘.s?l no
yes

[insurance component| | separation non-insurance companents? |
| insurance coniract | | investment contract with dpf | service cantract investment contract w/o dpf

* embedded derivative w/o dpf
| IFRS 17 | IFRS 15 IFRS 9

{*) IFR517.8: optional for fixed fee service contracts

Where does the scope of IFRS17 differ from IFRS 4?

The examples in questions 1.4 and 1.5 already include a comparison with IFRS 4.
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1.7.

Under paragraph 3, investment contracts with discretionary participation features are
only in scope if the entity also issues insurance contracts. This additional condition was
not in IFRS 4. BC85 explains the rationale for this is that for the few entities that issue
investment contracts with discretionary participation benefits, but not insurance
contracts, the costs of implementing IFRS 17 would outweigh the benefits.

When might components of a contract be valued separately?

IFRS17 distinguishes between insurance components, embedded derivatives, investment
components and service components (see paragraphs 10-13).

Embedded derivatives are to be separated following the rules of IFRS 9. Derivatives that
can be contractually transferred independently, or have another counterparty, are not
embedded, but separate contracts.

Investment components are to be separated if and only if t

without considering the other compo

component even if the other is not pggent each component can lapse
independently).

° The investment component a a some reasonable research to be, or could
be, sold separately in th e ket or jurisdiction.

This means for instance that @mponelits that necessarily expire together (in case of a
r available in other markets but could not be
arket, in general would not be separated.

Service compon be separated in line with paragraph 7 of IFRS 15, but only after
satisfying the re of paragraphs B33-35, in which case they are measured under
IFRS 15, as modifi y paragraph 12 of IFRS 17. To separate service components,
fulfilment cash in-fls and outflows need to be attributed to either the insurance or
service component, with a rational allocation for those cash flows that are not uniquely
related to either of these two (see paragraph.12).

1.8. What are examples of components that are currently often separated, but can no

longer be separated under IFRS 17?

Insurers have currently often different components, such as claims liabilities to be settled,
unearned premiums, receivables/payables, etc. managed separately and administered in
different systems. IFRS 17 leads to insurance receivables, policy loans and reinsurance
collateral (funds withheld) no longer being separately visible on the balance sheet.

BC114 gives policy loans, assuming that they are a contractual feature, as an explicit
example of a component highly interrelated with the rest of the contract and therefore
not separable in a non-arbitrary way.
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The contract boundary distinguishes future cash flows to be considered in the measurement of
the insurance contract from other future cash flows, even if they are expected to be paid under
the same contract (see paragraphs 34 and B61). The contract boundary determines where a
contract ends for measurement purposes, for a reporting period.

1.9.

1.10.

What is the definition of a contract boundary under IFRS 17?
Paragraph 34 defines the boundary of a contract for IFRS 17 measurement purposes.

“Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from
substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the
entity can compel the policyholder to pay the premiums or in which the entity has a
substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with services.”

What are “substantive rights and obligations”?
Paragraph 2 makes it clear that:

. rights and obligations arise from a contract, | orgeulaN®n; and

° enforceability of the rights and obligations is§ mM&gerd law.

It applies the term “substantive” to identif fuRre cash flows arising from those
rights and obligations can be recogniseias Rasets orbilities. Accordingly, all clear cases
of present enforceable rights or present 8for&gble obligations, as discussed in BC160,

are within the contract boundary, bstantive. Any terms that have no
economic substance are disre

According to paragraph 34, s W rights and obligations “exist during the reporting
period in which the ent g
the entity has a sub dobligation to provide the policyholder with services”.

Cases where nogarty N®gany right may be outside the contract boundary (see BC160 (a)).
This is particula
has a renewal rig

If the policyholder nnot be forced to pay the premium, e.g., if the policyholder is not
obliged to renew a contract with an agreed upon duration, there is no substantive right of
the entity to premiums after the agreed duration.

A substantive obligation could be present in cases where the applicable terms and
conditions can cause future cash flows, compared with alternative cash flows within the
contract boundary or premium component, to be onerous without the insurer having the
ability to avoid such losses due to the absence of any cancellation or premium or benefit
adjustment right. In that case, the guidance of paragraph 34 is likely to require that the
loss is anticipated.

For example, in the case of a contractual clause that the funds of the contract might be
used to purchase an annuity where the assumptions regarding longevity could be
adjusted to represent the individual longevity risk, but not beyond that, the annuity is
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1.11.

normally not within the contract boundary. If the terms and conditions determine a
contractually fixed annuitisation rate, however, then the entity is likely to be subject to a
substantive obligation and the loss-making annuitisation of the funds might be
anticipated, considering the likelihood that the annuity will be elected. That might also
apply in cases where a premium component, with a unilateral right of the policyholder to
pay the premium in future, includes minimum financial guarantees that are in the money
at the reporting date and the adjustment clauses would not allow the entity to avoid that
loss if the policyholder decides to pay the premium.

Paragraphs 34 (a) and (b) describe two alternative cases of when a substantive obligation
ends. Accordingly, to show that a future contractual cash flow is not a substantive
obligation, it is necessary to demonstrate that it arises from (or after) a period for which
one of the following cases apply:

a) the entity has the practical ability to reassess the risks articular policyholder
and can set a price accordingly; or

b)  both of the following conditions are satisfied:

i) The entity has the practical ability to r
can reset the price or level of benefits

he gpks at a portfolio level and
; and

ii) The pricing of the premiums f
reassessed does not take in

p to the date when the risks are
nt therisks that relate to future periods.

What does it mean to have the pragtic jty ® reassess the risk?

The reference to the “practic i reassess the risk is intended to differentiate
from a pure formal legal righffto do s@ b® where practical facts and circumstances
actually prevent the entj ing#so. For example, it might be practically impossible

° inaccessibility o
° moral rea

° significant c&&t; or

° significant business dangers.

It is not the expectation that the entity does not intend to apply the reassessment but
only the expectation that, even if it wishes to do so, it would not be able due to practical
reasons.

Paragraph B64 notes that practicable ability exists if the entity can reprice the contract or
portfolio (as applicable) to the same price it would charge for a new contract or portfolio
with same characteristics. If an entity decides to charge a new price for new contracts,
but for commercial reasons decides not to do so for existing contracts, then further
judgment is required to assess whether this commercial decision was a free choice or
refers to a practical inability to reprice. (see paper APO3 to May 18 TRG.)
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1.12.

1.13.

1.14.

1.15.

What does it mean to reassess the risk of a particular policyholder?

When considering whether or not there is a substantive obligation, the entity may
consider if there is any risk of anti-selection by the policyholder on the specific financial
risk transfer. For instance, because of a possibly impaired risk profile it might be
advantageous for the policyholder to continue the existing contract rather than effect a
new contract. This advantage affects the substantive obligation of the entity to provide
services.

The conditions outlined here might only be understood by considering the underlying risk
for the “particular policyholder” and cannot be assessed based on collective information.
Therefore, under paragraph 34 (a) this can be interpreted to refer to risks transferred
from the policyholder, insurance and financial risk only. The substance of the obligation
results from guaranteed insurability or minimum guarantees on participation contracts.

What does it mean to reassess the risks at a portfolio leve

This is more than the ability to reflect general market
reflect the experience of the portfolio itself. Again, i gfeassessed are
policyholder risks, transferred from the policyhol
not lapse and expense risks created by the contra gh they would be reflected
in pricing (see paper AP02 to February 2018

When does an obligation take into acc risksthat relate to future periods?

The condition in paragraph 34(b) regers
already paid in the past even in
clause. If there are none, as
obligation in this case. This is
finance services in the 1
clause refers to futu

stMtive obligations arising from premiums
llective premium or benefit adjustment
agraph 34 (b) (ii), there is no substantive

ent period and the premium or benefit adjustment
financing the services in future periods entirely without
support from already premiums. If the entity charged premiums in the past which
included parts i o alpconsidered to finance coverage together with future
premiums, those premiums result in a substantive obligation of the entity, even if
the future premiugs are subject to a collective premium or benefit adjustment clause.

Paragraph 34(b) reflects two of the common types of premiums:

a) those which are often referred to as “yearly renewable” that only cover the risk
arising in the next period e.g., one year (no substantive obligation); and

b) level premiums for the whole contract which in any one year might be greater or
less than the cost of the risk for that next year with any excess premium being used
to help “finance” the cost of risk in a later period (substantive obligation).

What is the consequence if a future cash outflow is outside the contract boundary, but
not the originating premium?

This situation occurs if the future benefits are to be provided in the form of another
service, e.g., an investment contract with an option to purchase an annuity with proceeds
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1.16.

1.17.

at maturity (see paragraph B24). In this case, the option to purchase an annuity, means
the provision of an annuity is part of the contractual terms of the investment contract and
it has significant insurance risk at inception. As noted in paragraph B24, however, if the
contract as a whole is able to be repriced (as per paper AP0O3 to May 2018 TRG), which is
the case here, when it becomes an annuity, and it is repriced to the then current terms
for new entrants, then the annuity and associated provision of insurance coverage is
outside the contract boundary. If terms of conversion to annuity are fixed at inception of
the investment contract, the insurance coverage is within the boundary of the investment
contract and the contract at inception, not just when annuity option is exercisable, is an
insurance contract.

What are the issues for contract boundaries under reinsurance?

Paragraph 34 cannot be applied as it is, because in reinsurance held it is the entity who
pays the premium (substantive obligation) and receives servijg bstantive right). In
accordance with paragraph 4 (and TRG paper 3 of Februard018 arfl paper 4 of May
2018), the reading of this paragraph needs to be adap iggely to the context of

substantive obligation.

When a direct insurance contract is red, differences in the boundaries of both
contracts may occur, due to rgfisOran nd underlying insurance contracts having
different dates of initial recogition. fr example:

° A new reinsurang
reinsurance cd

tr cover insurance contracts that existed prior to the
o into effect; or

. The scop urance contract may extend to include future insurance
contracts pesued within the boundary of the reinsurance contract.

The February 2015 RG meeting in its discussion of paper AP03, observed that expected
future contracts could be within the boundary of the reinsurance contracts. Note,
paragraph 62 only requires that a proportionate reinsurance should not be recognised
earlier than the initial recognition of any underlying contract and does not determine the
boundary of the reinsurance contract.

Also, reinsurance contracts sometimes provide the reinsurer with cancellation options
that are more flexible than in direct insurance and care is needed in assessing the
boundary of such a reinsurance contract.

What are other boundary situations that need separate consideration?

Paragraph 35 states that expected future cash flows, which are not within the contract
boundary, relate to future contracts. The standard does not make a distinction between
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the situation where such cash flows are highly interrelated with the existing contract, or
not.

A typical situation is an insurance contract with a unit linked account and an insurance
rider with the annual stepped rider premiums deducted from the unit linked account. As
the units are repriced daily to market, they do not create a substantive obligation. If the
rider premiums can be repriced at the portfolio level at annual renewal, then substantive
obligation for insurance ends at annual renewal and boundary for the contract, as a
whole, is the annual renewal date (see AP0O2 February 2018 TRG). In general, the cash
flows arising from these future premiums are then considered as being outside the
contract boundary.

Under paragraph 35, future premiums, and the cash flows arising from them, would then relate
to future contracts. Since contracts can be combined in groups isgfed n®nore than one year
apart, this would mean that each set of annual premiums andas hsh flows would
need to be treated as a separate contract under IFRS 17.

This has significant implications if the cash flows resulti paidgend future premiums are
highly interrelated, for instance:

° Acquisition expenses for the contract as aqho isition expenses are allocated to
the initial contract created by premium4gai to affnual renewal, except to the extent
they are dependent on renewal of the co ctQ g., acquisition commission subject to
clawback if the contract is not rene allocated to the future contract created
by the renewal (see AP04 Fe 20 RG). This could likely lead to an onerous “first”
contract comprising the first @remiunfonly and to several very profitable contracts
related to future premi ;

need to be reco ery time a new premium is paid.

Also, it may be technic
e.g., right to insurance c

possible that such “new” contracts are not in the scope of IFRS 17,
er is not available in later years of the contract.

Paragraph 25 requires that the “new” contract is recognised at the earliest of:
(i) the beginning of coverage period;
(ii) the date of the first payment; and
(iii) the moment that the contract becomes onerous.

So, for a non-onerous contract, a new right or obligation could occur before the first related
payment, and when treated as a new contract, the rights or obligation should then already be
considered before the payment date.
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1.18. When should a contract boundary be reassessed?

Paragraph 64 states that the boundary of a contract should be reassessed at the end of
each reporting period, in order to include the effect of changes in the substantive rights
and obligations of the entity.

It might be argued, in our example of future premiums being outside the current
boundary of a contract, that any new premium paid could be seen as “crossing” the
existing boundary and extending the new boundary by including the newly received
premium and all related cash flows.

IFRS 17 defines different levels at which insurance contracts can or should be aggregated.

Portfolio

Group of contracts

Combine contracts

Contract

In this section we discuss each of these |

1.19. When should contracts be c ined easurement purposes?

Paragraph 9 states that contrgts mayheed to be combined and treated as a whole, in
ce, y have the same or related counterparty and as a set

e, an overall commercial effect. Paragraph 9 gives the

example of two

see paper APO1 % observed that:

° A single lega&contract would generally be considered on its own to be single
contract in suBstance, but there may be circumstances when a set of contracts are
in substance one contract;

° Determining this requires careful judgment and consideration of all the relevant
facts and circumstances, and no single factor is determinative in making this
assessment;

° Considerations that might be relevant include:

o Rights and obligations are different when looked at together compared to
individually. For example, rights and obligations in one contract may negate
those in another;

o One contract cannot be measured without considering the other, e.g., the
contracts are highly interrelated;
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1.20.

1.21.

1.22.

° An existence of a discount, of itself, does not mean that a set of contracts are
designed to achieve an overall commercial effect.

If the assessment leads to the conclusion that paragraph 9 applies, then the contracts as a
whole need to be combined.

What is the meaning of “portfolio of insurance contracts” in IFRS 17?

A portfolio comprises contracts subject to similar risks and managed together.
Paragraph 14 also notes that contracts within a “product line” would be expected to have
similar risks and hence be in the same portfolio if they are managed together.

What does it mean that “contracts have similar risks”?

In general, IFRS 17 and its Basis for Conclusions contain several sections related to this
guestion. The relevant wording in paragraph 14 is as follows:

ogether. Contracts
e would be expected

A portfolio comprises contracts subject to similar risks and
within a product line would be expected to have similar g
to be in the same portfolio if they are managed toge
lines (for example single premium fixed annuities i#h regular term life

assurance) would not be expected to have similar nce would be expected to be
in different portfolios. If contracts cover simi isks@gnd aTe within the same product line,
they are subject to similar risks.

“Similar” does not mean “identical”. Som on in risk is reasonable, as long as the
contracts are sufficiently similar. Si j e is diverse and all portfolios are different,

Note that IFRS 17 discyusf i s, which may not necessarily have the same
interpretation as “sig @ ance risks”. Therefore, an entity may consider other risks
such as lapse and expRgE risk In their determination of what similar risks means.

What does “ma Mher” mean?

Again, there is no gear definition in IFRS 17 for this term. Hence judgment is required on
what constitutes m®¥naged together.

From a practical perspective, the considerations relating to subject to similar risks noted
above will require a level of granularity in assignment of portfolios that, in many cases,
could result in portfolios that are naturally managed together.

It is expected that the determination of the portfolio level will vary between entities, due
to different sizes and complexity, as well as the different ways in which business is
managed. A practical approach to determining the portfolios for an entity might rely on
the internal management reporting systems. For example, an entity’s internal
management systems may consolidate results into product lines. These product lines
could provide a suitable aggregation of similar risks; furthermore, an entity may have its
systems aligned with its internal management structure and may disclose to the market
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1.23.

1.24.

on that basis. This might constitute a suitable aggregation basis for what is considered as
‘managed together’.

Other factors to consider against the test of managed together could, amongst others,
include:

° distribution channel(s) that the contracts are sold through;

. the level at which regulation takes place, for example compulsory third party
insurance in Australia;

. capital allocation basis; and

° the operating model or management structure of the entity, including how
management incentives are structured.

Product line groupings as prescribed by prudential regulator not necessarily be
appropriate to define portfolios due to a different focus indfR e latter’s primary
focus is about reporting appropriate profits and losses [@C1 & than solvency focus

of prudential regulators.

Note that an entity may change how it manages i
number of portfolios may change over time. This is
IFRS 17, although it does not necessarily agec
do not change and groups are a sub-set

b ess gler time. As a result, the

a ated response under

ber of groups as historical groups
ortfolos.

What are the potential impacts of. cMBice of portfolio?
The definition of portfolio has

. further grouping of corfgacts, Wlich can only be done within a portfolio;

ies ake an accounting policy choice determination to
reflect all insuriy . income or expenses in profit or loss, or disaggregate it

° ExpenseS included in measurement as they need to be directly attributable at
portfolio level (see paragraphs B65(e) and B66(d).

It is important to remember, however, that the significance of insurance risk should not
be considered at portfolio level, but still in relation to individual contracts (see
paragraphs B22 and BC79).

What are the requirements for contracts in the same portfolio to be grouped together
in a group of insurance contracts?

Please see chapter 5 where this is discussed.
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1.25. What if cash flows are measured at a higher level than the group of contracts or
portfolio?

Please see chapter 2 where this is discussed.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
v
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Section A — Introduction to the General Measurement Approach

This section includes five chapters that cover the technical aspects of the general
measurement approach (GMA).

These areas are:
° Estimates of future cash flows (chapter 2);
° Discount rates (chapter 3);
° Risk adjustment (chapter 4);
° Contractual service margin (chapter 6).

There is an additional explanatory section on levels of aggregation of contracts for the use of
the GMA (chapter 5).

A

When considered together these are often referred to as the “bigfd k approach” as
shown below:

Future 1 Unbiased e f fujgre cash flows
cash flows .
The esti ash s used to determine
the ca d outflows relevant to the
: : fulfilgge N[ the 1Mfsurance contract. These
Discounting i Id be explicit, unbiased and
eighted.
unted to balance date
Risk . e e .
adjust Agl¥risk free” plus illiquidity adjustment for most

ntracts, the discount rate reflects the
characteristics of the insurance liability and is
consistent with relevant observable market
inputs for each reporting period.

3 Add risk adjustment

An adjustment to reflect uncertainty in future
cash flows relating to non-financial risk.

4 Allow for profit/loss effect

CSM eliminates the recognition of any future
accounting profit at inception. CSM cannot be
negative (i.e., the present value of any onerous
contract must be charged immediately to losses).
CSM is spread over the remaining coverage
period.

CSM
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Paragraphs 29-52 provide guidance on this topic. BC 18-26 and BC 36-119 also provide
background on the GMA.

The IAA has published a paper on current estimates (Measurement of Liabilities for Insurance
Contracts: Current Estimates and Risk Margins) — see, in particular, chapter 2, and monographs
on discount rates (see chapter 3) and on stochastic methods that may be useful for this
purpose. More recently, a monograph on risk adjustment was released in May 2018 (see
chapter 4). In general, we do not repeat material from any of the monographs in this IAN. In
addition, the general educational material of IAA members provides significant educational
material on the different ways to estimate future cash flows. All of this educational material
may be relevant.

The following paragraphs provide educational material on the use of he various “building
bIocks"7 that make up the GMA in measuring a group of insurancg

entities may reveal inconsistencies. Further, defi
include either “overlapping” (or double-countin
“gaps” (or omissions of certain elements). The the actuary’s assignment may include
responsibility to ensure that the buildin ppropriately constructed, and that no such
overlaps or gaps occur. Some examp, ential situations for differing interpretations
follow:

aspects of the building blocks, or

a) In defining the “estimatg re g¥sh flows”, IFRS 17 refers to “the expected value
(i.e., the probability-yf€ighi@#d mean) of the full range of possible outcomes”

®Basis for Conclusions for IFRS 17, the reporting entity is

onable and supportable information available without undue

In practice, therefq@e, judgment will be needed, particularly in the incorporation of the
extremes of the potential distribution of outcomes. For instance, estimates of certain
extreme outcomes may not be supportable, and may need to be included by way of a
subjective adjustment. Even if it is judged that such an adjustment would not be material
to the expected value of the future cash flows, the impact on the risk adjustment may still
be material.

b) In defining an adjustment for the “time value of money”, IFRS 17 incorporates the need
to allow for “the financial risks associated with the future cash flows” (BC 19), hence
arriving at a risk-adjusted rate of discount. However, it also recognises that certain
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c)

d)

insurance contracts may combine financial and non-financial risks in such a way that
“those components are interrelated” (BC 18). Hence, there is potential for the adjustment
for the time value of money to exclude financial risk adjustment.

Judgment is needed in setting the barriers between the risks to be included in the
discount rate.

In defining the “risk adjustment for non-financial risk”, IFRS 17 does not separately
define non-financial risk and effectively defines it by reference to “financial risk”, the
definition of which leaves room for judgment (see chapter 4 for background).

Again, this leaves room for judgement in setting the barrier between financial and non-
financial risk.

The illiquidity risk may be included in the discount rate, or alternatively it can be allowed
for as part of the risk margin (see chapter 3 for background).

The risk culture of the entity may inform the constitution & ing blocks, including:

° The perceived boundary between reasonable e (i.e., spurious) cash

flow projection in relation to the insurance

° The pricing bases for insurance products;

° Treatment of any asset and liabilit ma wance/reserve, since this can be

represented in different ways; an

° The cash flows and risks with
those used for other pu S.

ary of the contract under IFRS 17 and
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Chapter 2 — Estimates of Future Cash Flows

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the Introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

2.A. What does this chapter address?

2.B.

2.C.

2.1.

This chapter provides information concerning the estimates of future cash flows for use in
measurement of liabilities and assets arising under contracts within the scope of
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 17 Insurance Contracts. This applies both
at issue of the contract and at subsequent measurements.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?

Paragraphs 33-35 and B36-B71 provide guidance on this topic.
BC 146-184 also provide background on the subject.

What other IAA documents are relevant to this topic?

The IAA has published monographs on current estingdes (Mtea ent of Liabilities for
Insurance Contracts: Current Estimates and Risk N@ar andgpn stochastic methods
(Stochastic Modeling) that could be useful for this jurp general, we will not repeat

material from either of these monographs
In addition, the general educational m ialQ IAA members provides significant
educational material on how to estimate reQush flows. All of this educational

material could be relevant.

Paragraph 33 includes key characteristics of the measurement of estimates of future
cash flows, na

What are the requirem @regarding the measurement of estimates of
future cash flows?

i Include all re cash flows within the contract boundary;

ii.  Arethe prob®ility weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes;
iii.  Are unbiased (i.e., they do not include the risk adjustment for non-financial risk);

iv.  Reflect the perspective of the entity (except that estimates of market variables are
consistent with observable market variables for those variables);

V. Are current; and
vi.  Are explicit.

In estimating future cash flows, the actuary may need to adjust the results to reflect the
specifics of the entity for which the cash flows are being estimated. For example, different
entities may have different underwriting or claim settlement practices that might affect
the estimated future cash flows. While past experience may reflect the practices in effect
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2.2.

at the time, if the entity has made changes to those practices, past experience may need
to be adjusted for the changes.

What are the common types of cash flows to be included?

Cash flows referred to in IFRS 17 are primarily payments of cash exchanged between the
parties under an insurance contract in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
contract. The term “cash flow” can also be used as shorthand for other transfers of
economic resources (cash flow equivalents) that are not settled in cash between the
parties to the insurance contract. They may also include such items as administration
costs, certain overheads (per B65), payments to third parties and non-cash transactions
such as the provision of goods and services.

Some non-cash transactions may be subject to other IFRSs that determine the amount of
transfer of resource caused by fulfilling the contracts in the respective period.
Measurement of future cash flows accordingly includes the An or transfer of
resources to those future periods under the applicable IER

Future cash flows may refer to any component of t
by IFRS 17 excluding separated components. Cas
might sometimes be seen as separate but are not

riders or policy loans). See chapter 1 Classifi additional discussion of this topic.

Paragraph B65 states:

“Cash flows within the boundary ofggn in, cevontract are those that relate directly to
the fulfilment of the contract, i ) ash flOws for which the entity has discretion over
the amount or timing.”

(See chapter 1 Classificalia moregbn contract boundaries).

These cash flows in are not limited to:
o Premium
. Payments ehalf of) policyholders including
o claims Q@at have been reported but not yet paid;
o Payments that depend on the performance of underlying assets;
o) Payments from embedded derivatives; and
o Incurred claims that have not yet been reported.
° Payments on future claims on unexpired risks;
° An allocation of insurance acquisition costs;
° Claim handling costs;

. Costs the entity will incur for payments in kind;

° Policy administration and maintenance costs;
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2.3.

° Transaction-based costs such as premium taxes and levies;
. Taxes paid in a fiducial capacity to meet obligations of the policyholder;
° Potential cash inflows from recoveries; and

. An allocation of fixed and variable overheads directly attributable to fulfilling
insurance contracts.

Sometimes, it might be permissible (e.g., due to immateriality) to also consider cash flows
exchanged between the parties under the contract not based on the actual payment date
but based on a due date or the date when the triggering event incurs.

At what level are cash flows determined?

Cash flows are generally identified at the individual contract level if possible (e.g., not for

claims not reported). For measurement purposes, however, acts are aggregated into
portfolios and groups of contracts (chapter 5 on unit of acg Qore on this). IFRS 17
allows, moreover, the entity to estimate the cash flow evel of aggregation is

most appropriate from a practical perspective. If th stimates at a higher
level, it needs to be able to allocate those estimatgs f insurance contracts so
that the appropriate amounts are included in the nt of the groups of

insurance contracts’ fulfillment cash flows f ing coverage and incurred claims.

Assumptions may be derived at aggreg
level applied for measuring contracts. In
determine what adjustment, if any,
level. For example, maintena pe
contracts, but separate assurfptions fayoe needed for term insurance and whole life
contracts.

are different from the aggregation
, judgement will be needed to
apply them at the required aggregation

In some cases, parti mmecneral insurance contracts covering multiple risks and/or
perils, it may be helpfURg analyse the experience separately for each of those multiple
coverages. Suc tioWp for analysis and projection purposes, is particularly
appropriate whe e bdlance of coverages varies from contract to contract within a line
of business, such 2@small business package policies. Such coverage cash flows may then
be combined at the contract level (if practical and useful) before contract cash flows are
aggregated into groups and portfolios for measurement purposes. Similar concerns will
also apply to life insurance contracts with multiple risks (e.g., mortality and disability) or
groups of insurance contracts with multiple durations (e.g., 10, 20 and 30-year term in the
same group of insurance contracts).

In summary, BC117 states: “IFRS 17 allows an entity to estimate the fulfilment cash flows
at whatever level of aggregation is most appropriate from a practical perspective. All that
is necessary is that the entity is able to allocate such estimates to groups of insurance
contracts so that the resulting fulfilment cash flows of the group comply with
requirements of IFRS 17.” Paragraph 24 gives effect to this.
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2.4.

2.5.

2.6.

What is a current estimate?

A current estimate at the report date is the entity’s estimate based on currently available
information in a manner consistent with relevant accounting guidance. The term “current
estimate” is used in this chapter as a short form for the “current unbiased estimate of the
future cash flows”.

IFRS 17 defines the term “fulfilment cash flows” as including the risk adjustment for non-
financial risk (herein shortened to “risk adjustment”) and the effect of discounting. This
chapter, however, does not refer to issues regarding calculating present values but
focuses on the identification of cash flows and estimating unbiased expected values of
those cash flows.

What is the meaning of expected value?

For IFRS purposes, “expected value of cash flows” represe hn of the (typically

unknown) probability distribution of cash flows. In linggi ematical concept,
IFRS 17 requires that conceptually all scenarios are ermining the value of
the cash flows, including scenarios in the extreme stribution. Where the
variability in future cash flows follows a symmetric on, actuaries may conclude
that the impact and likelihood of favoura ourable extreme scenarios not

explicitly considered in a model may bregdIyQ{fset edch other; however, where the

e necessary to adjust the expected

value to reflect extreme scenarios or in the model.

For example, the probability f general insurance property claims tend to be
positively skewed. The availafgle data pr similar products may not be sufficient to fully
reflect the future imp3 y large claims. In these situations, it is often
necessary to rely on es of data and judgment to adjust the models. This tends
to increase the expect®@value to reflect these high-cost but low frequency events.
Similarly, actua ider it appropriate to take into account favourable extreme
scenarios such a itfensurance, a fall in mortality rates if an affordable cure for

cancer is developeQ§ All such adjustments would require judgment on the likely impact
and probability of occurrence to adjust the modelled expected value.

The reference in IFRS 17 to scenarios is about the defining characteristic of the mean
value of a distribution function rather than providing guidance regarding how to estimate
the mean value. It does not require that all possible (or even any) scenarios be explicitly
constructed nor is it expected that entities will develop stochastic models for all IFRS 17
reporting.

Does the distribution function of cash flows need to be determined?

Not necessarily. The accounting purpose is to derive a current unbiased estimate of the
expected value of cash flows. There are a variety of approaches that can be used for this
purpose and IFRS 17 does not provide any guidance regarding how the estimate is to be
made. Any statistical or non-statistical approach applied in determining figures for an IFRS
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2.7.

2.8.

2.9.

report needs to comply with general accounting requirements as outlined elsewhere in
this chapter.

What does “unbiased” mean?
According to BC 148ff, unbiased estimates:
a)  Capture information about the full range of possible outcomes,
b)  Should not have an intention of attaining a particular outcome, or
c) Influencing a particular behavior.
Therefore, an unbiased estimate does not include either conservatism or optimism.

How does the object for current estimates as intended by IFRS 17 differ from objectives
used for other purposes?

tatistical median or
5 @ margin, used in
flows developed for

IFRS 17 calls for an estimate of the statistical mean, rather

that afre specifically generated because the
s, direct administrative expense).

contract is in existence (e.g., benefits, co
i ral overheads, are included only if they are

Indirect administrative expense, in
directly attributable to fulfilli ort
and B66(d). If they are not, tigey are eflal expenses of the entity not belonging to the
contract and are thus ng nY@lere estimates of future cash flows of the contracts.

IFRS 17 is silent wit echniques to be used for estimating cash flows, therefore
no special technj required to determine these indirect expenses included in
future cash flo sed for pricing or other types of reporting might be usable
for this purpose the result meets the requirements of IFRS 17.

Any cash flows or c¥sts of the entity related to other standards are not discussed in this
chapter. When investment administration expenses are estimated, only expenses that are
required by the contract are included, not the expenses of the actual investments of the
entity. Under normal circumstances, investment expenses are not included in the
estimate of future cash flows. An exception to this may apply when those investment
expenses are required by the insurance contract.
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2.10. To what extent do the estimates of future cash flows have to differentiate contracts
with different characteristics (e.g., age, gender), and other known differences of
contracts?

Statistical estimates are usually only differentiated for a limited number of characteristics
of the item to be estimated and include the average effect of other characteristics.

IFRS 17 does not require the entity to assess all characteristics of a contract that might be
relevant to the outcome and establish estimates on that basis. Paragraph B37 does
require consideration of “all reasonable and supportable information available at the
reporting date without undue cost or effort.”

Accordingly, it is a matter of judgment as to what degree characteristics of individual
contracts are considered in estimating future cash flows. It may be appropriate for
individual contracts to be aggregated into groups of contracts that are not further

Paragraph 17 may require identification of the fulfil
contract, for the purposes of initial grouping. Accqg,

tiated for the characteristics
f each contract are only considered
iated on the basis of those characteristics.

determine the degree to which the assumptj
of individual contracts. The individual char@gte
to the extent that the assumptions are

The actuary may consider a wide r rsin an internal experience analysis used
for determining liabilities for r y coverage and incurred claims. This consideration
is to determine whether it is incorporate those factors explicitly into the
analysis and whether it is ap o then incorporate them into the measurement.
e analysis unless there is reason to suppose that
they can reasonably
they are likely t
groups of insur

Many characteristqs of contracts will not be available to the entity in any case. For other
characteristics, eve®if known, the entity might not be able to assess their impact due to
limited statistical data or the undue cost or effort to obtain them. Other characteristics of
contracts will not be consistently available for all contracts and, as a consequence, may be
ignored since they can only be averaged over other contracts. Other characteristics,
which might be assessable at outset or are even assessed, might be ignored in pricing
since the overall benefits from such a differentiation would not outweigh the cost of
doing so. For example, certain medical examinations or adjusting information systems to
differentiate a certain characteristic could be more expensive than the price effect. An
entity might thus limit the differentiation of contract characteristics to a certain number
that can reasonably be administratively and statistically managed.

Accordingly, for estimating the liability for remaining coverage, the differentiation of
assumptions as applied to individual contracts might start with the differentiation used
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2.11.

for pricing. Less differentiation than applied in pricing might, if applied to individual
contracts, result in inconsistencies between premiums and the measurement of the
related cash outflows, if the cash flows are based on averaged assumptions while the
associated premiums are more differentiated. For example, a contract viewed in pricing
as being riskier and accordingly having a higher premium, would be compared with an
average risk and therefore would show a high CSM (unless offset by a higher risk
adjustment) while a contract seen in pricing as less risky and accordingly having a lower
premium would result in comparison with the average risk, resulting in a low CSM or even
showing a contract as onerous.

There are exceptions to this principle. Paragraph BC135 (a) refers to an “intentional
pricing strategy”. If the entity underprices certain contracts intentionally, e.g., to gain
market share, by ignoring certain relevant and known characteristics of the contracts, it
might have the same consequences as if the entity chooses togharge insufficient
premiums. Accordingly, measurement considers those pec pf the respective
contracts and differentiates assumptions on that basis. bnce, the premiums
i e value of the risk.

Furthermore, paragraph 20 allows an exception f@& g i here law or regulation
here pricing of annuities
must be on a unisex or gender-neutral basjs): ases, the insurer may include such
erwise fall into a different group
due solely to the regulatory pricing const ote that this does not allow those

specific characteristics to be ignoréQin

It is acceptable to allow for t
contracts in a group, so that
the measurement, proyg

group. If the compo @
t

the average impact, sORf5

it continues to reflect the mix of characteristics in the group.

What are the casifinflows to be considered?

All cash inflows arising under rights of the insurance contracts and relating to services
provided within the contract boundary are considered. The primary inflow is, of course,
premium. Investment income, other than that related to policy loans (see below), is not
included since it is a cash inflow due to investments and not specifically related to the
fulfilment of the contracts.

Other cash inflows considered include such items as salvage, subrogation, contract
charges such as cost of insurance charges, and claw-backs of agent commissions originally
paid related to the contract. The treatment of such recoveries is not specified in IFRS 17.
Any actuarial estimates of such recoveries need to be consistent with their accounting
treatment to avoid double counting or omission of these cash flows.
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2.12,

2.13.

2.14.

2.15.

2.16.

Cash inflows on insurance riders and future insurance options, such as disability premium
waiver, hospitalisation, term insurance, guaranteed future insurance (including cash flows
from the expected exercise of such guarantees) will also be included if they are related to
services provided within the contract boundary. See chapter 1 for more on contract
boundaries.

How are policy loans and repayments handled?

If policy loans are a component of the insurance contract (i.e., terms are guaranteed in
the contract), loans and repayments of policy loans are part of fulfillment cash flows. If
future policy loans are initiated within the contract boundary, expected future loans and
repayments as well as interest accrued on outstanding loans are also a part of the
fulfillment cash flows.

How are premiums prepaid with interest accretion treated?

Prepaid premiums are treated the same as premiums paid e date. They are part
of the cash inflows and the frequency and effect of thej agl¥fs included as part of
future cash flows. In some cases, there is an agree
on prepaid premiums in the form of interest accr

rebate is considered in measurement and n adjustment to premium as per
paragraph B65(a).

IFRS 17 does not directly address the issu
require that liabilities reflect paid p ’ t premiums due. In the same way as
insurance acquisition cash flo isinM@efore recognising the group of insurance
contracts are an asset according to pfaglaph 27, liabilities arising from prepaid
premiums might be recqggmi ut necessarily as part of the cash flows.

reQpgnition of prepaid premiums but does

How are extra pre substandard risks included?

Extra premium
moreover, impo

dard risks are treated identically to other premiums. It is,
xpectations for the related future benefits are estimated on
the basis of the cqffespondingly higher risk, so as to be consistent with the extra
premiums. Actuari®@ might also consider whether the statistical knowledge available
about the higher risk provides an adequate basis from which to develop an appropriate
estimate that deviates from the extra premium determined. Similar considerations apply
for premium rebates for risks better than standard.

What are examples of outflows included in future cash flows?

Benefit payments, directly related expenses and similar items are the important items
included in cash outflows.

What kind of data is used to estimate future cash outflows?

Paragraph B41 requires assumptions to be based on information including, importantly,
the entity’s own experience to the extent it is available, supportable and credible. The
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2.17.

2.18.

2.19.

results arising from this data may be adjusted if there is reason to believe that historical
trends will not continue in the future or if other influences may affect them. If internal
data is not available, either in whole or in part, then industry or other available data, e.g.,
population data, may be used as a basis for the assumptions. In general, an entity’s
experience will be analysed for this purpose using an internal experience study.

Paragraph 33 (a) and B37 set limits on the effort required to collect the statistical basis of
determining the assumptions. In general, information used should be reasonable,
supportable and obtainable without undue cost or effort. Information available from the
insurer’s own information system, e.g., internal experience studies, and other sources
used for pricing is considered available without undue cost or effort.

How are available inputs from financial markets and from other external sources
applied to cash flow estimates?

If, for example, a portfolio has new elements on which the g no or limited
experience, external inputs, such as industry experience d. Available inputs
from financial markets and from other external sour ever, represent

characteristics of the cash flows of a certain portfql t is tM® case, the entity’s
estimate or an adjustment to financial market inf be needed. As the entity
obtains sufficiently robust experience of its i sider supplementing the

external data with it or eventually substit

What methods are appropriate to esti re cash flows that might be dependent
on market variables?

Stochastic projections (see IA h on stochastic modeling) are allowed but are
not necessarily required. Th are, th@ugh, more likely to be needed for skewed risks than
risks with symmetrlcal d

ns (see paragraph B39 and paragraph B28 of IFRS 13 about the extent
eded).

of interrelated op
of such modelling

|II

In most cases, interest assumptions for stochastic models will be “risk-neutral” rather

than “real world”.

What needs to be considered in estimating policyholder behaviour (e.g., surrender
rights, options to convert to other types of contracts if such an option exists in a
contract e.g., between a term and whole life contract)?

The basis for the expected value is the entity’s estimate of future expected behavior
(based on experience and judgement), not necessarily rational financial behaviour (see
B62). Experience might cover only a very limited range of circumstances as incurred up to
the present. Accordingly, for a wide variety of possible future circumstances, no past
experience may be available. In filling that gap, the actuary may wish to consider whether
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2.20.

2.21.

2.22.

the chosen assumptions have a significant effect on the outcome compared with the
outcome resulting from assuming that the behavior would be in line with past experience
even in changed circumstances. If the difference is relevant, the actuary may consider if
and how the experience needs to be adjusted to reflect expected future conditions
(paragraph B41(c)). Risks from such assumptions are to be considered in the risk
adjustment to the extent they are non-financial risk, depending on the nature of the risk.
The expected value considers both advantageous and disadvantageous behavior of
policyholders.

One of the considerations when setting assumptions is the possible effects of policyholder
anti-selection. In certain circumstances policyholder behavior will depend on financial
assumptions. In such situations, it may be important that those policyholder behavior
assumptions be consistent with the interest rate assumptions being used. This may be
true whether or not a stochastic approach is used.

e lly incurred costs?

Estimates of future management costs will usuall
makes including budgets and business plans. Thos
anticipate inflation. It is also appropriate t
diseconomies) of scale, consistent with {heelih
mean.

ny forecasts the entity

xpected future economies (or
f these scenarios and unbiased

Future unit costs will also consider elingpd of the entity being measured as a going
concern. Unit costs may ther ee
new business, if appropriate @n deriv

unbiased estimate of the mean.

paid or expected to be paid prior or subsequent

annualised comm¥ions, interest accreted, penalties charged). If it can be shown,
however, that ther®is no material difference between the actual and due dates, the
measurement could be based on due dates. Caution needs to be taken to ensure
consistency with the accounting treatment, to avoid double counting or omission.

Which cash flows other than claims payments and contractual services may be
considered?

The key guidance for differentiating cash flows other than claims payments and other
contractual services is the exclusion of general overhead costs in paragraph B66 (d) if they
“cannot be directly attributed to the portfolio of insurance contracts that contain the
contract”. See B65(i), on the other hand, for examples of some overheads that are
included in estimated future cash flows. Those general overhead costs are not included in
the estimate of future cash flows of IFRS 17 and are accordingly subject to authoritative
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2.23.

guidance in other IFRSs determining their recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosures. This chapter does not discuss such items.

The reference to “directly attributable” is a generally used phrase in IFRS and the entity
might have previously adopted interpretations of that term in its accounting policies. This
chapter does not discuss further the accounting meaning of this phrase. The accounting
interpretation of this phrase might, however, result in the need to choose the partition of
the business into portfolios of insurance contracts (PIC) suitably to allow an adequate split
of currently incurred and future expected cost between those “directly attributable” to a
PIC and general overhead that is not considered in measurement and presentation of
insurance contracts.

After identifying those internal costs that can be directly attributed to portfolios of
insurance contracts, those costs might be differentiated regarding their function in

from other internal costs. IFRS 17 is silent regarding how t OWsh this separation,
which might be seen as an indication that normal cost gfcou proaches, particularly
key allocations between functions are appropriate.

In summary, the identification of costs considere Su ent might be split in three

separate steps:

1) Exclude costs that are not directly atiRguta a portfolio of insurance contracts
(B66 d)).

2)  Allocate the remaining costs
servicing contracts duri irc
cost accounting principiies (B65%),

~

, (h) and (1)).

3)  Allocate the ide function to each group of insurance contracts
“using method@§ tematic and rational, and are consistently applied to all

ion cash flows?

Insurance acquisitRn cash flows are defined (see appendix A of IFRS 17) as “the costs of
selling, underwriting and starting a group of insurance contracts that are directly
attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts to which the group belongs. Such cash
flows include cash flows that are not directly attributable to individual contracts or group
of insurance contracts within the portfolio.” These include direct payments, such as
commissions, underwriting costs, and other costs of contract issue specific to a particular
contract, but also include such costs incurred for a portfolio of contracts. They may not
include allocation of some overhead expenses.

To differentiate acquisition costs from other costs, particularly contract administration
costs, the contract boundary might be of relevance. If a payment is contingent on
persistency beyond the contract boundary, it might be seen as an acquisition cost outside
the contract boundary. Therefore, those costs are not included in the cash flows of the
existing contract. In that case, the item is recognised as an expense only when the new
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2.24.

2.25.

2.26.

2.27.

contract becomes in force. If the payment is contingent only on persistency within the
contract boundary it is generally an administration cost.

How are insurance acquisition cash flows considered if paid prior to initial recognition
of the related group of insurance contracts?

Insurance acquisition cash flows incurred prior to initial recognition are reflected as paid
and capitalised until the related group of insurance contracts is issued. An exception to
this is for contracts using the PAA that have a duration of 12 months or less. Such
contracts may choose to recognise acquisition costs as expenses when incurred
(paragraph 59).

How are insurance acquisition cash flows considered if paid in a reporting period (in the
same year, in a subsequent year) after initial measurement (e.g., renewal commissions
or asset-based commissions)?

Insurance acquisition cash flows incurred after the initial
way as other future costs, regardless of the year in whi

In this sense, they are considered to be di
whether they are acquisition costs or di

table expenses. The question of
tion costs is moot.

inis
If agent / agency compensation is updn agent/agency survival, how might

those expenses be reflected (apglj ight agent/agency turnover be
considered)?

These expenses are usug
Im handling costs. Hence if agent/agency turnover
lows, this needs to be considered in determining
estimated futurgegash s whether the expenses are for acquisition or maintenance of
the contract.

What are some e ples of expenses that are or are not insurance acquisition cash
flows?

Insurance acquisition cash flows include, but are not limited to:
° Commissions to sales personnel;

° Payments to managers of agencies or brokerages based on a percentage of
commissions or other measurements of sales;

. Underwriting costs; and
o Contract set up expenses.
The following might not be considered insurance acquisition cash flows:

° Payments to managers of agencies or brokerages not based directly on sales;
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2.28.

2.29.

2.30.

2.31.

° Payments to managers of agencies or brokerages based on policy persistency; and

° Premium and commission processing costs.

Are any taxes included in cash flows?

See B65. All transaction-based taxes (such as premium taxes, value added taxes and
goods and services taxes) and levies (such as fire service levies and guarantee fund
assessments) are included in cash flows. Wage based taxes, referred to as payroll taxes,
social security taxes and similar items, are also included to the extent the wages they are
based on are included. Also included would be any taxes paid on behalf of the
policyholder. If the impact of certain of these taxes is only the small difference of the time
value of the incoming and outgoing cash flows, those impacts could usually be ignored
based on materiality considerations but noted in disclosures

< income and
In contract
olders unless paid in a

Income taxes and other similar taxes (e.g., a tax based o

olic
fiduciary capacity on behalf of the policyholder.

Are there any special considerations for di jonqy or Voluntary payments to
policyholders?

r 8 on contracts with participating

For policyholder bonuses or dividends ,se
i ms on non-participating contracts (e.g.,

features and other variable feature

measured on a participating ontractgorother discretionary cash flows of the entity,
including any fair dealingsi i
within or beyond th
to services provided

ary needs to be considered. If they are with respect
ntract boundary, they may also be measured at the

expected value erwa, they are generally not included.
How are policyh dends or bonuses projected for traditional participating
contracts?

See chapter 8 on contracts with participating features and other variable features.

How are delayed benefits, benefits which are expected never to be paid, or events that
create rights contingent on future events (e.g., annuities to persons under third party
liability, or joint life) accounted for?

These benefits are normally included in the same way as other benefits, at their expected
value. This may be different from previous accounting structures that, in some instances,
measure such benefits only after they are elected.
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2.32.

2.33.

2.34.

2.35.

2.36.

How are interest credits paid to policyholders projected?
See chapter 8 covering contracts with participating features and other variable features.

Where is there available guidance for estimating inflation and its effects on inflation-
sensitive benefits, claims and expenses?

Paragraph B128 (b) provides guidance on when inflation risk is to be seen as non-financial
risk. When seen as financial risk, paragraph B51 provides as an example a reference to
observed market interest rates. A range of statistics is available in different countries.
General living cost or wage indices might be useful for many cash flows, but building,
medical and other insurance relevant expenses may also have their own indices or may
be responsive to specific factors other than general inflation. In addition, as inflation
applies to the entity’s internal expenses, the relative change in productivity and changes
in the number of units can also influence trends in unit expenses. As long as observations
can be made regarding (neutral) expected values of inflatiog et prices for the
specific cash flow to be measured, those observations hgveQy pmpared with the
entity’s expectations.

durations longer than the product has be

thQgy related internal experience and any
Si d. This is likely to be supplemented by

The best available relevant experience,

documented judgment.
How might cash flows on cogffracts c jng multiple perils be developed?
This depends on the natee oNhe cogfract and the nature of the peril.

@‘ nsurance contracts cover standard combinations of perils. In
aNombination might be treated as a single peril.

For example, many g
such cases, the stand

dent, then simple addition can be used; however, if the data
fficient for a reliable estimate, then estimating cash flows by peril
nded.

If the perils are
for one peril is n
may not be recom

Interdependent perils (e.g., joint life, first death) can be adjusted for the probabilities of
co-incidence.

How might cash flows on a single contract with multiple insured items, particularly if
there is an open number of insured items in the contract (e.g., a group life contract or a
corporate auto contract) be adjusted for added or deducted insured items?

Where an additional premium is to be agreed for each additional insured item (e.g., group
life, health or disability), estimates may be made on the basis of the insured items active
at the measurement date, since the additional insured item is beyond the contract
boundary before it is added.
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2.37.

Where a fixed premium is charged even if the number of insured items can change within
the contract boundary, then an expected value approach is appropriate for estimating the
number of insured items which will be covered within the contract boundary.

How often are estimates re-evaluated?

Estimates must be re-evaluated at every reporting date. In compliance with

paragraphs 33(c) and B54-B60, the assumptions for estimating the cash flows also have to
be re-evaluated at each reporting date. If there is no positive indication that anything
relevant has changed, however, no change to an assumption is allowed.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
?\
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Chapter 3 — Discount Rates

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the Introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

3.A. What does this chapter address?

This chapter discusses practices related to interest rates, yield curves, discounting and
replicating portfolios for insurance contracts as required by IFRS 17. First the general
principles for discounting within IFRS 17 are discussed in questions 3.1-3.10. Discount
rates used for cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on financial underlying
items? are discussed in questions 3.11-3.24. Discount rates for cash flows that do vary
based on the returns on financial underlying items are discussed in questions 3.25-3.31.
Discounting related to PAA is covered in questions 3.32-3.35 and locked-in discount rates
are discussed in questions 3.36-3.41.

3.B. Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?
Paragraphs 36 and B72 — B85 provide guidance on s t

Related sections are paragraphs B44-B48 (on markqt v and paragraphs 87, 110-
113 and B128-B136 (on insurance finance i e aNg expE€nses).

BC 19, BC 185 — BC 205, and BC 212 als ides ba®ground on the subject.

3.C. What other IAA documents are relgvan

The IAA has published a mono
Reporting: A Practical Guide”ffOctob

pic?

iscount rates, “Discount Rates in Financial

3.1. What are the gene@§ related to discounting within IFRS 17?

An amount pagel
payable in the
to adjust cash I8
underpin the dis

has a different present value from that of the same amount

g Other words, money has a time value. Discount rates are used
s to reflect the time value of money. The following general principles
nting guidance within IFRS 17.

Principle 1: Estimates of future cash flows are adjusted for the time value of money and
the financial risks related to those cash flows, to the extent that the financial risks are
not included in the estimates of cash flows (paragraph 36).

Principle 2: Discount rates are reflective of whether the cash flows vary based on the
returns on any financial underlying items (paragraph B74).

° For some insurance contracts, e.g., most general insurance and non-participating
traditional term life or non-participating whole life insurance, the cash flows are not

8 The standard defines underlying items which might include both financial and non-financial elements. As only
financial underlying items are relevant for the discount rate, only financial underlying items will be referred to in
this section.
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dependent on financial underlying items. IFRS 17 refers to these products as having
cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on any financial underlying
items. The discounting for these cash flows is discussed in questions 3.11-3.26;

° Other insurance contracts, e.g., unit-linked universal life insurance and variable
annuities, typically have cash flows that are dependent on financial underlying
items. IFRS 17 refers to these products as having cash flows that vary based on the
returns of any financial underlying items. The discounting for these cash flows is
discussed in questions 3.25-3.31;

° Based on the definitions in the standard, the distinction between cash flows that do
vary based on the returns on financial underlying items and cash flows that do not
vary based on financial underlying items is not equal to the distinction between
insurance contracts with direct participation features and insurance contracts
without direct participation features. This is further exg in question 3.9.

Principle 3: The discount rates applied to the estimateg o P cash flows reflect
i s of the insurance
contracts (see paragraph 36a).

. The discount rates applicable to fully liquid irRgtru (the “risk-free curve”) are

discussed in question 3.12;

° The liquidity characteristics of ins
3.17.

ontracts are discussed in questions 3.14-

Principle 4: The discount rat
financial instruments with
the insurance contracts an | exclude the effect of factors that influence such

istent with observable market prices, if any, for

contracts by Wentifying a replicating portfolio. This is discussed in question 3.29.

Principle 5: Assumptions for the estimates of discount rates are consistent with
assumptions for other estimates used to measure insurance contracts to avoid double
counting or omissions (paragraph B74). For example, if nominal cash flows include the
effect of inflation they are discounted at rates that include the effect of inflation.
Similarly, when discounting cash flows that vary with financial underlying items, the
financial return assumptions used to estimate future cash flows and the discount rates
used are aligned (see questions 3.25 and further).

44



Draft Educational Note February 2019
3.2. For which purposes are discount rates required?
Paragraph B72 lists the purposes for which discount rates are required.

An entity shall use the following discount rates in applying IFRS 17.

a) to measure the fulfilment cash flows — current discount rates Discussed in
applying paragraph 36. questions

3.11-3.31

b) to determine the interest to accrete on the contractual service Discussed in
margin [...] for insurance contracts without direct participation question
features — discount rates determined at the date of initial 3.36
recognition [...].

c) to measure the changes to the contractual service margin |...] for Discussed in
insurance contracts without direct participation featur unt | question
rates [...] determined on initial recognition. 3.37

d) for groups of contracts applying the premium q ch Discussed in
that have a significant financing component, arrying | questions
amount of the liability for remaining coverag unt rate 3.33 and
[...] determined on initial recognition. 3.34

e) If an entity chooses to disaggregat nce firtfance income or
expenses between profit or loss and prehensive income
(IFRS 17.88), to determine the e insurance finance
income or expenses inclu

(i) for groups of insura Discussed in
assumptions ancial risk do not have a question
substantial Re amounts paid to policyholders [...] — 3.38
discount rates Wgtermined at the date of initial recognition [...];

(i) for gro Discussed in
assumpti®s that relate to financial risk have a substantial effect | question
on the am®nts paid to policyholders [...] — discount rates that 3.39
allocate the remaining revised expected finance income or
expense [...] at a constant rate; and

(iii)  for groups of contracts applying the premium allocation Discussed in

approach [...] — discount rates determined at the date of the guestion
incurred claim [...]. 3.35

3.3. How are liquid risk-free rates determined in the context of IFRS 17?

A liquid risk-free yield curve is discussed in paragraphs B80 and in BC193. It is the basis of
the bottom-up approach which is discussed in question 3.13. The liquid risk-free curve
may not be required in a purely top-down approach (which is discussed in question 3.18).
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IFRS 17 does not define a method to derive the liquid risk-free yield curve. Favourable
characteristics for market quoted interest rates used in deriving a liquid risk-free yield
curve might include those quoted interest rates:

. Being reliable and liquid;
° Containing no credit risk; and
° Having quoted/maturity dates for a wide range of terms/durations.

To set an entire curve, practitioners may, in some cases, consider using more than one
security type or market index/reference rates to derive the overall curve. Thus, deriving
the liquid risk-free curve may involve judgment.

Some options and considerations that might be applied are set out below®:

a. Government bond rates

Politically stable governments in economically devel
believed to have a low probability of defaulting
governments in such countries have taxing p
supply (which is not the case for all govern
can be used as an indicator as to whether thegpon
be considered risk free.

ries are commonly
his is because

Bility to expand money
ing of government bonds
the specific government may

In the situation of a currency unid
rating might be used. In the sjuati

et of government bonds with a high
a @rrency union, an individual government
does not have the ability to e theWoney supply which may cause credit risk.
Also, national governmgffits can i debt. If credit risk is present, an approach that
estimates the credit risgcompofent so that it might be removed is described in

guestion 3.19 be|gM

Apart from th Q e available maturities and the liquidity of the

governmegat debt¥Xaarket varies between governments. These may be factors when
choosing ernment bonds and alternative bases for the risk-free curve
developme

b.  Swap Curve

In many markets swap curves are observable and available for a range of terms. In
some cases, they are more liquid and available for a greater range of terms than
government securities.

Swaps are often used as instrument for replicating and hedging interest rate risk
arising from derivative assets which makes them a natural reference to derive risk-
free interest rates. Furthermore, swap contracts are typically collateralised and
there is no risk on the principal value associated with the swap agreement, which
substantially reduces the exposure to losses associated with a credit default event.

% Other publications on the subject could help the practitioner to derive such a curve (for example: (EIOPA, 2017),
(IAA, 2013)).
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For example, the EIOPA Solvency Il approach!® uses swap rates for currencies with
deep financial markets.

Quoted swap rates may have to be adjusted in order to reflect:

. The counterparty credit risk: A party who is receiving a fixed interest rate (i.e.,
fixed/quoted leg) from another party is likely to require a premium on top of
the interest rate to compensate for the risk related to future interest
payments on the fixed leg in excess of the floating leg. The “swap rate” will
include an allowance for credit risk and an adjustment would be required,
taking into account collateralisation requirements.

. The underlying reference security credit risk: If swap rates are based on the
yield of an underlying reference security with material credit risk premiums
these risk premiums would need to be removed to gbtain a risk-free rate.

hen choosing any
adjustment in relation to counterparty risk. Simil ‘ Fding the underlying
j ent for credit risk.

C. Corporate Bond Rates

Corporate bond rates are not risk free ougl in sdme jurisdictions, it may be the
most widely traded market. Credit ri%g ne e considered in the context of
corporate risks. Techniques that considered when using corporate bonds
rates are similar to those pr ueRtion 3.19.

3.4. How canrisk free rates be de if there is no well-developed bond or swap

market?

well-developed bond or swap market other
¥od. Two situations can be distinguished:

When, for a given cur
approaches may be ¢

a. The local gurrencyqg pegged to another currency; and

b. Thelocalc not pegged to another currency.
The local currency X pegged to another currency

The suitability of this approach depends upon adequately allowing for any risks that the
level of the peg may change. This risk causes a spread on rates in the local currency.
Evaluating this risk may require particular care given that in these situations there may be
a lack of forward exchange rate contracts which, if they were available, would be one
source of a market observable measure of the risk of the peg changing. Observed
deviations in the past from the pegging policy may be an indicator for a correction on the
targeted difference.

10 Note that the volatility adjustment is not compliant to IFRS 17.
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The local currency is not pegged to another currency

Short nominal rates may be derived from the rate the central bank offers for deposits. For
long durations, one might consider using a global real rate plus a compensation for the
inflation the local central bank is targeting. The targeted inflation may be adjusted using
expert judgment if for example the risk of higher inflation on the long run is considered
realistic. Observed differences in the past between the targeted inflation and the realised
inflation may be an indicator for the need of an adjustment. In the globalised economy
differences between real rates in developed countries have declined. See graph below.
However, it might be appropriate to consider whether that narrowing will remain. For the
estimation of a global real rate, an option is to use a basket of high rated government
bonds or swap rates. It is a matter of judgment how much weight is put to each country.
One might use for example the gross domestic product (GDP) as a weight.

ong demand for loans
e between the local
risk-free real rate and the global risk-free real rate in t s Pifficult. This is a
matter of judgment. Estimation of the inflation in t d be an even a bigger
challenge. It comes largely down to expert judgm

Local real rates may deviate from the global real rate if thereg

Interquartile ran —Global

0
1985 88 91 94 97 2000 03 06 09 12

Note: 1 The sample consists of: United States, United Kingdom, Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Italy. Netherlands,
Norway. Sweden, Switzerland, Canada. Japan, Finland, Greece, Portugal. Spain. Australia, New Zealand. Global based on
the GDP-weighted average.

Source: IMF (2014).

3.5.

If quotes for forward exchange rate contracts are available, this information can be used
to convert other risk-free rates in other currencies to the rate for the local currency.

How is inflation reflected in discount rates?

Paragraph B74 states that nominal cash flows (i.e., those that include the effect of
inflation) shall be discounted at rates that include the effect of inflation. Real cash flows
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(i.e., those that exclude the effect of inflation) shall be discounted at rates that exclude the
effect of inflation.

Cash flows subject to inflation may therefore either

(i) be projected including the effects of inflation and discounted with a nominal rate;
or

(ii) be projected without inflation and discounted with real rates.

There are several potential methods that may be suitable for deriving inflation and/or real
interest rate expectations. Some potential methods and aspects to consider in their
application are discussed below. The considerations listed may not be exhaustive.

e Market based approaches

- Estimating inflation by taking the difference between nggainal bond yields and
inflation-linked bonds. This method requires limited j
credit risk of the bonds is the same (otherwise ju
making further adjustments for differences in y
considerations may be required because in
market is considered reliable and well-functi
be biased because of smaller volumes &gl

This would then bias the derived estMate

nd dther supply/demand factors.
tion.

- Inflation swaps/other market instr investment banks or other traders may
offer contracts that provide uture inflation. These may not be
common, causing possi jven limited availability. Where such trades
occur, the prices may ilWand publicly available. Nonetheless, where such

information is avaj sist by providing insight into market information on

inflation estim

e Publicly available
- Central ba r inflation.

- Forecasts offfconomic commentators and/or government bodies.

- Views of a long-term real risk-free rate. This is discussed further in question 3.21.
This may assist with setting the long-term inflation estimate but is likely to be less
helpful in setting short-term estimates.

Publicly available estimates may not be the same as the results of market-based
approaches or may not align with realised inflation over time for the cash flows. If
public estimates and market-based approaches are not similar over a given time
horizon, then an evaluation of the causes of difference may be useful. The appropriate
adjustments will be based on the cause of the differences.

Potential causes of differences may be as follows:

- The corresponding central banks may not always achieve their target which may
extend to different economic expectations over the long run.
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3.6.

3.7.

- Market based estimates can be biased due to limited volume of transactions
available.

Some cash flows of an insurance contract may depend on a different inflation index to a
commonly available index such as the consumer price index (CPl) and may be linked
instead to salary inflation which, over time, is likely to differ from CPI. Or for example, the
expenses of an insurance company may be expected to grow at a different pace than the
CPI. Also, the insured amount may depend on an inflation index that is not equal to the
CPI. If this is the case, the appropriate inflation expectation would need to be used in the
measurement, or in accordance with paragraph B74d, where the inflation component is
excluded from both the cash flows and the discount rate. Whilst projected CPI (in this
example) would be considered part of financial risk for measurement purposes, where
different inflation assumptions are used for expenses or other cash flows, the extent to
which these inflation assumptions differ could be considered rt of non-financial risk,
with implications for the determination of the risk adjust

Is ‘own credit risk’ reflected in discount rates under |

No, non-performance risk (defined in IFRS 13 Fair
entity that has issued the insurance contract, as ‘
paragraph 31) in the discount rates.

ent) related to the
‘, is not reflected (see

Non-performance risk with respect to rein
valuation of reinsurance contracts held

panies is accounted for in the

Are investment administration ex
under IFRS 17?

ted in discount rates (or cash flows)

There is no direct guidance ifghe starflard about this topic, but some information can be
found in BC201 which :

cash flows from underlying items affect the cash flows
the liability, the appropriate discount rate should reflect the

underlying items, the appropriate discount rate should exclude any factors

that influence the underlying items that are irrelevant to the contracts. [...]

Thus, the discount rate should not capture all of the characteristics of those
assets, even if the entity views those assets as backing those contracts.

One view is that the IASB intended that only investment administration expenses that
affect the return of the underlying items might be reflected in the discount rate or cash
flows, but not both to avoid double counting. Investment administration expenses related
to the actual investments of the company, under any other circumstances, might not be
captured in the discount rate (nor the cash flow). They are irrelevant to the insurance
contract.
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3.8.

3.9.

3.10.

How are yield curves updated?

Paragraph 36 requires that the discount rate be consistent with observable current
market prices (if any) for financial instruments with cash flows whose characteristics are
consistent with those of the insurance contracts, in terms of, for example, timing,
currency and liquidity. Observable current market prices correspond to the value of
market instruments at the reporting date and are therefore updated at each subsequent
reporting period to remain current. Unobservable inputs for which estimation techniques
are necessary are developed using the best information available in the circumstances.
These might be updated less frequently than every reporting period. All financial
assumptions used to derive yield curves are expected to be appropriate at the valuation
date.

Do contracts with cash flows that vary based on the returns on financial underlying
items meet the definition of insurance contracts with direc icipation features and
vice versa?

Contracts with cash flows that vary based on the ret

appendix A, but this not always the case.

Note that all contracts with direct particip at&es, by definition, have contractual
terms that specify that the policyholder paggipate®g a share of a clearly identified pool
of underlying items. These underlying it ypically financial in nature and the
contracts have cash flows that var ereturns on financial underlying items.

For contracts that do not me ition in appendix A, the GMA is used or the PAA,
while for ‘direct participatin e VFA is used. In this chapter, we distinguish
between “cash flows thz ased on the returns on any financial underlying
ased on the returns on any financial underlying
Echniques deriving appropriate discount rates. A further

0 features and the description of underlying items can be found
participation features and other variable cash flows”.

items” in order to des¥
explanation of iCi
in chapter 7 “Co

Can an equivalent¥constant) discount rate be used in IFRS 17, instead of a discount
curve?

A common actuarial practice is to translate a discount curve into an equivalent discount
rate by solving for a constant rate such that, for the pattern of cash flows, the present
value produced by using the constant rate equates the present value produced by using
the discount curve. This translation is highly dependent on the pattern of cash flows. For
the same (non-flat) discount curve, different constant discount rates would result were
the pattern of cash flows different. Reasons to conduct this translation include for data
storage simplification and calculation ease.

Paragraph 36 requires the discount rates used to reflect the time value of money, the
characteristics of the cash flows and the liquidity characteristics of the insurance
contracts. If the equivalent discount rate achieves the above, then it is more likely to
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3.11.

3.12.

comply with the standard. However, in using this method, current and future purposes of
this method for which the single equivalent discount rate will be used, may need to be
reflected on.

As discussed in question 3.2 there are different purposes for discount rates in IFRS 17.
Many practitioners believe that to calculate the fulfilment cash flows the use of a
discount curve is required to be consistent with paragraph 36. In this context, a single
equivalent discount rate might provide information but is unlikely to have broader uses.
See question 3.39 for a discussion of equivalent constant discount rates in the context of
the locked-in curve.

How are cash flows, that do not vary based on the returns on any financial underlying
items, discounted?

Paragraphs B80 to B85 establish two methods to determi
flows that do not vary based on the returns of financia
approach (paragraph B80) and the top-down appro

discounting cash
i@#ms, the bottom-up

Both approaches are briefly discussed in BC196: ..} -up’ approach based on
highly liquid, high-quality bonds, adjusted tojnclu
‘top-down’ approach based on the expect
eliminate factors that are not relevant

that in applying a top-down
remaining differences ingimgi
insurance contracts.

Following the a t out in BC196, a reference portfolio would need to be defined
if using the top- ch. For the bottom-up approach, an illiquidity premium has
to be estimated, y also require a reference portfolio.

What is a referenc®portfolio?

IFRS 17 has no specific requirements for the reference portfolio. It could be based on
actual assets held by the company or on a theoretical portfolio of assets. However, the
better the reference portfolio reflects the characteristics (e.g., liquidity) of the cash flows
for which the discount rate is being developed, the smaller adjustments are likely to be
needed in the discount rate. When starting with the actual assets held by the company,
an assessment on whether the portfolio still reflects the characteristics of the cash flows
whenever the investment strategy changes materially may be done.

Factors that may differ between the characteristics of a reference portfolio and that of a
portfolio of insurance contracts include, but are not limited to:

i. Investment risks: Investment risk can consist of credit risk, market risk, and other
price risks that are inherent in the reference portfolio and are not inherent in the
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3.13.

3.14.

insurance contracts. Methods used to estimate these elements are discussed in
guestion 3.19 (credit risk) and question 3.20 (market and other risks);

ii. Timing: The timing of cash flows within the reference portfolio may not be the
same as that of the liability contracts. Adjustments may be considered, based on
observable assets traded in active markets or on estimation techniques if the
market is not active or no market exists. Estimation techniques for long duration
interest rate are discussed in question 3.23;

iii. Currency: The reference portfolio of assets may contain assets that are in a
different currency than the liabilities. One approach to adjust for the different
currencies might be currency swaps.

NB: a reference portfolio is different from a replicating portfolio (paragraph B46) which
exactly matches cash flows of the contract liability in amount, timing and uncertainty, for
all scenarios.

How does the bottom-up approach work?

The bottom-up approach is described in paragraph g0

a) liquid risk-free yield curve; and
b) adjusted to reflect the liquidity char ics W the insurance contracts.
S I

What are the liquidity characteristics o' e contracts?

Paragraph 36 states that the disco
characteristics of the insuranc

d should reflect the liquidity

sufance contract liquidity characteristics one may

In order to understand the nf&ure of
\ other financial instruments: in the context of fixed

consider the liquidity c teQgLics
income financial instyg
extinguish the liabilit
embedded into instrgent or the marketability of the instrument.

BC193 specificall e parallel between insurance contracts and fixed income
financial instrumegs and suggests that liquidity characteristics of insurance contracts be
viewed from the perspective of the features embedded within the contract. This view is
also echoed in the IAA Discount Rate Monograph which, on page 38 of section IV, states:
the liquidity of a liability is a function of the basic contract provisions, and especially any
options that might exist for the policyholder that would impact the uncertainty regarding
the amount and timing of payments.

This answer addresses the liquidity characteristics of insurance contracts from the
perspective of the contract’s features. Some practitioners ask if the liquidity
characteristics of insurance contracts should be assessed from the insurer’s perspective.
The motivation of this view is BC194 which suggests that the motivation of including a
liquidity premium is the entity’s ability, or lack thereof, to sell/put the contract. The focus
of IFRS 17 in general is on the insurance contract features and as such this answer
explores liquidity from the perspective of the contract’s features.
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Note that this answer focuses on qualitative assessments of insurance contract liquidity.
See response to question 3.15 for a discussion on the quantitative assessment of
illiquidity premium.

Contract features that may influence the liquidity of an insurance contract include:

° Exit costs: all else being equal, a contract with exit costs (e.g., surrender charges/
penalties) is likely to be more illiquid than one without. Note exit is contemplated as
voluntary exit/cancellation of contract and occurrence of the insured event is not
considered a contract exit, as contemplated in this response.

° Inherent value/value build-up: If a contract’s pricing/construction is such that there
is negligible/no inherent value then, other than any exit costs, it is likely to be
considered liquid. If on exit of a contract there is:

o) little inherent value in the contract and there are gsts to exit the contract

then the contract could be considered to be ligg

o little inherent value in the contract and t D exit the contract

then the contract could be considered t

For example, yearly renewable general insurance ose design builds
negligible value and are without exit costs, ikel\fo be'considered liquid.

For contracts with no cash value, incre and T®vel premium payment, longer
contract boundaries are potentially less |IQid contracts with shorter boundaries as
the extended boundary potentially ter inherent value/value build-up. To
illustrate this a twenty-year t su
two-year term insurance confiFact.

e Exit value: all else e ontract where upon exit all/a large part of the
value build-up is ic more liquid than one that pays out none or a small part

(@)

o value in®he contract and the policyholder receives no/a small part of the
value of the contract, then the contract may be considered to be illiquid.

Liability for incurred claims might be considered illiquid as there is no potential avenue for
the policyholder to obtain the exit value yet there is tangible inherent value (else a claim
would not have been made).

The repayment of annual premiums on exit of a contract are not considered by many
practitioners to be an exit value payment as they are a repayment of prepaid premiums
and not of the value build-up. In such cases, contracts with annual premiums would have
similar liquidity as those with monthly premiums. Forfeiture, though, of annual premiums
on exit when no penalty would have existed for monthly premium policyholders, may
influence liquidity differences.
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3.15.

The liquidity of an insurance contract likely varies over time. For example:

. The twenty-year term insurance example could be considered to be more liquid in
the contract’s first year than in the contract’s fifteenth year based on the growing
value of initial underwriting no longer being recent.

. The contract with high cash surrender value could be viewed as less liquid in the
contract’s tenth year than in the contract’s fifteenth year based on the exit value
receivable.

For operational reasons it is conceivable that an overall assessment/categorisation be
made consistent with the response in question 3.16.

One contract feature that is unlikely to affect the liquidity of insurance contracts is the
predictability (or lack thereof) of the contract’s cash flows. The risk adjustment for non-
financial risk reflects the compensation that the entity requirg

high value on any remaining death benefits,
contract where no or little exit value migh
since the contract features remain unc nd assuming that the insurer’s required
payment is only made upon occurrence g red event, the existence and depth of a
tion of probability weighted cash flows

t’s liquidity.

y characteristics of the insurance contracts has been
mium. Highly liquid insurance contracts would have a

broadly termed the i
“H bremium while very illiquid contracts would have a higher

low (or even n
illiquidity premi

Data relating to illNuidity premium of insurance contracts is generally not directly
available in the market. Looking beyond insurance contracts, market prices for liabilities
where the issuer of debt has the possibility to redeem the debt early are also very limited.

A theoretical approach to determine the illiquidity premium is to assess possible
replicating portfolios. This is discussed in question 3.29. Some practical approaches of
estimating illiquidity premiums for insurance contracts include:

° Using a reference portfolio and determining its illiquidity premium using top-down
techniques (see questions 3.18 to 3.20); and

. Comparing yields on illiquid and liquid assets, both with the same or similar degree
of credit risk. The commonality in these approaches is that the instruments are
considered to have the same degree of credit risk and as such the spread difference
would be largely attributable to liquidity. For example:
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o Covered vs risk-free bonds: Covered bonds are illiquid bonds which are
backed by collateral and as such, are considered safe;

o Public and private debt issued by the same issuer; and
o Highly liquid and less liquid mortgage backed securities.

If the asset portfolio used in estimation is more liquid than the insurance contracts being
considered, then additional adjustments may be needed. The illiquidity premium of
insurance contracts may be different from market assets. However, this is dependent on
the contract itself.

What follows is an example of a simple method used to relate the illiquidity premium of
insurance contracts to the asset portfolios:

Assume liability illiquidity premium = r * asset portfolio illiquidity premium + constant
illiquidity premium difference where the constant term ag#Priegiplicative factor (r) is
set based on either judgment or data if any is available! ction of the factor
differing market environments may be taken into

high multiplicative factor (r) and a constant =0 rod®e a convincing result
during a credit crisis. It would be difficult to ju contracts having a higher
illiquidity premium than the return on assgts avqabl investment earning the
illiquidity premium. This, however, is n relevant factor in setting the

illiquidity premium level.

The above approach is based on a
may be a discernible relationshj en th’level of the illiquidity premium and other
market data such as the leve|#pf risk-fre®ugates and/or the level of credit spreads. For
example, there may be a diff@ent illiQ@idity premium in a 10% rate environment than in a
5% environment. How \i @ showed the same level of credit spreads in these
disparate environm level of illiquidity premiums in these environments

might be the same.

rm structure of illiquidity premium in current research and it is
expected to be a Nfhction of the modelling approach selected. One reference that
discusses the term¥ructure of the illiquidity premium is (Kempf, 2011). Note that if the
liquidity characteristics vary over time, then the implicit illiquidity premium in the
discount rate would also be expected to vary over time. However, materiality/modelling
and operational considerations may also influence approach choice.

Little is known a

An important caveat in setting the illiquidity premium is discussed in paragraph B90 which
states the discount rates should not include any implicit adjustments for non-financial
risk. The illiquidity premium corresponds to the estimate reflected in the future cash
flows while uncertainty attributable to non-financial risk is reflected in the risk
adjustment for non-financial risks. In calculating these values, paragraph B90 states that
double counting should be avoided.
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3.16.

3.17.

3.18.

Are different products expected to have different illiquidity premiums?

Insurance contracts exhibiting different features may have different exit costs, inherent
value and/or exit value. As such, products are expected to have different illiquidity
premiums. Products within the same portfolio, however, may have similar illiquidity
premiums/characteristics since they are similar risks. An entity may elect to use a single
average illiquidity term structure across products within a given portfolio.

If a contract is reinsured, would the direct issuer use the same illiquidity premium when
valuing the direct and the ceded contract?

NB - the illiquidity premium from the reinsurer’s perspective is not in scope for this
guestion as it would be determined in accordance with the previous questions.

Paragraph 63 states that “the entity shall use consistent assumptions to measure the
estimates of the present value of the future cash flows for theg p of reinsurance

contracts held and the estimates of the present value of thg
group(s) of underlying insurance contracts”.

This consistency is required to the extent that both
reinsurance contracts share the same characterist
necessarily permit the entity to use the sameassu
underlying contracts when measuring the @in cQcontracts if those assumptions are
not valid for the terms of the reinsuranagcoMgacts held. If different assumptions apply
for the reinsurance contract, the entity us different assumptions when measuring
that contract.

For example, consider a coinsffrance ¢ ct where a predetermined proportion of all the
direct contract characteristicygre trarfiferred to the reinsurer. In that particular case, one
could expect the direc e iag¥irance contracts to exactly have the same illiquidity
premium. On the ot sider a level premium term life insurance contract for
which only mortality ri ould be reinsured on a yearly renewable term basis. In this
case, the direct urance contracts have different characteristics and a
different illiquidi migm would apply. Overall, in this example, the yearly renewable
reinsurance contra§ would be expected to be more liquid than the level premium direct
contract.

How does the top-down approach work?

An entity may determine appropriate discount rates for insurance contracts using a top-
down approach (paragraph B81). Under this approach, discount rates are based on
current market rates of return of a reference portfolio of assets which are adjusted to
remove risk characteristics embedded within the reference portfolio but that are not
inherent in insurance contracts. These adjustments are discussed in questions 3.19 and
3.20.

IFRS 17 does not require that adjustments to the yield curve be made for residual
differences in liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts and the reference
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portfolio. Nonetheless, an entity may still adjust the yield curve for these differences, as
discussed in questions 3.14-3.17.

3.19. How could the reference portfolio be adjusted for credit risk?

For debt instruments, the effect of credit risk would need to be eliminated from the total
bond yield. The effect of credit risk usually comprises two components: the expected
credit losses and the unexpected credit losses (i.e., compensation for bearing that risk).
There is a wide range of practices used to estimate the required deduction for credit risk
inherent in bond yields. Observed practices include:

i. Market-based techniques: Credit default swap (CDS) spread, where available, is
used as a measure of the inherent credit risk in bonds and comprise the expected as
well as the unexpected credit losses. An advantage of this approach is that the
inherent bond credit risk is directly and instantly reflected.in the CDS spread. A
disadvantage is that it may capture additional risks (e erparty credit risk)

therefore the CDS premium is lower than it is not the case —and
therefore the CDS could underestimate the i
can result in the illiquidity premium beg

ii. Structural-model techniques such,as Model, Leland and Toft Model and
EDF-Based Model. These models p®ajn tion the capital structure of a company

to an option on the equity of@Re pany and the value of its debt. For
further information see count Rate Monograph Section IV and Agrawal,

Arora and Bohn.

iii. Expected/Unexpeg it LgPs (ECL / UCL) models: ECL models usually comprise
an estimation g @ obabiity of defaults (including the future cost of

ation of the loss given default. One could leverage on

calculating the IFRS 9 lifetime impairment provision (e.g.,

informationoint-in-time adjustments might be needed to calibrate estimations to
current econ®nic situation and forward-looking information (e.g., factor ratio
models, scorecard models). UCL models are based on an adjustment to reach a
selected percentile credit loss level (confidence level approach). UCL could also be
estimated as the compensation required by an investor to bear the credit risk
associated with the instrument (cost of capital approach).

NB: several of the above approaches used to estimate the deduction for credit risk are
complex and as such it has been observed that insurers have typically simplified
expressions for the deductions required for credit risk and calibrating these expressions
based on the above approaches. Examples of such expressions include:

11 Consistency with what the entity is doing under IFRS 9 (impairment provisions), might be discussed later.
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3.20.

3.21.

3.22.

a. Deduction for credit risk = Expected Default Rate + X% (Total Bond Spread —
Expected Default Rate)

b. Deduction for credit risk = X% (Total Bond Spread)
c. Deduction for credit risk = Expected Default Rate * (1+compensation risk)

The advantage of the first two approximations is that the credit risk premium changes as
a function of the corporate spread.

How could the reference portfolio be adjusted for market and other risks?

As mentioned in paragraph B85, IFRS 17 does not specify restrictions on the reference
portfolio of assets used in applying paragraph B81. For example, equity or real estate
investments may also be considered in the reference portfolio. However, the estimation
process may be much more challenging since many risks are specific to these investments
and not necessarily related to the insurance contract charag . Such risks include,
but are not limited to, market risk, variability in amount a dividend, the risk of

reference portfolio assets and might result in som #Ns in the overall spread.
Unless measured and treated separately, th t be attributed to the
illiquidity component of the asset yield an Id also be included in the liability

discount rate.
How should the yield curve durati

In constructing the discount e, aco
consistent with observable ket prifges. If liability cash flows extend beyond a certain
point, such discount ra irectly observable in the market, or market data
for certain duration carce. An entity may then choose to estimate appropriate
rates beyond those ob the market by interpolating between data points that
are observed di i arket, and between observable data points and rates
estimated beyon rvable term structure. There are many potential interpolation
approaches that cX be used to derive a yield curve using interpolation and extrapolation
techniques. In chap®r V of the Discount Rate Monograph some examples of possible
approaches of interpolation and extrapolation are presented.

In applying an estimation technique, as per B78, an entity shall maximise the use of
observable inputs and reflect current market conditions from the perspective of a market
participant.

When does the observable market end?

The determination of the end of the observable market is a function of the financial
market being considered and as such is potentially affected by whether the top-down or
bottom-up approach is elected.
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. For example, if the top-down approach is adopted and the reference portfolio
comprised of debt instruments then the end of the observable market in the
context of those debt instruments might need to be considered.

. Alternatively, if the bottom-up approach is adopted and the risk-free curve is based
on government bonds then the end of the observable market in the context of
those government bonds may be considered. If the risk-free curve is based on swap
rates, then the end of the observable market in the context of swap rates in that
currency may be considered.

In general, IFRS 17 requires the use of market data when available. For example, if the
market for the available financial instruments in the reference portfolio would end after
10 years and market data is available for a bottom up approach up to 30 years, the entity
might need to consider the suitability of using a top-down approach.

determined at which the market data is both available
longer durations can be used if market prices are avaj

looked at to perform this assessment:
° availability of financial instruments;
. bid-offer spread; \

o trade frequency; and
o trade volume.

For example, in a given markgf, 1, 3, 0, 20 and 30-year instruments may be
available and 50-year instrurigents mJ# infrequently be traded. In this example, since the
p ded, i i ive;

ly to be considered available and relevant for

data at the 50-year 4§
construction of
market is deter
for construction

Bst point at which “available and relevant” market data exist
Id curve, consistent with paragraph B78.12

In the bottom-up aPproach, it may be difficult to split the spread on the reference
portfolio that is used to derive the illiquidity premium between a credit spread and an
illiquidity premium. This may be especially challenging for longer durations. In those
situations, estimation techniques might be used for this split. In the top-down approach,
the current credit spread, excluding an illiquidity premium, is needed to determine the
discount rate. Also, here the split between credit spread and illiquidity premium has to be
determined and for longer durations a separate credit spread is not available and
estimation techniques might be used.

12 |n other frameworks, such as Solvency Il, a similar concept is referred to as the “last liquid point”, however IFRS
17 guidance does not contain this phrase.
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3.23.

3.24.

Which assumptions can be made for long durations where there is not enough market
observable data?

The following two approaches are often used:

° extrapolation based on last observable constant rate; and

° extrapolation of the last observable rate to an ultimate rate.
NB: there may be other approaches that are not considered here.

Extrapolation techniques based on the last observable constant rate have the advantage
of simplicity and are based on the last observable information. On the other hand, using
an ultimate rate might have the advantage of including additional market participant
inputs (such as economic expectations) and may be considered more consistent with
paragraph B82(c) (i.e., more weight on long-term estimates than on short term
fluctuations). Setting an ultimate level is discussed in questig

rates. The use of one form or the other requires so
translated back in the other form. Forward rates

price of a future cash flow. The final assume
ensure it is balanced with market reasonab
avoid important jumps and/or cliffs). On t riteria commonly adopted by finance
practitioners and academics for judgi urve construction is that forward rates are
continuous. Reasons for this in discontinuity in forward rates implies either

implausible expectations aboft future sMgt-term interest rates, or implausible

vel and position of the end points are required. As such,
te rate is achieved needs to be set, and would depend on

w the ultimate rate was derived. It is interesting to note that

lon is used, an ultimate spot rate would require a much longer

han an ultimate forward rate in order to produce equivalent results.

In any extrapolation
the year at whi
considerations r
if the same assum
convergence perio

How is the ultimate rate level set?

In the process of setting the ultimate rate, both retrospective and prospective approaches
might be considered. According to paragraph B44 “Estimates of market variables shall be
consistent with observable market prices at the measurement date. An entity shall
maximise the use of observable inputs and shall not substitute its own estimates for
observable market data”. Further, the information used in the estimation would need to
be appropriate for the expectations for the long durations of the ultimate rate.

A retrospective approach has the advantage of simplicity. However, macroeconomic
fundamentals may have changed over time. Furthermore, the choice of the starting point
could be considered to be arbitrary. The observed period may be chosen to be long
enough to eliminate or significantly reduce cyclic effects. Examples of retrospective

61



Draft Educational Note

February 2019

3.25.

approaches include using an arithmetic mean (with assumed underlying normal
distribution) or a geometric mean (with assumed underlying lognormal distribution) of the
historical nominal interest rate or real-rate.

A very simple prospective approach would be to use the forward rate or spot rate at the
last liquid point. Another approach might be to make use of well-known economic metrics
reflecting market participant expectations. Examples are the central bank inflation target
or neutral rates!® and OECD GDP growth forecasts.

One might also want to use historical observations and adjust them to obtain a realistic
rate in a prospective approach. Economists have studied the decrease of the real interest
rates around the world over the past decades e.g., (Rachel, 2015). Depending to which
extent the economy of a country or currency is open, global developments influence the
local interest rates. Some argue that there is a global long term real risk-free rate and that
differences in the nominal rates are only caused by differencg be targeted inflation
rate of the central banks. Others point to differences in the rates between
currencies that are difficult to explain. The decline in t pte isgfl global trend

however. Understanding this trend may help in sett assumptions. Rachel
(2015) identifies possible causes of the decline in rate. Some of them may
revert and cause the real rate to increase, while ot likely to revert.

0S
t®Re closer together. See also question 3.4.
As such, for these countries the same ulti r&@pl rate may be used for liabilities with
similar liquidity characteristics. The s have to be corrected for inflation. This
might be the inflation targetegfby the c®atral bank.

Due to increasing globalisation, real rates
economic environments have the tend

Why is it important
flows and underlying

guis"Detween the nature of the dependency between cash

e return of financial underlying items4. It is important to
lin€ar and a non-linear dependence. A non-linear dependence can
be, for example, csed by a combination of dependence of the cash flows on the return
of financial underlying items and a guarantee on the return of those financial underlying
items. The valuation approach to be used in the situation of a linear dependence is
discussed in question 3.26 and the valuation approach to be used in the situation of a
non-linear dependence is discussed in question 3.27.

Cash flows may
distinguish betw

13 The neutral (or natural) rate of interest is the rate at which real GDP is growing at its trend rate, and inflation is
stable. It is attributed to Swedish economist Knut Wicksell, and forms an important part of the Austrian theory of
the business cycle.

14 As stated before, one must be careful in distinguishing cash flows that do and do not vary based on the returns on
any financial underlying items.
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3.26.

3.27.

How are cash flows, that do vary based on the returns of any financial underlying items,
discounted?

Paragraph B74 (b) provides guidance for cash flows that vary based on the returns on any
financial underlying items. These cash flows shall be:

(i) discounted using rates that reflect that variability; or

(ii) adjusted for the effect of that variability and discounted at a rate that reflects the
adjustment made.

This means that projection assumptions should be consistent with discounting to ensure
an appropriate approach whether deterministic or stochastic methods are used.
Deterministic methods are possible where there is linear dependence, i.e., where the
insurance contract has no embedded options or guarantees.

Under (i), cash flows are projected based on the expected rigffr ns of the financial

discount rate (or curve) to be used shall reflect that
premium.

Under (ii), cash flows are adjusted for the ef of tRat vaMability. Again, if the

dependence is linear, one might project ca®uflo g investment returns implied by a
deterministic risk-free rate (or curve). In e, the discount rate (or curve) to be used
shall also be on a risk-free basis.

Both approaches avoid any va n match and double counting, since the discount
rate is consistent with the ratlf used fg t™® cash flow projection. Theoretically, both
valuation approaches arggaxp®ated tg@fead to the same result.

As discussed in 976, cash flows could vary with returns on financial underlying
items, but be sub to a guarantee of a minimum return. These cash flows do not vary
solely based on thefeturns on the financial underlying items, because there might be
some scenarios where the cash flow will not vary based on the financial underlying items,
e.g., when the guarantees are in-the-money. This is an example of a non-linear
dependence.

Here are some approaches (but not an exhaustive list) that might be used in the valuation
if the dependence of the cash flows on the financial underlying items is non-linear
(paragraph B77), noting the requirement for the measurement to be consistent with
observable market prices (paragraph B48):

° Stochastic modelling techniques based on risk neutral scenarios for investment
returns on underlying items?*®. In this technique, the projected average investment

15 |AA Monograph: Stochastic Modeling Theory and Reality from an Actuarial Perspective (2010).
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3.28.

3.29.

returns on the financial underlying items are calibrated to be equal to the
deterministic risk-free discount rate (with adjustment for liquidity as appropriate).
In each scenario, the net present value is calculated. The value of the cash flows of
the insurance contract is equal to the average of the net present values of all
scenarios.

° Stochastic modelling techniques based on real world scenarios for investment
returns on underlying items. The financial underlying items are projected on a
stochastic real-world basis. The discounting is done with a stochastic real-world
deflator set, which is a set of interest rates that ensures the same valuation
outcome as using risk neutral scenarios. (See IAA Monograph on Stochastic
Modeling®.) Also, in this approach, the net present value is calculated for each
scenario. The value of the cash flows of the insurance contract is equal to the
average of the net present values of all scenarios.

. Replicating portfolio techniques (paragraphs B46 and se are discussed in

question 3.29.

. A closed form solution might also be used w, exigts depending on the

nature of non-linear dependence.

When do cash flows need to be disaggre

Paragraph B77 states that an entity is nQgredQired to divide estimated cash flows into
those that vary based on the retur A cirinderlying items and those that do not.
If it does not, it shall apply discount priate for the estimated cash flows as a
whole; for example, using stogffastic te¥@niques.

ws as a whole. One example might be a life

fixed death benefit plus the amount of an account
balance if the ingured p¥gson dies, and the account balance if the contract is cancelled. In
this case, dividi ows and applying different approaches might be practical for
cash flows that v ased on the returns on financial underlying items vs those that do
not.

insurance contract t

In some other cases, it might be easier using stochastic techniques than trying to divide
the cash flows. This could be the case when cash flows do vary with returns on financial
underlying items but are subject to a guarantee of a minimum return.

How can replicating portfolios be used?

Paragraph B46 states that “an important application of market variables is the notion of a
replicating asset or a replicating portfolio of assets. A replicating asset is one whose cash
flows exactly match, in all scenarios, the contractual cash flows of a group of insurance
contracts in amount, timing and uncertainty. [...] If a replicating portfolio [of assets] exists
for some of the cash flows that arise from a group of insurance contracts, the entity can
use the fair value of those assets to measure the relevant fulfilment cash flows instead of
explicitly estimating the cash flows and discount rate.”
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3.30.

It might not be possible to find a replicating asset that exactly matches the insurance
contract cash flows in all scenarios. Nonetheless, replicating assets may exist for some of
the cash flows that arise from insurance contracts. One may also strive to find a portfolio
of assets that will reproduce characteristics of some insurance contracts. As per
paragraph B48, judgment is required to determine the technique that best meets the
objective of consistency with observable market variables in specific circumstances. The
general process might start with the simplest method and progresses to the use of more
involved methods as necessary.

For example, such techniques might include the following assessments of insurance
contract cash flows while maintaining non-financial risk assumptions at expected values:

i Asset cash flow matching: Insurance contract cash flows are replicated in terms
of amount and timing with available asset cash flows. This method is similar to
building a reference portfolio.

possible, the key

Optimisation: Assets are then chosen to match,a

the nature and complexity of the asset or

liability under consideration and the pur e replicating strategy. For example, if
the asset or liability is relatively si be possible to identify a pure replicating
portfolio (e.g., capital guaran roduct and a vanilla European equity option).
However, for more complex fllssets oflialilities, such corresponding assets may not exist,

even theoretically. In thismgs inglzation techniques might be used to match the

Bptions). In other complex cases, optimization techniques
Acnce the need to make use of dynamic replication techniques.

djusted for illiquidity if cash flows do vary based on the return

of financial under/Qing items?

The response to questions 3.14 to 3.17 explain the assessment of contract liquidity and
the resulting application of liquidity premiums in discount rates.

Consistent with paragraph B74 (b), if the cash flows that vary based on the return of
financial underlying items are based on a projection of returns that include an illiquidity
premium, this illiquidity is logically also reflected in the discount rate. If the cash flows
that vary with the return on financial underlying items are projected without an illiquidity
premium, the discount rate is chosen accordingly.

Cash flows that accrue to the holder of an insurance contract may depend on a
combination of the return on financial underlying items, a guarantee on the return of the
financial underlying items and other insurance cash flows subject to non-financial risk. All
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3.31.

3.32.

3.33.

the following elements contribute, depending on their significance in the value of the cash
flows, to the overall illiquidity:

. the illiquidity premium from the financial asset underlying the contract that is
passed to the policyholder in so far it is included in the projection;

° the guarantee on the return of the financial underlying items; and
. other insurance cash flows subject to non-financial risk.

The requirement for consistency with observable market prices (paragraph B48) implies
that any liquidity premium adjustments made in the valuation of options and guarantees
would need to be followed by a consideration of the calibration of stochastic models to
ensure that market consistency is maintained.

As discussed in question 3.15, the risk adjustment reflects the uncertainty of non-financial
risk and is distinct from the other fulfilment cash flows whicj discounted using a
discount rate that is appropriately adjusted to reflect liquid Q@eristics.

How is the present value of future cash flows adju risk?

In a market consistent projection, either using ris [-world techniques with
deflators, market variables associated with fyture cgh f are calibrated to be
consistent with observable market prices ( i by paragraph B44). This ensures
that the cash flows are implicitly adjustegl foOMginanciarrisk in a matter consistent with the
pricing of financial instruments. This impli tment for financial risk is released over

s financial risk.

Under which circumstangg iscoufting required for a group of contracts subject to
) r remaining coverage?

If the entity uses the
discountingis o
coverage:

group of insurance contracts, as per paragraphs 53-59,
in special circumstances in the liability for remaining

. For a group J@contracts with a significant financing component where the PAA is
applied, unless, at initial recognition, the entity expects that the time between
providing each part of the coverage and the related premium due date is no more
than a year (paragraph 56); and

° For contracts that have become onerous (paragraph 57), unless time value of
money for the liability for incurred claims is not considered under paragraph 59.

When required, which discount rates are used for the liability for remaining coverage
for contracts that have a significant financing component within a group of contracts
where the PAA is applied?

For the liability for remaining coverage of contracts with a significant financing
component within a group of contracts where the PAA is applied, as per paragraph 56, the
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3.34.

3.35.

3.36.

3.37.

cash flows might be discounted. The discount rate is always the locked-in rate at inception
of the contract (paragraph B72(d)).

When required, which discount rates are used for onerous contracts where the PAA is
applied?

If the group of insurance contracts becomes onerous (as per paragraph 57 (b)), the
difference between the carrying amount of the liability using PAA (paragraph 55) and the
fulfilment cash flows that relate to remaining coverage of the group GMA (applying
paragraphs 33-37 and paragraphs 86e-92) should be calculated. The calculation of liability
values under the GMA is conducted at either the current rate or the locked-in rate at
inception of the contracts for the P&L if the OCI option is used (questions 3.36-3.41).

When required, which discount rates are used for the liability for incurred claims?

For incurred claims, discount rates are used unless cash flow
received in one year or less from the date the claims are i GMA is used

without a CSM, which is not applicable for the liability f; ims. The calculation
of liability values under the GMA is conducted at th Pr the balance sheet or
at the locked-in rate for the P&L if the OCI option §

expected to be paid or

What interest rate is accreted on

For contracts without direct p features, the interest rate accreted on the CSM
& e®Pat initial policy recognition for cash flows that
cial underlying items (paragraph B72(b)). It may

the locked-in cur rward rate would be the rate to accrete on the CSM.

If there are direct Ry ticipating features, the entity’s share of the profit is discounted using
current rates (paragraphs B74b).

What interest rate is used to measure the changes in the CSM?

For contracts without direct participating features in the contract, the interest rate used
to measure the changes in CSM is the same as the interest rate described in question
3.36. It is the interest rate accreted on the CSM is based on the discount rates determined
at initial policy recognition for cash flows that do not vary based on the return of financial
underlying items.

If the VFA is used, changes are measured using the current rate.
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3.38.

3.39.

3.40.

What is the locked-in yield curve when the OCI option is used for groups of insurance
contracts for which changes in assumptions that relate to financial risk do not have a
substantial effect on the amounts paid to policyholders?

For groups of insurance contracts for which changes in assumptions that relate to financial
risk do not have a substantial effect on the amounts paid to policyholders, and the OCI
option is used, the change in the present value of the cash flows presented in the P&L is
based on the locked-in curve. That means that the discount rates are determined on the
yield curve at the date of initial recognition of the group of contracts or the date of the
claims (paragraphs B72 (e)(iii)), applying paragraph 36 to cash flows that do not vary
based on the returns on any financial underlying items.

What is the locked-in rate for groups of insurance contracts for which changes in
assumptions that relate to financial risk have a substantial effect on the amounts paid
to policyholders?

These contracts typically have participating features, butfa he definition of

“direct participating” contracts. If the entity plans to g ance finance income
or expenses in OCl, discount rates are used that al Jining revised expected
finance income or expenses over the remaining d i group of contracts at a

constant rate'®. (Paragraphs 88(b) and B132

Can a single equivalent discount rate be u

a locked-in constant rate the
be used in the derivation. Po

in discount curve is to measure the changes to the CSM
ts without direct participation features. A change to the CSM
pattern/level of cash flows was altered. Since the locked-in
constant rat\at inception would be derived based on the pattern of cash flows at
inception apcation of this rate to an altered pattern of cash flows may be
inappropriate. To gauge the materiality a comparison of the originally derived
locked-in rate and the revised locked in constant rate based on the new pattern of
cash flows would be required.

. Another purpose of the locked-in discount curve is to accrete interest on the CSM.
Given this different purpose, the use of the locked in constant rate based on the
pattern of liability cash flows may be inappropriate for interest accretion. Rather a
locked-in discount rate based on equating the expected CSM interest accretion may
be more relevant. Further challenges similar to the above may be encountered

16 See also example 15 of the illustrative examples.
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when the pattern/level of liability cash flows changes, changing the CSM and
potentially the equivalent locked-in discount rate.

3.41. How is the average locked-in curve determined for a group of contracts?

The discount rate for the calculation of the CSM at issue for contracts in a group could be
determined in, amongst others, any of the following ways.

a. Calculating the CSM at issue for each contract within the group using the discount
curve at each contract’s respective issue date —i.e., a single curve would not be
used. This, however, might be an impractical implementation option.

b.  Calculating the CSM at issue for the group of contracts as at the date of initial
recognition using the discount curve as at the date of initial recognition. This is
thought to be consistent with IFRS17 because the standard refers to the date of
initial recognition for the group and not the date of initigimggognition of individual
contracts. See paragraph 25 for the definition of the ial recognition of a
group.

C. Calculating the CSM at issue for the group as itial recognition using
a weighted average discount curve (paragra ply this approach suitable
weights would need to be defined as they ar ified in the guidance. One
potential option for weighting mightge e measure of coverage units. Note
that as per paragraph 22 the dateQgf gial rec8gnition should not include more
than one year.

The methodology for calculatin ed-in*curve across one or more reporting periods
would be driven by the optioffchosen aMgve. As per paragraph B73 a weighted average
discount curve might be creafgd with]} potential option that might exist for weighting

being the measure of g
. If options a. or e chosen then the locked-in curve would be a weighted
average c of tMaspecific curves used (i.e., the curves to be weighted would be

dates).

° If option b al@ve was chosen, then the locked-in curve would be a weighted
average curve of the curves at the date of initial recognition. That is, there would
only be a single curve based on a single day from each reporting period which
would then be weighted using the selected measure.

When calculating weighted average discount curves, one approach might be to average
discount factors.
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Chapter 4 - Risk Adjustments for Non-Financial Risks

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

4.A. What does this chapter address?

4.B.

4.C.

4.1.

This chapter considers the criteria and measurement of the risk adjustment for non-
financial risk required as part of the general measurement approach under IFRS 17
including the purpose and general requirements of the risk adjustment, what risks would
typically be covered and specific considerations in determining the risk adjustment. This
note discusses how to reflect risk mitigation such as diversification and risk sharing,
catastrophic and other infrequent events, qualitative risks considerations, use of different
approaches by line of business, and general considerations in selecting and calibrating a
risk adjustment approach. For detailed risk adjustment methggimgod how to apply them,
reference is made to the IAA Monograph on Risk Adjustmg apter also covers
high level disclosure requirements including confidenc gre, and issues
around allocation of risk adjustments to a lower lev

In this chapter, the term “risk adjustment” refers
risk”, as defined in IFRS 17. In other contextsgrisk afust
margins.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this
Paragraphs 37, 81, 101, 117-119 a

justment for non-financial
ts may be referred to as risk

rovide guidance on this topic.

an educational /AA
main intention

to document an common approaches that have been developed so far, and to
explore ways in wRkch IFRS 17’s entity-specific approach may be incorporated into them.

What is a risk adjustment?

Under IFRS 17, insurance contract liabilities are principally measured as defined in
paragraph 32:

“On initial recognition, an entity shall measure a group of insurance contracts at the
total of:

(a) the fulfilment cash flows, which comprise:
(i) estimates of future cash flows (paragraph 33—-35);

(ii) an adjustment to reflect the time value of money and the financial risks
related to the future cash flows, to the extent that the financial risks are
not included in the estimates of the future cash flows (paragraph 36); and
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(iii) a risk adjustment for non-financial risk (paragraph 37).
(b) the contractual service margin, measured applying paragraph 38—39.”
The “risk adjustment for non-financial risk” is a defined term in IFRS 17.

Appendix A states “the compensation an entity requires for bearing the uncertainty
about the amount and timing of the cash flows that arises from non-financial risk as the
entity fulfils insurance contracts”. A similar definition is also included in paragraph 37.

This chapter primarily discusses the risk adjustment for non-financial risk of insurance
contracts accepted by the entity. The risk adjustment for ceded reinsurance (referred to
as reinsurance held in IFRS 17) is governed by paragraph 64. The application of risk
adjustments for ceded reinsurance is discussed in chapter 9 — Reinsurance of this IAN.

4.2. What is the purpose of the risk adjustment in IFRS 17?
Paragraph B87 states:

asures the
ifferent between:

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk for insuran
compensation that the entity would require to ma.

(a) fulfilling a liability that has a range of po.
financial risk; and

(b) fulfilling a liability that will gengra
present value as the insurance

ixe flows with the same expected

As such, it measures the value of a
places on the uncertainty an

v, re@pted to unexpected costs, that the entity
see question 6.6) inherent in insurance cash
flows. As IFRS 17 provides o iples regarding how this should be done, it will be
important to those whogimy rely on such values that the quantification of such
a liability value be by ethodologies and/or approaches that are robust and are a
fair reflection of this

As most users o '
important that t ity values, and changes in such values, are based on an
adequate understding of the basis on which the risk adjustment is determined and of
any changes in that basis. This understanding will underlie the entity’s ability to provide
appropriate disclosures as required by IFRS 17. The entity’s understanding will enhance its
communications, enable consistency to be recognised and allow relevant comparisons to
be made, as appropriate.

An important aspect of the communications among those responsible for determining an
entity’s risk adjustment is the explanation and insight regarding how the entity’s views
with respect to the compensation it requires for bearing risk and uncertainty has been
incorporated in the determination of the risk adjustment. Such communications will be
expected to reflect a thorough understanding of the entity’s views with regards to risk
aversion, risk diversification and the uncertainty surrounding the values being estimated.
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4.3. What are the IFRS 17 requirements for risk adjustment?

IFRS 17 does not provide guidance on appropriate techniques and methods to set the risk
adjustment. In paragraph 37, it simply requires that:

“An entity shall adjust the estimate of the present value of the future cash flows to reflect
the compensation that the entity requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount
and timing of the cash flows that arises from non-financial risk.”

The application guidance states, in paragraph B91, that a risk adjustment should possess
the following five characteristics:

(@)  “risks with low frequency and high severity will result in higher risk adjustments for
non-financial risk than risks with high frequency and low severity;

(b)  for similar risks, contracts with a longer duration will result in higher risk
adjustments for non-financial risk than contracts with gBNOWer duration;

(c)  risks with a wider probability distribution will res
non-financial risk than risks with a narrower di

(d) the less that is known about the current est
the risk adjustment for non-financial risk; an

(e) tothe extent that emerging experie
timing of cash flows, risk adjustm on-financial risk will decrease and vice
versa.”

It should be noted that the ris } nt relates only to non-financial risks inherent in

or the discount rate USgffo aditrst the cash flows. The risks covered by the risk adjustment
for non-financio@¥ surance risk and other non-financial risks such as lapse risk and
expense risk (se

Risks reflected thr&qgh the use of market consistent inputs are excluded. 8ther Non-
financial risks that may not arise directly from the insurance contracts, such as asset-
liability mismatch or general operational risks, should not be reflected in the risk
adjustment for non-financial risks. (See question 4.7 for a fuller discussion of which non-
financial risks are considered.)

This general guidance means that there is no single right way for an entity to set the risk
adjustment. In general, there are other important considerations that will be relevant to
how an entity determines its approach to estimating the risk adjustment:

° consistency with how the insurer assesses risk from a fulfilment perspective;

° practicality of implementation and ongoing re-measurement; and
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4.4.

4.5.

. translation of risk adjustment for disclosure of an equivalent confidence level
measure.

Therefore, a variety of methods are potentially available, although their ultimate usage
depends on the extent to which they meet the criteria above, given the specific
circumstances of the company. Potential methods include, but are not limited to, quantile
techniques such as confidence level or CTE, cost of capital techniques, or even potentially
simple techniques such as directly adding margins to assumptions or scenario modelling.

There are also disclosure requirements related to the risk adjustment (see question 4.15)
and chapter 15.

What is the role of actuarial input on risk adjustment?

In actuarial terms the risk adjustment is intended to reflect the value of the uncertainty
inherent in the insurance cash flows under the contract. It is ted that actuarial
input, both quantitative and qualitative, will be needed.

This actuarial input falls into four parts and can:

. assist in understanding and assessing the ri
toward risk see questions 6.9 and 6.10), as it
variability of insurance cash flows, an
entity considers “the degree of diver.

n ofgthe entity (its attitude
la e uncertainty and
tanding the extent to which the
efit the entity includes when

° provide quantitative measur
insurance contracts bei d the uncertainty which underlies such
quantitative measures.

p 0 assess a value in terms of the compensation for
he entity’s risk aversion, in the context of the relevant

° provide expWhations and insights to help in communicating the understandings and
Ived, such that the entity’s board and management can have the
appropriate level of direction and oversight regarding how the risk adjustment is
determined.

What is the role of judgment in estimating the risk adjustment?

Judgment may be needed for a variety of reasons including, but not limited to:

. in the selection of the approach to estimate the risk adjustment,
° in the assessment of the entity’s risk aversion,
° in the estimation and assessment of variability and uncertainty, depending on the

data available,
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4.6.

. in the assessment of diversification, depending on the complexity of the business
written, and

° in the assessment of how risk aversion interacts with variability and uncertainty in
the determination of the risk adjustment.

In general, it will be important that the entity’s board and management properly
understand the process and the judgments used to determine the entity’s risk adjustment
and how their oversight and management roles and responsibilities are being satisfied.

What does “risk” mean in this chapter?
The word “risk” can have a variety of meanings, in the context of insurance.

° It can mean the two-sided risk that an outcome be greater or less than the
estimated expected value of that outcome, as a result of variability and uncertainty.
This is the meaning intended in this chapter. To emp ks, this chapter
sometimes refers to “risk (variability and uncertaint

° It can mean the one-sided risk that an outco ill than its expected
value.

° It can refer to the subject of the insuragce.

o It can refer to the insured events.

In this chapter variability refers to the sta@tic riation inherent in the insurance
process. This is amenable to statist of experience data. Given enough data, it
can be quantified in terms of and higher moments of a suitable probability
distribution.

e to depict a concept of risk that is broader than
gmmon aspects of uncertainty can include:

The concept of uncertg
statistical variability

timates of expected value, variance and higher moments of a
I0n. This uncertainty can be quantified as part of the statistical

° Uncertai

analysis.

° Uncertainty irfthe choice of probability distribution. Complex insurance processes
seldom conform exactly to standard probability distributions. It may only be
possible to partially quantify this uncertainty by considering alternate distributions.

° Uncertainty in the experience data will arise when the data contain more or fewer
extreme events than normal. The selection of a suitable probability distribution may
assist in quantifying this uncertainty.

. Uncertainty also arises because future circumstances can vary from the past.
Environmental changes, technological changes and societal changes are all reasons
why distributions based on past experience may need to be interpreted cautiously
as guides to the future. Appropriate adjustments from past to future experience are
a matter of judgment and introduce uncertainty into both the projected expected
value and its variability.
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4.7.

How to appropriately reflect these sources of variability and uncertainty in the risk
adjustment depends on the extent of the data and on the materiality of the potential
impact on the result from the viewpoint of the reporting entity. In some cases, it may be
appropriate to analyse the details extensively. Alternatively, it may be appropriate to
undertake more limited analysis and to reflect other aspects of uncertainty based partly
or wholly on judgment. Where data are limited, it may be necessary to rely very heavily
on judgment. In assessing the extent of analysis which may be appropriate, judgment is
needed as to the balance between the effort involved in undertaking deeper analysis
versus whether the deeper analysis will result in a change in the estimates used to reflect
risk and uncertainty that is both material and statistically meaningful.

What risks should be considered?

As discussed in question 4.3, paragraph B86 requires risk to be split between financial and
non-financial risk and considered separately.

Paragraph B89 states that:

“The purpose of the risk adjustment for non-financigllsk igto ure the effect of
uncertainty in the cash flows that arise from insur traggs, other than uncertainty
arising from financial risk. Consequently, the rlsk a®ust or non-financial risk shall
reflect all non-financial risks associated wit, nce contracts. It shall not reflect
the risks that do not arise from the insurgn , such as general operational risk.”

as:

a specified interest rate, financial
y exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit

djustment for non-financial risk would include the

uncertainty cre following risks to estimates of the future cash flows. NB this

list may not be
° Claim occurrfnce, amount, timing and development;

. Lapse, surrender, premium persistency and other policyholder actions;
. Expense risk associated with costs of servicing the contract;

. External developments and trends, to the extent that they affect insurance cash
flows.

. Claim and expense inflation risk, excluding direct inflation index linked risk, since
this is considered a financial risk.

For the risk adjustment associated with reinsurance held — see chapter 9.

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk would not include the uncertainty created by
the following:
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4.8.

4.9.

. Operational risk (i.e., risk not driven by the future cash flow items above). Examples
include legislative risk, reputational risk, business interruption/the risk of cyber
attack etc.;

° Asset-liability mismatch risk;
. Price or credit risk on underlying assets.

In some instances, there may be interactions between financial variables and non-
financial variables that impact expected cash flows, making the distinction between
financial risk and non-financial risk less clear. For instance, policyholder behaviour may be
influenced by investment performance where there are linkages between investment
returns and credited rates/contractual values. In this instance, the expected cash flows
reflect this influence. The risk of policyholder behaviour being different than what is
reflected in estimates of the expected cash flows would be coggidered non-financial risk.
g rate differences
where crediting rates are discretionary. The risk of this di i kpread compression
ture cash flows

would again be considered a non-financial risk.

What is risk aversion?

Risk aversion is an entity’s reluctance to asfgep riability and uncertainty),
particularly as respects unfavourable o . To overcome this aversion, entities
typically expect compensation for Qearin greater the risk aversion, the greater
the expected compensation require i an be taken as a general truth that the

i as risk aversion increases, the relationship is
not necessarily linear. For in marginal compensation that an entity may require
to accept marginal addjjg ly to increase the closer the marginal additional

risk brings an entity I maximum levels of risk tolerance (i.e., risk aversion generally

How can the ac e® and express an entity’s risk aversion?

The entity’s board usually responsible for its risk policy, including its policy on risk
aversion. In some c¥ses, the actuary may be able to draw on an explicit risk policy, such as
that adopted by the entity’s Board, which would typically be developed in consultation
with the entity’s Chief Risk Officer and/or enterprise risk committee.

In other cases, discussions with the entity’s board and management may be appropriate.
Topics for discussion that the actuary may find useful include:

° comparison with similar entities in the market;
° discussion of stress scenarios, both short and long term;
. the entity’s underwriting and pricing policy and practices;

. the entity’s approach to self-assessment of solvency risk with respect to capital
needs and capital management; and
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° the entity’s reinsurance policy and practices.

4.10. What allowance should be made for risk diversification and what level of aggregation
should be used?

The risk adjustment reflects in paragraph B88(a), inter alia, “the degree of diversification
benefit the entity includes when determining the compensation it requires for bearing that
risk”. Note the degree and structure of risk diversification are to be included within the
entity’s assessment of compensation.

Paragraph B88(a) uses the term diversification, suggesting a bottom-up approach to
determining the required compensation, but does not preclude a top-down approach. If
an entity uses a top-down approach, the entity can determine the total compensation
that it requires for bearing non-financial risk and then allocate or apportion it. For
example, the entity may allocate its risk compensation to whatever level of subdivision is

diversification is reflected.

This aggregation encompasses all of the insurance
include in setting its compensation for bearifgisk.
aggregate all of the insurance contractsgh

A practical issue arises when evalugting tii justment for the insurance written on a
eded. In principle, the compensation

irst consider the net risk for the entity, with due
consideration given to the erflity’s us@of Teinsurance held as a financial resource
available to the entity.

adjustment associate R urance held, it is necessary to reflect the differences in
0 a gross basis, but maintain the entity’s views regarding

) e objective is to “represent the amount of risk being

do/der of the group of reinsurance contracts to the issuer of those

2d by paragraph 64.

required compe
transferred by th
contracts” as requi

In some cases, the gross risk measurement might be approximately proportional to the
net risk measurement and therefore the gross risk adjustment can be estimated by using
a simple scaling factor applied to the net risk adjustment. In other cases, there may be
guantitative and qualitative aspects of the risk and uncertainty such that the reinsurance
held provides a very effective means of risk mitigation. For example, the value to the
entity from the risk mitigation provided by its reinsurance held may be significantly
greater than a simple scaling factor proportional to a selected risk measure. In such cases,
it may be appropriate to consider other benchmarks or risk measures that are consistent
with the entity’s risk aversion (reflecting that its risk is mitigated via reinsurance) and also
to consider the entity’s estimate of its costs to retain, or replace, the reinsurance held.
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4.11.

4.12.

If a bottom-up approach to risk adjustment is adopted, the total net required
compensation for variability and uncertainty is an important check on the result of this
process.

The risk adjustment may reflect the impact of diversification of non-financial risk across
all of the insurance contracts that the entity selects. This may be the aggregation of all
contracts to take account of all possible diversification benefits, or it may be at a lower
level for sub-groups comprised of specific contracts or cohorts of business. The key
consideration in making this choice is how the entity considers diversification in
establishing the compensation it requires.

Where the entity consists of both a parent and subsidiaries, different perspectives have
been put forward on how to reflect diversification in reporting at the group versus
subsidiary level. One perspective is that the risk adjustment is set to be consistent across
the group —that is, the risk adjustment at the subsidiary leve d be the same as, and

management to make its entity level decisions.
is a policy decision for the respective entities.

of the uncertainty and variability in
insurance cash flows, incorporatin foF all possible outcomes in proportion to
their respective probabilities. Tiiag es infrequent and atypical events in the tail of
the distribution of outcomes ail events or combinations of events are not
represented in the experienc jlgment may be needed as to how great an
allowance is needed. se re such events are present, judgment may be
needed as to wheth er-represented.

ay ossible to fit a probability distribution that makes due

ased on observed experience, but the suitability of the chosen
outcomes separateW from other events.

What allowance should be made for risk sharing mechanisms?

Risk sharing mechanisms may include:

° participation;

° investment linkage;

° deductibles and excesses;

° profit sharing;

° retrospective experience rating; and

° prospective experience rating schemes, such as no-claim discounts.
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4.13.

No allowance is likely to be made for prospective experience rating outside the contract
boundary, as this does not relate to current contracts and is better regarded as part of the
underwriting process for subsequent contracts.

Risk sharing arrangements can affect the contractual insurance cash flows between the
insurer and the policyholder. Such cash flows may be contingent on insurance claims or
other factors which may lessen the risk and variability of the entirety of the insurance
cash flows. The risk adjustment will reflect all of these contract cash flows, with due
consideration to the contingencies involved.

What is the compensation that the entity requires for bearing risk?

The compensation that the entity requires for bearing risk is a matter of judgment, which
is ultimately exercised by the management of the entity and governed by the Board of the
entity. In many cases, this will be informed by risk management expertise but, ultimately,
the judgment is a Board responsibility, based on managemg QY ossibly actuarial)
advice.

Such judgments about compensation and risk are p
relation to the profit margin priced into their insu
profit margins are expressed can be observed in a

. an overall required profit margin on
° a target rate of return or margin oW riSR{ree on total assets, capital or equity;

. different profit margins on di cl s of business; depending on perceived
risk;

° a target probability whigh may @ used for solvency assessment that losses will not
exceed a given p a t assets; and

and margin over risk-free return required to support
a basis such as a target probability that those assets will prove
f return commensurate with that risk.

° an analysis of t
the total i
adequate

It is not, however,Qecessarily appropriate simply to apply the profit margin basis to
estimate the risk adJustment. While a profit margin would seem to be a reasonable
benchmark, in many cases there are considerations that go into selecting a profit margin
that would not be consistent with the IFRS 17 measurement objectives for risk
adjustments. For example, operational and asset-liability matching and investment risks
that are not directly related to cash flows to the policyholder might be included in the
profit margin but would not be considered in the risk adjustment. In addition, the
criterion for risk adjustments is expressed as an amount which would make the entity
indifferent between “risky” cash flows and fixed cash flows. Profit margins frequently
reflect different objectives, such as desired market share and market competitiveness,
policyholder dividend considerations, and pricing sensitivities, which may not be relevant
considerations for the risk adjustment.
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4.14. How should qualitative risk characteristics be reflected

Paragraph B89 requires that “.. the risk adjustment shall reflect all non-financial risks
associated with the insurance contract ...” and paragraph B91(d) that “the less that is
known about the current estimate and its trend, the higher will be the risk adjustment ...”.
These provisions require that allowance for qualitative risk characteristics is to be
incorporated into the risk adjustment. By their nature, incorporating such factors into the
assessment of the overall level of risk requires judgment.

A first step is to assign a value to the level of risk and to assess the degree of correlation
with measurable risks. In simple cases, it may be appropriate to assume that the risks are
independent of one another, and can be approximated by combining the standard
deviations as the square root of the sum of the squares. There are concerns that the
analyses of the risk involved will provide an adequate basis for more sophisticated
adjustments. However, if the qualitative risks are well enougj erstood, it may be

remote events, but unanticipated circumsta
anywhere.

t qualitative considerations. However,
00se one or more techniques that

ation and the results from the models available,
ent, and the extent of the uncertainty. It is
ropriately captures the potential compensation for
e technique, such as adding a margin based on the
estimated standard : gpy not fully allow for the risk of very low frequency but

There is no single appropriate approach
IFRS 17 provides direction for eac i
appropriately reflect the data,
including the risk strategy of
important that the technigu

suitable extrem
distribution may

bre included. Modelling using a suitably skewed probability
nother approach.)

Both simple and complex techniques may be appropriate, depending on the nature of the
uncertainty, the materiality of the uncertainty, and the structure of the underlying
modelling available. For example, where uncertainty is material, and is characterised by a
very low frequency and high severity risk profile and probability models are available,
such a risk could be captured by introducing a state or regime switch into the model.

Since, by their nature, qualitative risks cannot be measured directly, the quantification
effect is based largely on judgment. Where the impact of qualitative risks could be
material, and since the responsibility for the risk adjustment lies with the entity, it may be
desirable for the actuary to discuss these risks with the entity.

Qualitative risks are seldom symmetrical. Because of this, it may be appropriate to make
an adjustment, based on judgment, to the risk adjustment solely on the basis of
knowledge of the risks involved and any observed experience that could be relevant.
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4.15. What disclosures and explanations are required?

4.16.

Paragraph 93 states that “The objective of the disclosure requirements is for an entity to
disclose information in the notes that, together with the information provided in the
statement of financial position, statement(s) of financial performance and statement of
cash flows, gives a basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect that
contracts within the scope of IFRS 17 have on the entity’s financial position, financial
performance and cash flows. ...”.

The disclosures required are set out in paragraphs 93-96. Paragraphs 97-132 set out the
required “explanation of recognised amounts”.

For the most part, these disclosures relate to amounts that are inclusive of risk
adjustments and are discussed in other chapters. The specific requirements in respect of
risk adjustments are:

° “For insurance contracts other than those to which tg 0 allocation approach

. “An entity shall disclose the significantgudge d changes in judgements ...
inancial risk ...” [Paragraph 117]

. “An entity shall disclose the confi | used to determine the risk adjustment
for non-financial risk. If the e teChnique other than the confidence level
technique for determinin adjustment for non-financial risk, it shall disclose

recognized amounts
financial risk is

9 and 102 — 105. Of these, risk adjustment for non-
in each of paragraphs 100 and 104.

What explanatio sclosures might be included in the actuary’s communications?

While there is no s®ted requirement in IFRS 17 that the risk adjustment will be
determined by an actuary, the work products and input of actuaries are very likely to be
relied upon to develop, review and maintain the risk adjustment values. An important
objective of the actuary’s communications is to assist the entity in developing its IFRS 17
disclosures and to enable the Board and management to better understand the way in
which the actuary has undertaken his or her work. Key elements of these
communications, relative to risk adjustments, may include a discussion on:

° the background to the disclosures required;
° how the compensation the entity requires for bearing risk has been quantified;

° how the entity’s risk aversion has been assessed and incorporated in considering
the entity’s required compensation for bearing risk;
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4.17.

4.18.

° how risk has been identified, quantified and translated into a risk adjustment;

° how qualitative and unknown risks have been allowed for, including their relative
importance, within the risk adjustment;

. the impact of reinsurance and other risk transfer or mitigation considerations;
° any uncertainty in relation to recoverability of reinsured amounts;

° how risk diversification has been considered, within and across product lines,
geographic divisions, across entities within a group, etc.; and

° the insurer’s net risk profile and how this is appropriately reflected in the difference
between the gross and reinsurance risk adjustments.

What are appropriate methods to allocate risk adjustments calculated at a more
aggregated level to a more granular level?

IFRS 17 does not require the risk adjustment to be directl d at any specific
level of granularity; however, to obtain appropriate f ; g@ows for each group

of contracts the risk adjustment needs to be alloc e group of contracts
level for various purposes (e.g., CSM, liability for

If the risk adjustment is initially calculated a ggregated level, any reasonable
method that will lead to the same total ris , were the risk adjustment directly
determined at the lower level of aggreg ™ ppropriate to more finely allocate the
risk adjustment. Such methods ref ers of the risk adjustment calculation.

For example, if the risk adjust cts components separately determined for

insurance risk, policyholder ior g nd expense risk, the allocation methodology
would use risk drivers that a i
lower levels of aggreg

Consideration could
aggregation (a
at a more granu

to running more complex models at a higher level of
ss frequently) and then simplified into factor matrices to use
e valuation.

te ways to estimate confidence levels for disclosure when not
directly available from the risk adjustment calculations?

In order to determine confidence levels, it is necessary to be able to locate the value of
the fulfillment cash flow of a collection of insurance contracts on the probability
distribution of the present value of the cashflows for the contracts. If that probability
distribution is not explicitly derived as part of the valuation process, some method or
model might be needed to estimate the percentiles of that combined portfolio
distribution at the amount that reflects the risk adjustment. The extent of the analysis
needed for such estimation is likely to require judgment.

For large collections of insurance contracts, there may be sufficient evidence about the
tail of the probability distribution.
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4.19.

4.20.

In other cases, the form of the probability distribution might be selected based on
judgment and the parameters for that probability distribution might be selected by
judgment based on what is considered appropriate for the purpose of this disclosure.

NB the sensitivity of the resulting confidence level to the chosen probability distribution
increases as the confidence level increases.

The relevant part of the probability distribution may be defined in terms or two of more
guantiles that straddle the fulfillment cash flow based on evidence and judgments which
would explain the values chosen for those quantiles.

What other considerations are relevant when estimating and communicating
confidence levels?

Different actuaries providing advice on confidence levels for similar reserves for similar
risks may reach very different conclusions depending on the tions and
methodology followed and on the judgment applied.

External users are likely to place significant importan ence level disclosure
and compare entities to their peers. As a result, thi re the actuary can help
management understand and communicate the i enges related to this

| de
n

Estimating the confidence level disclosure
probability distribution is understood.
can be estimated, the relative unc
order of the moment estimate
interpreting the confidence | i with a false sense of precision in such
estimates. This risk can be mi

moments of the probability distribution
te®to such estimates increases with the

ce level using a particular technical method there are
lated to how well the method reflects the full range of

her the method used is stable over time, is fairly representative of
and can be replicated.

outcomes, and w
ongoing condition

As the degree of uncertainty (in the confidence level estimate) increases, the need for
judgment increases and, with it, the need to better understand and communicate, to the
entity, both the uncertainty and the way in which judgment has been exercised.

Should confidence level disclosure be done gross or net of reinsurance?

IFRS 17 does not specify whether the disclosure of a confidence level is intended to be on
a gross or net-of-reinsurance basis. The entity’s reported risk adjustment is required on a
gross level as a liability. If the entity has reinsurance held, the entity also separately
reports the risk adjustment associated with reinsurance held. The entity’s net risk
adjustment is not reported as a separate item. However, the estimation of separate
confidence levels for disclosure that correspond to the gross risk adjustment (liability) and
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4.21.

4.22.

the reinsurance held risk adjustment (asset) may present significant technical issues and
may not provide the relevant information intended.

The level of disclosure is likely to be determined by market practice.
What is the appropriate granularity for disclosure of confidence levels?

Paragraph 119 requires disclosure of the confidence level associated with the risk
adjustment. The standard only requires one confidence level disclosure for the reporting
entity, however, it is not prohibited to provide additional disclosure at a more granular
level.

The overall disclosure policy of the reporting entity is relevant to determining the
approach to confidence level disclosure.

To what extent is it appropriate to use analyses and measurements made for other
purposes, such as pricing, embedded value, regulatory repgfir capital modelling?

IFRS 17 does not mandate particular technique(s) to de ~ djustments, nor does

it specifically limit the techniques that may be used, i gnples of appropriate
techniques.

The primary requirement in the application guidan The risk adjustment for non-
financial risk for insurance contracts meas, pensation that the entity would

require to make the entity indifferent

(@) fulfilling a liability that has a ignge ssWle outcomes arising from non-financial
risk; and

(b) fulfilling a liability that #ill gen
present value as thein

ixed cash flows with the same expected
ance g@ntracts.” (B87)

While it may often bgfl ble t0 make use of analyses conducted for other purposes,
analyses may not be transferrable. Such conclusions
and purpose for which they are required. Risk adjustments are

best estimates) thf are required to represent unbiased mean values. This is not
necessarily true of Measurements set in other contexts. The underlying rationales of
market, entry and exit values and of pricing are clearly different. This means that pricing
and exit value assessments of the liability may not be appropriate ways to calibrate risk
adjustments.

Internal capital models that are developed within regulatory frameworks (and/or for
pricing purposes) may provide a good reference for how the entity views and assesses
risk. Therefore, the techniques used to measure risk and develop risk adjustments for
IFRS 17 can be compared against the techniques and measurements used under such
other frameworks as a means to assess for reasonableness, and to potentially leverage
the underlying analyses for both purposes. However, the resulting risk adjustments would
be determined based solely on the IFRS 17 criteria.
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4.23.

4.24,

4.25.

Regulatory solvency capital adequacy models that align well with how an entity views and
assesses risk may, similarly, be potentially leveraged in the development of appropriate
IFRS 17 technigues to measure and assess risk. However, IFRS principles for the valuation
of insurance contract liabilities are not based on the solvency requirements of an insurer,
so they can only be leveraged to the extent they generally reflect how the entity views
and assesses risk. Having said this, regulatory capital adequacy requirements do place
constraints on the entity, and are likely to influence its views.

A further complication is that both internal and regulatory capital requirements are there
to cover all of the risks faced by the entity, while the risk adjustment in the fulfilment cash
flows excludes risks outside the insurance contract (such as operational, asset and asset-
liability mismatch risks) and risks reflected through the use of market consistent inputs
(see question 6.7). Even where regulatory minimum capital is built up in an additive
structure, it does not necessarily follow that the insurance coa@onents of such a
structure fully represent the insurance risks, since the und ationships are
unlikely to be fully additive.

To what extent can different approaches be used et iné
within the same valuation?

e risk adjustment

There is no requirement to use a single modglor aproac®ror all the business or all the
risks. An entity may use a mix or blend of th et risk adjustments across different
businesses provided such an approach Rgke propriate allowance for diversification
and is done in a way that can be regsona iscsed and explained to external auditors
st hurdle to a mixed model approach).

What time horizon is asuring the risk adjustment?

The “compensa entity requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount
and timing of the s that arises from non-financial risk” is generally understood to
mean the compenRQtion required for bearing the non-financial risks associated with all
cash flows within the contract boundary for the duration of the contract boundary.

Where the measurement of the risk adjustment utilises a separate capital measure,
what time horizon is used for the capital measure?

The time horizon used for a capital measure may be different than the time horizon used
in measuring the risk adjustment, without causing inconsistencies. For example, a capital
measure may use a short time horizon (e.g., 1-year, with terminal provision). The
measurement of risk adjustment may use, as input, a series of capital measures that each
use a 1-year time horizon. For example, in the traditional “cost of capital” approach, the
capital measure may be based on a short time horizon (using a 1-year horizon) for capital
at a given point in time, then such capital measures would be projected for future time

I”
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points over the contract boundary, and then each future point estimate would be
multiplied by a cost of capital rate, and then discounted back to the measurement date.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
v
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Chapter 5 — Level of Aggregation

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

5.A.

5.B.

5.C.

5.1.

5.2.

What does this chapter address?

This chapter considers the level of aggregation/unit of account that needs to be
considered when valuing insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 17.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?
Paragraphs 14-24 provide guidance on this topic.
BC115-139 also provide background on the subject.
What other IAA documents are relevant to this topic?

None

What is the purpose of aggregation?

est t contracts with discretionary
ly to be impractical, however, for
a contract unit level. Consequently, all

IFRS 17 deals purely with insurance contracts and i
participating features (DPF). In most instagge S
an entity to measure all insurance cont
insurance contracts in the scope of IFRS re regated into portfolios and groups
within portfolios on initial recognit eassessed subsequently (paragraph 24). In
doing so, the IASB intends to lj curing of information that would occur by
offsetting onerous contracts fh one ggguPwith profitable contracts in another (paragraph
BC119).

What are the levels

In determining aggregation, an entity identifies portfolios of insurance
contracts. Each aioUivided into groups, which distinguish onerousness, and the
entity aggregates\ividual contracts into these groupings. An entity cannot include
contracts issued m@e than one year apart into the same group (paragraphs 16, 17 and
22). A summary of the levels of aggregation is presented in figure 5.1 below.
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Figure 5.1: Level of Aggregation

Individual insurance contracts

Are contracts managed together?

IFRS 17.14
Are contracts subject to similar risks?

Portfolio 1 Portfolio 2 Portfolio 3 Portfolio 4

If contracts fall into a group due to constraints on profitability imposed by law or regulation, the

contracts may be grouped together IFRS 17.20

Are contracts subject to the premium allocation approach or general
measurement/variable fee approach (GMA/VFA)?

GMA (FA

Can assume not ORErous IFRS 17.18 ‘ Measure to determine if IFRS 17.16

< onerous

Assess likelihood of Facts and circur stant. Assess likelihood of
future changes in facts indicate that the c. *racts changes in assumptions WA FALIL))
and circumstances are nnerous” resulting in onerous

Group 1- Not Group 2 —Not ‘ Group 1 - Not Group 2 — Not
onerous, onerous G up3- onerous, onerous, no Group 3 -
possibility of sign”’ cant . Jnerous possibility of significant Onerous
onerous pu “ibility

onerous possibility

el e—

~ ws sh. ld comprise contracts incepting no longer than 12 months apart. IFR§ 17.22

Group 2 Group n-1

5.3. At what level of aggregation are fulfilment cash flows required to be estimated?

When measuring groups of insurance contracts, an entity may estimate the expected
present value of future cashflows, discount rates and the risk adjustment for non-financial
risk at a higher (or lower) level of aggregation than the group or portfolio, provided the
entity is able to include the appropriate fulfiiment cash flows in the measurement of the
group by allocating such estimates to groups of contracts (paragraph 24). This is depicted
in figure 5.2 below.
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Figure 5.2: Allocation of Fulfilment Cash Flows

Estimate fulfilment cash flows at whatever level is most appropriate

Allocate

Group ‘ ‘ Group ‘ ‘ Group ‘ Group Group Group

5.4.

Identification of Portfolios

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

Why is the level of aggregation important?

The level of aggregation determines the recognition and measurement requirements of

IFRS 17 (paragraph 24). Groups will need to be tracked and measured throughout the
lifetime of the contracts.

What is a portfolio of insurance contracts?

A portfolio of insurance contracts is definé®Qin p h 14 as “A portfolio comprises
contracts subject to similar risks and m gether”. Each portfolio forms a partition
of the total insurance business of tity. Accordingly, each contract is at
inception allocated to one portfglio, ay, Mider certain circumstances, be apportioned

across multiple portfolios if t vers different types of risks and these risks are
unbundled.

What does subject t ean?

No clear definition of s is given in the standard. Paragraph 14 states that
contracts withi ducjne would be expected to have similar risks, and consequently
could be conside ortfolio if they are managed together.

What does mana together mean?

Again, there is no clear definition in the standard for this term. Hence judgment is
required on what constitutes managed together.

From a practical perspective, the considerations relating to subject to similar risks noted
above will require a level of granularity in assignment of portfolios that, in many cases,
could result in portfolios that are naturally managed together.

It is expected that the determination of the portfolio level will vary between entities, due
to different sizes and complexity of entities, as well as the different ways in which
business is managed. A practical approach to determining the portfolios for an entity
might rely on the internal management reporting systems.
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5.8.

An entity might change how it manages its business over time and, as a result, the
number of portfolios might change over time. This is an anticipated response under the
standard, although it does not necessarily affect the number of groups as historical
groups do not change and groups are a sub-set of the portfolios.

Can multi-peril (or multi-benefit) products be aggregated in the same portfolio?

Peril aggregation is a common feature of general insurance products. Benefit combination
is also a common feature of life insurance products. If the contracts are subject to similar
risks and managed together, then it could be concluded that multi-perils (or multi-
benefit) contracts can be aggregated into portfolios.

Also, relevant may be the following references and TRG papers relating to the separation
and combination of insurance contracts:

° Paper APO1 for the February 18, 2018 TRG meeting ang ssion thereof which
provide guidance on when it may be appropriate to g
insurance contracts.

. Paragraph 9 and paper APO1 for the May 18 8 ing and subsequent

discussion which provide guidance on the cORnbMgtio insurance contracts, and
Additionally:
. BC119 states that aggregation set latorS%erves a different purpose than

odelling of reserving would not
necessarily be a suitabl regation given its alignment with solvency and

valuation requirement

ithin portfolios and groups from a practical

Bcts cover multiple perils or benefits then separation of
t be required. The attribution of premium income to multiple
llenging, particularly if those perils were not priced explicitly
within an additiveqfficing structure. This complexity might lead to potential inaccuracies
in financial reportirgg, notably the consideration of whether the contract groups are
onerous. Materiality of the potential inaccuracies in financial reporting is a consideration
for actuaries.

these compon
peril groupings

Although not explicitly prohibited or prescribed in IFRS 17, it is unlikely that individual
multi-peril contracts would be split into separate portfolios for the purposes of
measurement under IFRS 17, purely due to their multi-peril nature. This is discussed in
paper APO1 for the February 18, 2018 TRG meeting where the intention is clearly stated
that a contract with legal form of a single contract would generally be considered a single
contract in substance. There might be circumstances where it is not the case. The TRG
observed that:

“.overriding the contract unit of account presumption by separating insurance
components of a single insurance contract involves significant judgement and careful
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5.9.

5.10.

5.11.

5.12.

5.13.

consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances. It is not an accounting policy
choice.” (TRG Summary Feb 18 paragraph 7(b)(ii)).

Can separate types of risk be split out from a contract?

Following deliberations at the February 2018 and May 2018 TRG meetings it is generally
agreed that the lowest unit of account is the contract. There is a presumption that a
contract with the legal form of a single contract would generally be considered as a single
contract in substance.

However, there might be certain facts and circumstances where legal form does not
reflect the substance. For example, where transactions that are typically written as
separate contracts have been bundled together as one legal contract for customer
convenience or where a set or series of insurance contracts with the same or a related
counterparty can be treated as a single contract. This will require careful consideration of
the level of interdependencies between the different compg ch as shared
deductibles and limits and where the lapse or terminatign'8 ponent results in
the termination of the whole contract.

When is a contract allocated to a portfolio of ins

pUMaly business criterion, managed together
may change over time. IFRS 17 req nt assessment for any new business
written, which means that th o

business or renewal written.

the way contracts are managed together may require further
portfolios to be crted for new business and/or renewed business (where this is
accounted for as a Mew contract), but does not affect the allocation of already existing
contracts which remain in their assigned groups.

Organisational c

What is a group of insurance contracts?

A group of insurance contracts is a further partition of a portfolio according to when the
contract is written and expected profitability (paragraph 16 and Appendix A). Hence a
“group” is a set of new business or renewal contracts, which are issued no more than 12
months apart, to be measured together. It is a sub-set of a “portfolio”. Each group is
sometimes referred to as a ‘unit of account’ (though this term is not used in IFRS 17).
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5.14.

5.15.

When is an issued contract grouped?

Paragraph 25 specifies that a group of insurance contracts is recognised at the earlier of
the date when insurance coverage commences or the date the initial premium becomes
due or if the group of contracts is onerous, when the group becomes onerous. New
contracts are added to the group as they are written, subject to them being issued no
more than a year apart (see below).

An entity shall establish the group at initial recognition and shall not reassess the
composition of the groups subsequently (paragraph 24), except in the cases of a specified
contract modification (paragraphs 72 and 76). This applies even if contracts within a
group, or the group as a whole, are subsequently found to be onerous when they were
not at initial recognition.

Question 5.11 above refers to portfolios changing over time if the business manages its
insurance contracts in different ways.

Significant contract modifications are covered in more apter 14.

What is the meaning of the limitation to contracts o more than one year

apart at inception?

Paragraph 25 specifies the circumstances inqgich agrouof insurance contracts is first
recognised. The issue date of an insuranceQgntra®gghe earlier of the beginning of the
coverage period and the date the premi®g b&gmes due. An entity shall not include
contracts issued more than one ye hé®ame group (paragraph 22). This refers
to the date of issue of the contr, recognised under IFRS 17, which is not
necessarily the same as date as initially written, as due to the application of
contract boundary, the rene g-term contract may be treated as creating a new

urer for only a short period (e.g., most general insurance
at the renewal date. This will be a new contract under the
cffewal date forms the issue date.

A complication foreneral insurers is that cohorts based on accident year may not
necessarily corresp®nd with contracts issued less than one year apart.

There is no restriction against containing shorter issue periods than this and this
requirement does not require that the one-year period coincides with accounting periods
or calendar years.

For contracts that bind the insurer for longer periods (e.g., most life insurance contracts)
it is more complex. These contracts might be guaranteed renewable and the contract
legally continues subject to payment of the renewal premium due. However, although the
contract legally continues, IFRS 17 may treat the renewal date as the contract boundary
and the renewal as creating a new “contract” for IFRS 17 purposes separate from the
exiting contract. In which case, the underlying policy contract may be treated as multiple
“contracts” for IFRS 17 purposes over its life (paragraph 35). In this case “issue” date
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5.16.

5.17.

refers not to the original date of commencement but to date of the renewal that incepted
the contract under IFRS 17.

How is a contract allocated to a group?

Under the GMA and VFA, each contract to be grouped is assigned to one of at least three
categories:

a. Onerous (loss-making) at initial recognition;
b. no significant possibility of becoming onerous at initial recognition; or
C. any remaining contracts in the portfolio into one or more groups.

In practice, individual contract assignment might be possible, but insurers may not
attempt to assess the risk exposure in full detail and will therefore choose a certain level
of differentiation of contracts corresponding with such elemegds such as differentiation
of risk and pricing. Reasonable and supportable informatiog minology used in the

standard. Paragraphs 17 and BC 129 highlight the IASB’ggint ht the objective of
assigning contracts to the three categories mention ¥ achieved by assessing
a set of contracts, if the entity can conclude, usinggr blegnd supportable

Under the PAA, the entity assumes contragts rtfolio are not onerous at initial
recognition unless facts and circumstanggs Wylicate ®herwise (paragraph 18).

ith participation features?

ting the value of expected cash flows, an allowance can be
originating from contracts in other groups, not just cash flows arising
solely from contrac® in that group. Similarly, when doing this calculation, cash flows
implicitly transferred to other groups are to be excluded. Note that this ability assumes
that profit from the donor group has not already been released.

Because of the allowance for cash flows to be transferred between groups, what would
otherwise be an onerous group will potentially be profitable. Similarly, if a group is
potentially about to become onerous, then a transfer from a profitable group is expected
to prevent that.

One might even argue that there is no point in sub-dividing groups by year of issue,
because cash flows from a more profitable cohort could be transferred to a less profitable
cohort. The ability to transfer between cohorts means that the profitability for business
written in separate periods should be less differentiated. There may bring particular
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5.18.

5.19.

5.20.

operational challenges when determining the groups in respect of businesses where new
policies share in profits generated by the existing book and vice versa.

However, the IASB has stipulated that groups be differentiated by not containing
contracts issued more than one year apart. This is because the IASB expects that
profitability would vary over time, and at the extreme one cohort might be onerous while
another is profitable. The IASB did not want this information obscured by offsetting
onerous contracts in one group with profitable contracts in another (see paragraph BC119
and the last two sentences of paragraph BC136).

The IASB therefore, still felt that subdivision by year of issue was appropriate, even where
there were transfers of cash flows between groups (see paragraph BC138). The
requirement in paragraph 22 is that an entity shall not include contracts issued more than
one year apart.

Paragraph BC138 notes that the amounts to be reported fog
it is not necessary to calculate amounts at a group level,sG
be undertaken at a higher level and the results then cated group — this is
important in the context of mutualisation, as IFRS S es that the amount of any
transfers will be specifically known, whereas the afguaNguaggication is likely to vary over
time as facts and circumstances change.

oup are specified, but
could presumably

ios?

How might the pool of underlying items afact po

As explained in 5.5 ‘portfolios’ are define
managed together. It will be up to
affected by the pool of under

cOgyracts subject to similar risks and
determine how risks and management are
te

For example, it might be det ined What contracts are subject to different risks, and
hence be in different io thstanding that they participate in the same pool of
underlying items. Co@§ gt May be that a single portfolio covers contracts that

If the expected profitability of an open group changes during that period, it might be
appropriate to close the open group and open a new one if new contracts are added that
differ in profitability level.

What is reasonable and supportable information when determining whether a set of
contracts can be considered as a group?

Paragraph 17 indicates consideration should be given to the availability of reasonable and
supportable information to justify the grouping of contracts. In the absence of such
information, an entity shall determine the group to which the contracts belong by
considering individual contracts.
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5.21.

5.22.

5.23.

Reasonable and supportable information could be considered to be readily available
internal management and reporting information. Examples might include policy
disclosure statements, valuation reports, pricing reports or other key profitability metrics
presented to senior management or the Board of Directors.

Where the entity can reasonably undertake a measurement approach at an individual
contract level, this would also enable a grouping assessment to be made.

What is the difference between no significant possibility of becoming onerous and
other non-onerous contracts?

Paragraph BC130 discusses the intent of this separation in a limited manner.

Internal guidance might be created by an entity that specifies the details of the metrics
that are required to determine whether contracts fall into the no significant possibility

group. The approach is likely to vary across entities, given theg ental nature of this
determination.

Does the liability for incurred claims need to be sep edo ied by group
(portfolio, underwriting year, level of onerousnes

Paragraph 40 stipulates that:

The carrying amount of a group of ingu cqtracts at the end of each reporting
period shall be the sum of:

(a) the liability for remaining gover

(b) the liability for incurr i
past service allocated tffthe grqgp

comprising the fulfilment cash flows related to
that date...

It is also noted that eacj UNLs a of account.

In practice though, i @atcd that the outstanding claim valuation could be carried

ed unit of accounts. Paragraphs 24, 33 and 40 make it clear
nt cash flows to groups from a higher level of aggregation, is

quite acceptable fq& any type of valuation activity.

What happens if the interim or financial year end cut short the grouping year? Is the
reported weighted discount rate restated allowing for the remaining months?

An entity may add contracts to a group, as long as they are not issued more than one year
apart from any other contracts in the group. As contracts are added to a group, this may
result in a change in the weighted-average discount rates at the date of initial recognition
for the group. As indicated in paragraph 28, these revised discount rates are applied from
the start of the reporting period in which the new contracts are added to the group. See
chapter 3, (How is the average locked-in curve determined for a group of contracts?)
where various options are discussed to calculate the weighted average discount rate.

Careful consideration will be needed in respect of this paragraph when changing the
weighted discount rate.
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5.24.

5.25.

5.26.

5.27.

5.28.

Is it appropriate to determine groups on a more granular level than prescribed?

There are no constraints on refinement of groups beyond the minimum level prescribed
(paragraph 21).

Can a group comprise of a single contract?

Yes, a group can comprise a single contract if that is the result of the grouping exercise
(paragraph 23).

How does community rating and legislated limitations on use of underwriting variables
impact grouping?

Where law or regulation specifically constrains the entity’s pg Al ability to set a
different price or level of benefits for policyholders with di practeristics then
those characteristics can be ignored for allocating polig ; Proups. Therefore, if a
i eing split between

. The exemption cannot

onerous and other allocations, this characteristic
be applied by analogy to other items (paragraph 2

the legislation males and females woul I ded in the same group even if there is
statistical evidence of differences i xample is age, gender and pre-existing
resti®ted from being used for pricing by

e policies being onerous based on current

needs to be taken in determining the extent of the legal or regulatory constraint, and
delineating it from business decisions (see e.g., paragraphs BC133-BC134).

How are reinsurance contracts aggregated?

The entity accounts for reinsurance contracts held separately from the underlying
insurance contracts to which it relates. Entities apply the aggregation requirements in
paragraph 61 to “divide portfolios of reinsurance contracts held applying paragraphs 14—
24, except that the references to onerous contracts in those paragraphs shall be replaced
with a reference to contracts on which there is a net gain on initial recognition. For some
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5.29.

5.30.

5.31.

reinsurance contracts held, applying paragraphs 14-24 will result in a group that
comprises a single contract”.

Further discussion is presented in chapter 9 — Reinsurance.
What mismatches might arise?

The principle of IFRS 17 (paragraphs B66(b) and explained in BC298) is to separate the
underlying gross liabilities from any associated reinsurance held. This means, for example,
a contract which is onerous at inception on a gross basis would still be considered
onerous and accounted for as such even where 100% of this risk is ceded to another party
on an original terms coinsurance basis. In this example, the reinsurance held asset would
not offset the impairment on the gross liability (i.e., asymmetric accounting, with the
practical consequence of a day one loss from the gross liability impairment offset by
income from the reinsurance ceded asset over the lifetime of the reinsurance contract).

The VFA cannot be applied to reinsurance held business, e
underlying insurance contracts. See chapter 9.

ppplied to the

What are the implications of aggregation for pres i Wsclosure?
An entity is required to present income or expens gfsurance contracts held
separately from the expenses or income fro deNying Msurance contracts issued

(paragraph 82).

Paragraph 38 requires the separate discl he groups of contracts that are issued
as assets and that are issued as lialgti s of contracts in a liability position are
those where the total insuran liability is positive. Groups of contracts in an
asset position are those whe e the toigl Msurance contract liability is negative.

Further discussion is pr Qe ter 15.

How are business ¢ nd portfolio transfers treated?

On acquisition
reassesses the g

rtf&Q or set of contracts paragraph B93 applies. The acquirer

g paragraphs 14-24 to identify the groups as if they had been
issued on the acq®ition date. As the contracts would all have the same acquisition date
the requirement ar®und issued less than 12 months apart would no longer be applicable.
Illustrative example 14 from IFRS 17 lllustrative Examples shows the accounting for this.

A business combination will also require additional considerations in respect of the
portfolios and groups to which these contracts belong. The portfolios that were split into
groups based on profitability may have changed from the original entity.

When purchasing an entity, groups are assessed at the date of the business combination
date (paragraph B93). However, for the original entity the assessments would remain as
previously assessed and based on the original application of paragraphs 14 to 24. This will
lead to different treatments between the entity and its parent group accounts with non-
alignment of the aggregations.
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5.32.

For intra group transfers of business, if it is assessed as a transfer of business which is not
an IFRS 3 business combination paragraph B93 does not apply. (This was agreed at the
June 2018 IASB meeting.)

Further discussion is presented in chapter 11.
What exceptions are allowed at transition?

This will depend on which transition method is being used to measure the group of
insurance contracts. Regardless of the transition method, once adopted, groups are fixed
at transition and contracts remain in the same group thereafter.

If a full retrospective approach is adopted, as per paragraph C3, there are no exceptions
and business written up to transition is grouped applying IFRS 17 retrospectively as if it
had always applied.

year apart. However, this modification can only be
not have reasonable and supportable information
the entity does have the information to make the split b
group this information should be used.

rtfolio/group for a particular

If a fair value approach is adopted, as p
required) to include in a group co
divide into groups issued withi

aph C23, it is permitted (but not
d More than one year apart. You can only
r lessy where you have reasonable and
jon. The difference here is that whereas for the

Further discussiggais prefanted in chapter 12.
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Chapter 6 — Contractual Service Margin and Loss Component

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

6.A. What does this chapter address?

6.B.

6.C.

6.1.

This chapter provides information about the contractual service margin (CSM) — what it is,
how it should be determined and how it might change because of a range of factors —and
the treatment of the loss component of “onerous contracts”.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?
Paragraphs 38-39, 43-46, 47-52 and B96-B100 provide guidance on this topic.

BC218-BC226, BC228-BC237, BC270-BC275 and BC277-BC287 provide background on
the subject.

What other IAA documents are relevant to this topic%

None

What is the purpose of the CSM? A

The CSM is defined in Appendix A of IFR represents the unearned profit the
insurance entity will recognise as i j es under the insurance contracts in a
group. The CSM is a componen e contract liability for a group of contracts.

It is measured at initial reco oup of contracts as the excess (if any) of the
expected present value g over cash outflows, within the boundary of the
contract (including a , after adjustment for non-financial risk.

If there is no excess of
is established a

ws over outflows at inception, the contract is onerous, no CSM
gponent is calculated at the time of initial recognition.

Thereafter the C s rolled forward with interest accrual, adjustments for some
experience items, @sh flow estimates and risk. The loss component is allocated on a
systematic basis in accordance with paragraph 50. The CSM is then released based on
coverage units representing the service provided in the period and that now expected to
be provided in the future.

This means that while the initial determination of the CSM for the group is a prospective
calculation, thereafter it is primarily a retrospective calculation or roll forward.

The CSM reflects the IASB’s view that profit on insurance contracts should only be
recognised as service is provided, consistent with IFRS 15 (see paragraphs IN7 and BC18)
and not on day of policy sale.
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6.2.

6.3.

How is the CSM determined at initial recognition?

The CSM for a group of insurance contracts is established at initial recognition to offset
any profit that may arise from just considering the fulfiiment cashflows. The fulfilment
cash flows include expected future cash outflows and inflows as well as the risk
adjustment for non-financial risk and any pre-coverage cash flows. Therefore, at initial
recognition, the CSM considers all contractual cash flows (future and past) within the
contract boundary.

In the case of a profitable contract, the outcome of measuring all cash flows should be
negative (total cash outflows minus total cash inflows). This asset is eliminated at contract
inception by the creation of the CSM as an additional component of the liability of the
group of insurance contracts. However, pre-coverage cash flows can impact the amount
actually recognised on the balance sheet (see question 6.3 OQcome in the case of
an unprofitable contract is discussed in question 6.4.

Other than in the case of reinsurance the CSM is sukd um of zero.

for groups of insurance
h direct participation

There is no difference in the calculation of the CS
contracts without direct participation featurgs and ose
features.

The CSM at initial recognition and subseMen®is determined at the level of the group of
insurance contracts (i.e., the CSM gges ed®o be calculated at individual contract
level).

What are pre-coverage cashfflows?

s include contractual cash flows relating to the
ived by the insurer before the recognition date of the
determines which cash flows are “pre-coverage” and
pre-coverage cash flows may include:

In this chapter, pre-coyg
contract that were pg
contract. The recognit
which are not.

Premiums under contract;

Commissions spent®ue to contractual obligations with an intermediary in response to
writing the contract; and

Cost arising during the application and underwriting process (underwriting cost) and
issuance cost.

Pre-coverage cash flows include any insurance acquisition cash flows for which an asset or
liability is held prior to the recognition of the group that gave rise to them (see
paragraphs 27 and 38). Further, this includes both cash flows that are directly or indirectly
allocated to a contract e.g., acquisition cost spent without success, provided they are
directly attributable at a portfolio level.

Paragraph 25 states that the recognition date of the contract is the earliest of the
following:
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the beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts;
the date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group becomes due; and

for a group of onerous contracts, when the group becomes onerous.

6.4. Can the CSM be negative at initial recognition?

Except in the case of reinsurance (see chapter 9 on reinsurance), the CSM cannot be
negative and, when the calculation indicates a negative value, is instead set to zero. This
results in a loss being reported equal to the amount by which the CSM otherwise would
have been negative.

The negative balance is referred to as the loss component (see questions 6.26 —6.29 on
onerous contracts).

Subsequent Measurement: Contracts without Direct Participation ggatures

6.5. What changes are recognised in the CSM for contracts wi@

features?

radfe contracts without direct
fo S:

Paragraph 44 outlines how the CSM for a group of,i
participating features moves over time. It is calcul

CSM at the start of the reporting perj

plus the effect of any new congctSQgdded t0 the group (see question 6.6);

plus the value of interest evYuestion 6.7);

plus the changes in f entQEsh flows relating to future service (see questions
6.8-6.11);

plus the value r ange differences; and

less the am pped as insurance revenue because of the transfer of

servic ee qNstions 6.12 — 6.20)
=CSM at e eporting period.

6.6. What is the effect@§f any new contracts added to the group?

6.7.

For any new contracts added to a group of insurance contracts during the reporting
period, the entity includes only contracts recognised during the reporting period. New
contracts can be added to the group after the end of the reporting period (subject to all
contracts in the group being issued no more than one year apart), in accordance with
paragraph 28.

What interest rate is accreted on the CSM?

Interest is accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM during the reporting period using
the discount rate applied on initial recognition to reflect the time value of money
(paragraphs 44(b) and B72(b)). This discount rate is applied to nominal cash flows that do
not vary based on the returns of any underlying items. For further details on determining
discount rates see chapter 3.
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6.8. Which changes in fulfilment cash flows qualify for adjusting the CSM?

Paragraph 44(c) states “[the CSM is] adjusted for the changes in fulfilment cash flows
relating to future service as specified in paragraphs B96—B100, except to the extent that:

such increases in the fulfilment cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the
contractual service margin, giving rise to a loss (see paragraph 48(a)); or

such decreases in the fulfilment cash flows are allocated to the loss component of
the liability for remaining coverage applying paragraph 50(b)“.

Table 6.1 summarises which components underlying the fulfilment cash flows qualify for
adjusting the CSM under the Core Requirements for contracts without direct
participation.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
?\
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6.9.

Table 6.1: Which changes in fulfilment cash flows qualify for adjusting the CSM?

Item Unlock
csm?
Change in present value of cash flows related to future coverage and
other services due to:
Experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the
period that relate to future service, and related cash flows such Yes
as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes,
measured at the locked-in discount rates (paragraph B96(a))
Changes in estimates of the present value of the future cash
flows in the liability for remaining coverage (e.g., assumption Yes
changes), measured at the locked-in discount rate (g
B96(b))
Differences between the actual and expecteg
component paid in the period, measured gt Yes
discount rate (paragraph B96(c)
Contract holder info changes Yes
Contract feature changes Yes
Change in value of un j ems, it applicable No
Risk adjustment for non-fifancial rifks That relate to future service y
es
(paragraph B96(d))
Change in estimat t relate to future service:
Time va y and financial risks (paragraph B97(a)) No
Change inRstimates of fulfilment cash flows in the liability for No
incurred claims (paragraph B97(b))
Experience differences on current period cash flows (paragraph
B97(c)) No

What is the experience investment component?

104

If, due to actual experience differing from expected experience, an investment
component of the contract, i.e., an amount to be repaid to the policyholder under all
circumstances, is not repaid in the current period, it will be repaid in future. Since this
repayment was not originally included in the estimate of future cash flows, the estimate is
increased by the present value of the future repayment at a later estimated repayment
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6.10.

6.11.

6.12.

A change in the estimate of such future cash flows adjusts the CSM (paragraph B96 (b)),
i.e., decreases it by the present value of the future repayment of the investment
component, applying the locked-in rate according to paragraph B72 (c).

Except for amount resulting from the discounting effect, the adjustment is reversed by a
second adjustment, adding the difference between the investment component expected
to be paid in the current period and the one actually paid, i.e., none, to the CSM
(paragraph B96 (c)).

The opposite bookings apply if an investment component is repaid in the current period
although it was expected that it would be repaid in a future period.

How are changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk reflected in CSM?

The CSM should be adjusted for changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk
relating to services provided in future periods (paragraph B9g ubject to the condition
that the CSM should not be negative. Changes in the risk for non-financial
risk relating to coverage and other services provided in past periods should
be recognised in profit or loss.

The entity can disaggregate the change in risk adj on-financial between the
insurance service result and insurance finange incoRje o enses (paragraph 81). If the
entity does not disaggregate in this way, tigen e change in risk adjustment is
disclosed as part of the insurance servidqare

The CSM is not affected by the appgac te® for presentation.

Does a change in the discreti
period for an insurance contfiact withgpu

Yes, if the entity has dig R
insurance contracts 4@
discretionary cash flo
(paragraph B98

flows paid to policyholders during the reporting
irect participation features change the CSM?

e cash flows to be paid to policyholders for
direct participation features, then a change in the
N regarded as relating to future service, and adjusts the CSM

To determine ho identify a change in discretionary cash flows see paragraphs B98-
B100.

How is the transfer of services determined?

The amount of CSM recognised in profit or loss for a group of insurance contracts in each
period reflects the services provided under the group of insurance contracts in that
period (see paragraphs 44(e), 45(e) and 66(e) and B119).

The amount of the CSM for the group at the end of the period, before allowing for the
transfer of services, is after interest accretion, adjustment for changes relating to future
service for cash flow estimates, premiums received and risk adjustment; investment
component experience etc.
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6.13.

The entity allocates the CSM at the end of the period equally to each coverage unit (see
guestion 6.13) provided in the current period and those expected to be provided in the
future within the contract boundary, and recognises in profit or loss the amount allocated
to the coverage units provided in the current period.

What is a coverage unit?

The coverage units establish the amount of the CSM to be recognised in profit or loss for
services provided in the period. Coverage units reflect “the quantity of the benefits
provided under a contract and its expected coverage duration” (paragraph B119(a)).

Aspects of IFRS 17 relevant in interpreting coverage unit are:
The coverage period is defined in IFRS 17, Appendix A as:

“The period during which the entity provides coverage for insured events. This
period includes the coverage that relates to all pre ithin the boundary of
the insurance contract.”

The insured event in turn is defined as

“An uncertain future event covered by arfgs ce tract that creates
insurance risk.”

The insurance risk in turn is defined as:
“Risk, other than financial risk, S d from the holder of a contract to the

issuer.”

The application guidance (par, hs B32) discusses what constitutes insurance risk.

The recognition of CSM in indrance rfvenue as being related to the transfer of services
(paragraphs 44 and 45

as insurance revenue because of the transfer of services
mined by the allocation of the contractual service margin
remaini d of the reporting period (before any allocation) over the
current remaining coverage period applying paragraph B119.”

Paragraphs BC279-BC282 set out the IASB’s thinking and rationale for the release of the
CSM and the use of coverage units for this purpose. In particular, the following were
discussed and rejected by the IASB as the basis for release of the CSM:

a)  pattern of expected cash flows (BC279(a));
b) the change in the risk adjustment caused by release from risk (BC279(a));

c¢)  when the returns on investment components occur even where this drives total
expected fee (BC280); and

d) release based on services other than insurance service (Last sentence of BC280).

A discussion about how to determine the quantity of benefits in an insurance contract
when determining the coverage units of a group of contracts was discussed initially at the
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6.14.

IASB’s February 2018 TRG (paper AP0O5) and considered further and in more depth at the
IASB’s May 2018 TRG (paper APO5 and IASB TRG Meeting Summary)). It was observed

that:

IFRS 17 established principles, not detailed requirements, and detailed
requirements would not work appropriately in all cases;

determination of coverage units is not an accounting policy choice, but requires
application of careful judgement and consideration of the facts and circumstances
to best achieve the principle of reflecting the services provided in each period;

the analysis of the examples discussed at the May 2018 meeting reflects the fact
pattern of each example and does not necessarily apply to other fact patterns;

In considering how to achieve the principle, it was observed by the TRG members that:

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

f)

lapse expectations are included to the extent they aff cted duration of
coverage;
the different levels of service across periods neglls tgabe ted in determination

of coverage units;
the quantity of benefits is determined from tRge po older perspective not the
quantity of benefits expected to be igc bWthe insurer;

a policyholder benefits from the iMreMgtanding ready to meet valid claims should
the insured event occur, hen t'®p of benefits relates to amounts that can
potentially be claimed;

ts across periods do not of themselves affect
it provide to a policyholder, but where there are
s, their different probabilities might affect the

med by the insurer; and

different probabilities
the stand-ready quanti
different types gf
stand-ready bé

particula od
achieve th of reflecting the service provide in each period.

What service sholRll be reflected in coverage units?

The IASB’s May 18 TRG considered, for contracts with direct participation features, the
guestion of what services should be reflected in coverage units (e.g., purely insurance or
insurance and investment) and the staff analysis concluded that:

IFRS 17 identifies only direct participation contracts as providing both insurance and
investment services;

the reference to services in paragraphs 45 and B119 relates to insurance and
investment service;

the reference to quantity of benefits in paragraph B119(a) relates to both insurance
and investment services;
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6.15.

6.16.

the reference to expected coverage duration in paragraph B119(a) relates to the
duration of insurance and investment services; and

it is necessary, given the tight link of the coverage period to the provision of
coverage of insured events in IFRS 17, to make a narrow amendment to clarify that,
for direct participation contracts, the coverage period relates also to the provision
of investment services.

Members of the TRG generally did not agree with the view that investment service was
only present for direct participation contracts, and argued that insurance contracts
without direct participating features can have investment components but cannot
provide investment services, only insurance services. Profits are derived from investment
components, but they can only be recognized in proportion to providing insurance
services.

participation features, the coverage units are based on
when the returns on the underlying items occur. For

The appendices of the IASB’s May 2018 er APO5 contain a large number of
examples and the paper contains t nalysis of potential views of what
coverage unit means in the con ecificracts and circumstances. These might be
helpful in aiding understandi the context of the specific set of facts and
circumstances outlined in th

i

Which proxies (e.g., assage of time) can be used as coverage units?

The following metho y be reasonable proxies depending on the facts and
circumstances o N exhaustive list).

(i)  Straight lin
the group.

ocation over time but reflecting the expected number of contracts in

(ii)  Use of maximum contract cover in each period.

(iii)  Use of cover amounts for which the policyholder could validly claim each period
should insured event occur.

(iv) Use of premiums, but not if they:
a) arereceivable in different periods to the insurance services; or

b) reflect different probabilities of claim for the same insured event in different
periods rather than different levels of stand-ready service; or

c) display different levels of profitability in contracts rather than the stand-ready
service.

108



Draft Educational Note February 2019

6.17.

6.18.

6.19.

How do you deal with multiple benefits on a single contract?

Alternative approaches which may be helpful when dealing with multiple benefits on a
single contract are outlined below (this is not an exhaustive list).

. Determine coverage units based on the individual benefit components separately
and adjust the CSM according to the recognition of all relevant coverage units
during the period.

. Consider whether a coverage unit reflecting the characteristics of all benefits can be
determined.

° Consider whether the contracts can be separated into components for the purposes
of measurement. The TRG covered considerations relating to the separation of
insurance components during its February 2018 meeting.

Can coverage units be calculated net of reinsurance?

No. As underlying business and reinsurance are valued gkeparately, coverage

units need to be determined gross rather than net.
When does the coverage period start and end?

Appendix A defines coverage period as “the qggiod &ringWhich the entity provides
coverage for insured events. This period in es verage that relates to all premiums
within the boundary of the insurance co c

Coverage would normally be the efctj of the insurance contract. In some
circumstances, coverage may;

° start later, e.g., for trav@l insurafice coverage may only start from the date of travel;

or

o appear to star . a reinsurance treaty may provide cover on claims
notified bgais (e.2Npr emergence of claims not yet reported to the cedant but
arising pri rt date). However, in this case, coverage of notified claims
only starts the start date of the reinsurance contract, and would only start
earlier than start date of the treaty if the treaty also specifically covers claims

notified prior to its start.

Normally coverage will cease at the end date specified in the contract, or contract
boundary if earlier, or in many cases upon a valid claim arising before the end date.
Depending on the nature of the contract, any claims arising from events occurring after
that time may not give rise to a valid claim under the contract. Note that notification or
settlement of the claim may occur after the end date and the claim amount payable
ultimately may continue to develop after the end of the coverage period. However, these
are part of the incurred claim liability and do not represent the provision of further
coverage.

In other cases, e.g., stop loss reinsurance, while a sequence of independent events might
trigger the incurrence of a claim, such events of themselves are not part of the coverage,
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6.20.

6.21.

6.22.

it is the occurrence of underlying claims for amount that in total trigger a stop loss claim.
Here coverage is for claim payments arising in excess of the stop loss attachment point
and again coverage starts from the point at which a valid claim could be made under the
contract and not the underlying individual events.

Further, subsequent events may change the amount of the claim ultimately payable but
they represent development of the claim amount and not the provision of further cover,
e.g., an accident may cause a disability which gives rise to the payment of an annuity for
the remaining life of the person disabled. In this case, the cover is for the occurrence of

an event which causes such disablement.

Can the coverage units include discounting?
Yes, coverage units can include the impact of time value of money.

IFRS 17 is silent on whether time value of money needs to be
the release pattern for the CSM and paragraph BC282 mal
deliberately left to the discretion of the reporting entit

yed for in determining
Mthat this has been

An example of discounting and not discounting covegagegits is®rovided in IFRS 17

[llustrative Example 2, IE17(e).

How does subsequent measurement ofth M diT¥r for insurance contracts with

direct participating features?

For insurance contracts with direct ipat®g features, the entity substantially provides
insurance and investment relgled servi®g and is compensated for the services by a fee
that is determined with refef@nce to e underlying items. The CSM is subsequently
measured similarly as hout direct participating features (see question

6.5) except in relatiq

1 the entitygsharethe change in the fair value of the underlying items (see

question
2 the interest @te accreted to the CSM (see questions 6.23 — 6.24); and
3 any financial risk mitigation using derivatives (see question 6.25).

The amounts that adjust the CSM do not need to be identified separately. For example,
entities need not identify the adjustments to the CSM for changes in the entity’s share of
the change in the fair value of underlying items separately from those related to changes
to the fulfilment cash flows related to future services. A combined amount can be
identified for some or all of them (paragraph 45).

Please also see the answer to 8.12.
How do changes in the fair value of underlying items impact the CSM?

Changes related to the entity’s share of the fair value of the underlying items —i.e., the
variable fee —relate to future service and adjust the CSM except to the extent that:
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6.23.

6.24.

6.25.

6.26.

. the entity meets the conditions for the financial risk mitigation option and chooses
to adopt it;

° the entity’s share of a decrease in the fair value of the underlying items exceeds the
carrying amount of the CSM, giving rise to a loss; or

° the entity’s share of an increase in the fair value of the underlying items reverses
losses previously recognised.

Is the CSM adjusted for changes in the effect of time value of money and financial risks
not arising from the underlying items?

Changes in fulfilment cash flows arising from time value of money and financial risks are
regarded as part of the variable fee and recognised in the CSM unless the changes exceed
the CSM or the risk mitigation option is taken (refer paragraph B115).

Which discount rates should be used to calculate the CSM2

No explicit interest is accreted on the CSM since it is regpea en it is adjusted for
changes in financial risks.

What is required to use and the implications of URing@e figghcial risk mitigation
option?

Paragraph B115 provides an option for an Wgtity uce an accounting mismatch
between the measurement of derivativeQgto M§igate financial risk and the insurance
liability. Derivatives are generally IFRS 9 at fair value through profit or
loss. For direct participation co ange® in the carrying amount of the fulfilment
cash flows related to financi he CSM instead of being recognised
immediately in profit or loss, of whether they relate to the entity’s share of the
underlying items.

option of not adjusting the CSM for some changes in
the fair value ofgggderl items (paragraph 45(b)(i)) or the fulfilment cash flows relating
to future servic Ngao" 45(c)(i)) if it uses derivatives to mitigate the financial risk
arising from the iirance contracts and paragraph B115 applies.

An entity can choose

For without direct Participation contracts, such an accounting mismatch does not arise as
changes in the carrying amount of the fulfilment cash flows related to financial risks do
not adjust the CSM.

What is an onerous group of contracts and how are they treated in profit or loss?

A group of contracts is considered onerous if the CSM would otherwise be negative, i.e.,
there are future losses expected on the contract after including allowance for the risk
adjustment for non-financial risk. This can occur at outset or occur on subsequent
measurement if the following amounts exceed the CSM:

(@) unfavourable changes in the fulfilment cash flows allocated to the group arising
from changes in estimates of future cash flows relating to future service; and
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6.27.

6.28.

6.29.

(b) for a group of insurance contracts with direct participation features, the entity’s
share of a decrease in the fair value of the underlying items.

The amount by which the contract is onerous is recognised immediately as a loss when it
is known that it is loss making (paragraph 48).

When are onerous contracts recognised?

A group of onerous contracts needs to be recognised when the group is identified as
being onerous, even if this is before coverage has commenced or the first premium is due
(paragraph 25).

What is a loss component?

The loss component represents the amount of losses arising from onerous contracts
which are available for reversal. They are excluded from the determination of insurance
revenue (paragraph 49), i.e., they are not reflected directly j Wancial statements.

How is the loss component tracked over time?

The loss component is tracked and adjusted over tigE forgPrth®fosses and loss reversals
by:

allocating any changes in the fulfilment cas ws Ojle tovhanges in estimates of future
cash flows relating to future service, whicH

i) unfavourable increase the loss nt and give rise to a further loss; or

ii) favourable reduce the loss
establishment of CS elo

, give rise to loss reversal and re-
omponent is extinguished.

allocating the remaining chafge in thg@fulfilment cash flow of the group on a systematic
basis between the los o} d the balance of the liability for remaining coverage
(paragraphs 50(a) a es to fulfilment cash flows to be allocated (per
paragraph 51) age:

present value of future cash flows for claims and expenses
Om the liability for remaining coverage because of incurred insurance
service exgenses;

i) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk recognised in the profit or
loss because of release from risk; and

iii) insurance finance income or expenses.

The systematic basis used needs to ensure the loss component is extinguished by the end
of the coverage period of the group (paragraph 52). This can be done for example by
using:

. the same release method that would have been applied to the group if there had
been CSM (e.g., coverage); or

. the opening balance of the loss component as a percentage of the future cash flows
and risk adjustment relating to future service (see lllustrative Example 8).
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6.30.

6.31.

Note that while the loss component is not specifically recognised on the financial
statements a reconciliation of opening to closing balance of the loss component needs to
be disclosed (see paragraph 100(b)).

How are onerous contracts dealt with if they are acquired through a transfer of
business?

Paragraph B95 outlines that the amount identified as being onerous can be classified as
either goodwill or as a loss on contracts acquired in a transfer. (See question 6.37 for
more detail.)

How is the CSM determined at initial recognition for reinsurance held?

A CSM is determined for a reinsurance held contract at initial recognition using the same
approach as for the underlying insurance contract except thg Aot of an ‘onerous’
reinsurance held contract does not exist (paragraph 68). ce means the CSM
can both:

imbursements from the
ance premiums) and
insu¥ance contract; or

reduce the reinsurance held asset (i.e., presgn of
reinsurance contract exceed the present val

therefore defer recognition of profit fr

(i.

value of reinsurance premiums
ts from the reinsurance contract) and
the reinsurance contract (see paragraph

increase the reinsurance held ass
exceeds the present value of reimb
therefore defer recognition
65(a)).

The following table shows th@gmeasuf@ment of a reinsurance contract where the CSM is
negative (i.e., a net cosj/ Ny reinsurance - scenario 1) versus when the CSM is
positive (i.e., a net g @

hasing reinsurance - scenario 2). This assumes the risk of
non-performance of r&Qurer to be negligible.

ative example of CSM for a Reinsurance Contract

Scenario 2

Scenario 1

Present value of cash inflows (recoveries) e (500) e (500)
Present value of cash outflows (premiums paid) * 750 * 450
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk * (50) e (50)
Fulfilment cash flows * 200 * (100)
CSM * (200) * 100
Reinsurance contract asset on initial recognition o - * -
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6.32.

6.33.

6.34.

At initial recognition, does the existence of reinsurance held impact the determination
of the CSM and onerous contract testing of the gross policy liabilities?

No, because the principle of IFRS 17 (paragraph B66(b)) is to separately recognise the
underlying gross liabilities from any associated reinsurance held, the determination of
CSM, as well as onerous contract testing of the gross policy liabilities.

As an example, a contract which is onerous at inception on a gross basis would still be
considered onerous and accounted for as such even where 100% of this risk is ceded to
another party on an original terms coinsurance basis. In this example, the reinsurance
held asset would not offset the impairment on the gross liability (i.e., asymmetric
accounting, with the practical consequence of a day one loss from the gross liability
impairment offset by income from the reinsurance ceded asset over the lifetime of the
reinsurance contract).

How is the CSM on reinsurance held determined at subseg

The subsequent measurement of the CSM for reinsura
same approach as for the underlying insurance con
measurement approach, except when the under|

flows relating to future service. In such cirg
for the reinsurance held also does not agdju
paragraph 66(c)(ii).

the change in fulfilment cash flows
f the reinsurance held under

Note: the criterion for not adjustin
underlying contracts to be or e onerous. The only requirement under
paragraph 66(c) is that chan urance fulfilment cash flows results from a change
in fulfilment cash flows giig roup of underlying insurance contracts that does
not adjust the CSM fg#” underlying insurance contracts.

In these circumstances¥s possible that the offsetting impact on the reinsurance held
may exceed tha erlying contracts due to accounting mis-matches that could
arise between th nsufance and the underlying contracts (e.g., due to different
contract boundari® or measurement approaches).

How is the reinsurance CSM adjusted when the change in reinsurance fulfilment cash
flows relates to an underlying portfolio using PAA?

When the gross liability is determined using the PAA, there are different views as to how
paragraph 66(c) applies. Two of these are outlined below.

View (A): Only when the underlying portfolio is onerous is the reinsurance CSM not
adjusted. The argument for this is as follows:

(i)  This is consistent with the rationale given by IASB that where an underlying group
becomes onerous due to changes in estimates for future service then the
reinsurance CSM should not be adjusted, creating an offset (BC315);
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(ii)  Estimates for future service only occur under PAA when the portfolio is onerous
(see paragraphs 57-58);

(iii)  Criteria for not adjusting reinsurance CSM under paragraph 66(c) are that there is
a change in underlying fulfilment cash flows for future service which does not
adjust the CSM of the underlying group. Such change only occurs under PAA when
contracts are onerous, as otherwise underlying fulfilment cash flows are not
measured under PAA;

View (B): The reinsurance CSM is never adjusted when the change in reinsurance
fulfilment cash flows relates to an underlying portfolio using PAA even when the
underlying cash flows are not onerous as:

(i)  thereis no CSM under PAA, any change to reinsurance cash flows relating to
underlying portfolio does not adjust the CSM of the underlying; and

(ii)  the criteria in paragraph 66(c) do not require an a in fulfilment cash
flows for the underlying, just that the change in flows of the
reinsurance contract that relate to the unde MOt change the CSM of
the underlying group.

6.35. How is the grouping of contracts for CSM impacte act that reinsurance
contracts may cover multiple years of unggr jcies?

than one year apart. Reinsurance
e ®Phderlying contracts (paragraph 61), in
lio from the underlying and are grouped
dates of the reinsurance contract, not the

IFRS 17 prohibits grouping contracts iss
contracts held are aggregated diff
particular they are treated as a
based on the characteristics #fid incept
underlying.

ide when matching up which adjustments to the CSM
B3) as there may be multiple underlying groups and no

e between contracts or benefits reinsured.

This will require care
are restricted (as pe
one to one corr, ndée

6.36. How is the CSM caRulated for business combinations and transfers of insurance
contracts at initial recognition?

Unless the PAA for the liability for remaining coverage applies, on initial recognition the
CSM is calculated applying paragraph 38 for acquired insurance contracts issued and
paragraph 65 for acquired reinsurance contracts held using the consideration received or
paid for the contracts as a proxy for the premiums received or paid at the date of initial
recognition.

If acquired insurance contracts issued are onerous, applying paragraph 47, the entity shall
recognise the excess of the fulfilment cash flows over the consideration paid or received
as part of goodwill or gain on a bargain purchase for contracts acquired in a business
combination or as a loss in profit or loss for contracts acquired in a transfer. The entity
shall establish a loss component of the liability for remaining coverage for that excess,
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6.37.

6.38.

and apply paragraphs 49-52 to allocate subsequent changes in fulfiiment cash flows to
that loss component.

See chapter 11 for a further discussion of on business combinations and portfolio
transfers.

How is the CSM calculated at transition?

The measurement of the CSM or loss component under the full retrospective, modified
retrospective and fair value approaches at transition is discussed in chapter 12 on
transition.

What needs to be presented?

If an entity chooses to adopt the financial risk mitigation option (see question 6.25), then
it discloses the effect of that choice on the adjustment to the CSM that would otherwise

have been made in the current period (paragraph 112).
See chapter 15 for a discussion on what to present relaggng P.

116



Draft Educational Note February 2019

Section B — Variations to the General Measurement Approach

This section includes three chapters that cover the variations to the GMA. These are:

° The Premium Allocation Approach — Chapter 7
° Contracts with Participation Features and Other Variable Cash Flows — Chapter 8
° Reinsurance Contracts Held — Chapter 9

IFRS 17 Measurement

Modifications to the General Measurement Approach (GMA)

Modifications to the GMA Simplified
GMA :
for particular types of contracts Approach

As discussed in chapter 7 t
the GMA liability for remal

ma sed whenever it provides a good approximation to
e. It may also be used for groups of contracts with a
coverage period of o ear ONgess, regardless of whether it provides a good approximation.
Many non-life insuran s satisfy this criterion. However, longer-term annual
renewable contracts m&also satisfy this criterion, if the contract boundary lies at the next
renewal date.

As discussed in chapter 8, the circumstances as to when the VFA may be used are not always
straightforward especially for contracts with direct participation features which may well vary
by jurisdictions. Although not insurance contracts, investment contracts with discretionary
participation features are in scope of IFRS 17 “provided they are issued by an entity that also
issues insurance contracts”. If so these contracts are measured in the same way as contracts
with direct participation features.

Whilst reinsurance contracts issued by an insurer/reinsurer are accounted for using the GMA,
there are variations as to how an entity accounts for reinsurance held. This is discussed in
chapter 9.
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Chapter 7 — Premium Allocation Approach

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

7.A. What does this chapter address?

7.B.

7.C.

7.1.

7.2.

This chapter considers the use of the premium allocation approach (PAA) under IFRS17
including the criteria applying to an insurance contract which must be met for an entity to
choose this method, the measurement approach and the differences between this
approach and the general measurement approach. The chapter focuses on the “liability
for remaining coverage” where most of the differences between the PAA and the general
measurement approach are found, although minor differences for the “liability for
incurred claims” are noted. Presentation and disclosure for PAA is discussed in

chapter 15.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?
Paragraphs 18, 53-59, 69-70, 72(c), B72(d),(e)(iii), B4&6- ,B provide guidance.
BC288—-BC295 provide background on this topic.

What other IAA documents are relevant
None
What is the premium allocation a

The premium allocation appr PAMWhich is set out in paragraphs 53-59, is a
simplification of the measur 1 IFRS 17 paragraphs 32-52 (referred to in this
IAN as the general meaysmg ach (GMA), see the introduction to Section A of

Zasongply expects that the PAA would produce a measurement
at would not differ materially from the one that would be
produced applyi A, or if the coverage period of each contract in the group is one
year or less. The IR&B has stated there is only one model, the GMA, for measuring
insurance contract¥®(See question 7.2 unten.)

The PAA primarily applies to the liability for remaining coverage, the obligation that
relates to the unexpired portion of the coverage period. With the exception of a couple of
simplifications under the PAA (paragraph 59), the liability for incurred claims is measured
under the GMA, which is discussed in chapters 2 through 6.

The remainder of this chapter considers questions relevant to when and how the PAA
may be used. In particular, see questions 7.10 and 7.11 for more information on how the
subsequent liability for remaining coverage is measured under the PAA.

When might an entity choose to use the PAA?

Whilst the PAA represents a mathematical simplification of the GMA, when an entity
decides to implement the PAA will depend on the circumstances of each entity. For
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7.3.

example, an entity may prefer to use the PAA where it can be implemented with fewer
practical changes to existing systems and processes than might be required to develop an
approach to implement calculating and reporting the CSM under the GMA. However, if
not all an entity’s contracts may be eligible for the PAA, then an entity may need to
consider whether there are benefits to implementing the PAA for eligible contracts and
developing an approach to implementing the GMA for other contracts or whether to
implement the GMA for all contracts.

The PAA is similar to the unearned premium approach used by many entities for reporting
unexpired coverage under IFRS 4, local GAAP and/or regulatory reporting for short
duration contracts. However, the PAA is not exactly the same as some unearned premium
approaches and adjustments may be required. Therefore, entities may need to consider
the benefits and disadvantages of implementing the PAA or the GMA for contracts that
are eligible to use the PAA.

Considerations for entities in deciding whether to use the § igMinclude, for example,
the extent to which existing and potential future contr, not eligible for the
PAA; the extent to which existing systems and proc ay not support
reporting the PAA for eligible contracts; and the rce and cost that may or

may not be required to implement the GMA comp&ed
What are portfolios and groups of contradgg?

An important concept to understand wh®areMing this chapter is the level of aggregation
under IFRS 17. Refer to chapters 1 €ass;j n Of contracts and 5 Unit of account.

7.4. When can the PAA be applie

The PAA can be applied if thdgonditidls in paragraph 53 are met. Paragraph 53 states

eas ent of a group of insurance contracts using the
out in paragraphs 55-59 if, and only if, at the inception

An entity may simplif;
premium allocation a%
of the group:

expects that such simplification would produce a
measuremeM@of the liability for remaining coverage for the group that would not
differ materid¥fly from the one that would be produced applying the requirements in
paragraphs 32-52; or

a) the entity

b)  the coverage period of each contract in the group (including coverage arising from
all premiums within the contract boundary determined at that date applying
paragraph 34) is one year or less.

While the PAA is primarily for groups of short-duration contracts, it is allowed whenever it
provides a materially equivalent measure (in this chapter referred to as good
approximation) to the GMA liability for remaining coverage (paragraph 53(a)), thus it is
not able to differ materially. It is, however, qualified by paragraph 54 (see question 7.5).

Paragraph 53(b) allows the PAA to be used for groups of contracts with a coverage period
of one year or less, regardless of whether it provides a good approximation. The length of
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the coverage period depends on the contract boundary (see question 7.8). Many non-life
insurance contracts satisfy this criterion. However, longer-term annual renewable
contracts may also satisfy this criterion, if the contract boundary lies at the next renewal

date.

Use of the PAA is optional. The GMA can always be used, even where the PAA is allowed.
The PAA was introduced mainly to provide a simplified approach for general insurance
contracts and short-duration risk insurance more generally. It might be suitable for many
single-premium contracts. It may also be suitable for regular-premium contracts, where
each premium is commensurate with the risk for the corresponding period of coverage.
For more complex contracts, it may not prove simpler in application than the GMA,
particularly if the time value of money must be allowed for.

Another consideration is consistency. An entity writing general insurance contracts may

prefer to go to some extra effort in testing if the PAA can apg
to use the PAA for as many contracts as possible. This mig

gate the GMA in order
h an entity to use

consistent reporting of the whole business and remov ¥ burdens of
measurement under the GMA in the pre-claims per. € more detailed
disclosure requirements of the GMA. Conversely, g life insurance contracts
may prefer to use the GMA, rather than the PAA, € pler contracts, for

expects significant vari

The PAA may have & greater risk of not producing a reasonable approximation to the

measurement of timio Ry fogfemaining coverage during the period before a

GMA in the following example scenarios, noting this is not intended to be an exhaustive

list:

Scenario

Reasoning

Patterns of the expected incurred claim
costs and the release of the risk
adjustment are significantly different
from each other, during the coverage
period.

The PAA approach reduces the liability for
remaining coverage in line with the pattern of
incurred claim costs while the GMA would
consider the impact of both in the relevant
building blocks potentially leading to significant
differences in the value of the liability for
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remaining coverage under the PAA versus the
GMA over the coverage period.

The pattern of expected incurred claim
costs is highly uneven and the CSM is
significant under the GMA.

The CSM is released in accordance to the
insurance service provided which is based on
coverage units for the duration of coverage. If
the coverage provided by a contract is the same
over the coverage period, then the CSM would
be expected to be amortized evenly for each
coverage period. For the PAA, an uneven
pattern of expected incurred claims would
result in an uneven pattern of premium
allocated to each period. The size of the CSM
would then determine g significance of this
difference.

The longer the expected payout pattern
is for the coverage and/or the higher the
interest rate environment.

overage, even a small change in
inQgest rate environment could

tly change the value of the liability for
maining coverage. In a high interest rate
ironment, interest rates tend to be more
volatile, and discount can make up a significant
portion of the liability for remaining coverage
even for shorter tailed non-life business.

n nt

In a high interest ra
where there is no sig n ancing
component and the pr&gium is due
within a year of providing the relevant
coverage.

In this situation an entity is not required under
the PAA to reflect the time value of money in
the liability for remaining coverage but would
be required to do so under the GMA.

In a high interest rate environment
where there is significant financing
component.

In this situation an entity is required under the
PAA to reflect the time value of money in the
liability for remaining coverage using a discount
rate locked in at initial recognition. A high
interest environment tends to be volatile and
an entity that used the GMA without a locked in
discount rate may produce a significantly
different answer for the liability for remaining
coverage than the PAA.
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There is a significant investment, service
or other non-insurance component to
the contract, or there is a significant
profit sharing component.

These are complications which the PAA was not
designed to handle and where it might not
approximate the GMA.

The cost of any embedded options or
derivatives is significant

Paragraph 54 (a) of the standard tells us that
increasing amounts of embedded derivatives is
an example of where variability in the fulfilment
cash flows could be significant.

Coverage is deferred

While the PAA might require the liability for
remaining coverage to accrete interest, the
longer the deferral period the greater the
mismatch is likely to occur between the
underlying building b the GMA and the
PAA’s liability for reqg Qverage. The GMA

| only adjust for
incurred claims in the

Longer duration contracts generally

e contract the greater the variability
e projected fulfiment cash flows
e GMA.

Situations where there can be sigfificant
changes in the initial “writte ium
which could include:

e Cancellation of poli
coverage pe

e Lapses throug n-payment of
future premium@when premium
has not been paid upfront

e Contractual premium audits
during the coverage period

e Reinstatement provisions that
could result in additional future
premium

er the PAA, premium is allocated based on

he passage of time or incurred claims if the
expected pattern of release from risk is
significantly different from the passage of time.
It does not explicitly reflect cancellations or
return of premium, nor future premium from
reinstatements or other sources on an expected
value basis. Paragraph B126 requires an entity
to recognise revenue under the PAA by
allocating “expected” premium receipts to each
coverage period. No clarity is given on the
measurement basis for “expected” premium
receipts.

The GMA, on the other hand, reflects premium
cash flows on an expected value basis, and
changes in them during the coverage period for
the liability for remaining coverage as
expectations change.
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Contracts with level expected incurred The PAA would allocate the premium evenly
claims and non-level indirect expenses over the contract period while the GMA would
recognise the non-level nature of the indirect
expenses in the fulfilment cash flows.

7.6. For contracts whose coverage period is greater than 12 months in length, is it necessary
to test whether the PAA is an approximation of the GMA?

The standard does not explicitly require a test to demonstrate that the PAA is an
approximation of the GMA. However, relevant stakeholders, such as an entity’s auditors,
might expect the entity to justify its use for groups of contracts which contain contracts
with more than 12 months coverage. The justification required depends on the
circumstances, although paragraph 54 suggests that the criterion is evaluated only at
inception looking at the measurement of the “liability for remgjging coverage during the
period before a claim is incurred”.

For single premium contracts that run for only a few
sufficient to demonstrate that there is no obvious r
good approximation to the GMA over the covera

In some simple circumstances, it may be posgible t
equivalence between the PAA and the G
premium contracts, if the expected inc
risk adjustment is a flat percentage,of th
value of money.

be the case, for example, for single
t is leVel over the coverage period, the
ur®pash flows and the PAA reflects the time

For a longer term group of sigle prerpiMy contracts, it may be desirable to perform a few
sample calculations on both Rgses, in @rder to confirm that they produce similar results
for the liability for re

Where there are fut
producing a rea
desirable to und
indication that thd

s, or any other features that create a greater risk of not
roximation to the GMA (see question 7.5 above), it may be
ore exhaustive testing. If this is unduly laborious, it may be an
PAA is not appropriate for use.

If limited testing do®s not clearly indicate that the PAA is a good approximation, and PAA
presentation is strongly preferred for such reasons as consistency with the rest of an
entity’s business, it may be necessary to undertake parallel calculations to confirm a
reasonable approximation.

At adoption of IFRS 17 there may be more emphasis on testing approaches until
familiarity amongst practicioners allows qualitative reasoning as a justification in certain
cases.

7.7. When is a group of contracts recognised?

The recognition criteria for groups under the PAA are the same as for the GMA. Under
paragraph 25 a group is recognised at the “earliest of the following:

a. the beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts;
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b. the date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group becomes
due; and

c.  for a group of onerous contracts, when the group becomes onerous.”

The first criterion is consistent with how entities in some jurisdictions that write short
duration contracts recognised contracts under local GAAPs and IFRS 4 prior to the
effective date of IFRS 17. The second criterion would be triggered if any premium deposit,
instalment or the full amount is due prior to the start of the coverage period.

7.8. What is the contract boundary?
The contract boundary is defined by paragraph 34, and discussed in Chapter 1 of this IAN.

The significance of the contract boundary in the context of the PAA lies in whether the
contract has a coverage period of one year or less and is therefore automatically eligible
for the PAA. For many general insurance contracts, neither j or insured is obliged
to renew, so the contract boundary is clear.

e right of the insurer
rtain jurisdictions.

In cases of doubt, the actuary may seek guidance ffgm t tity’s technical accounting

group to reach a consensus on the issue.

e liability for remaining coverage?

ut'in paragraph 55(a).

i.  the premiums, i ived at initial recognition;

ii.  minusq quisition cash flows at that date, unless the entity
choosesQR4 P the payments as an expense applying paragraph 59(a);

any amount arising from the derecognition at that date of the
r liability recognised for insurance acquisition cash flows applying
paragfaph 27.

iii.  plu

Under paragraph 59(a), if the coverage period is 12 months or less for each contract in
the group at initial recognition the entity “may choose to recognise any insurance
acquisition cash flows as expenses when it incurs those costs.” This may cause a material
difference between the PAA and the GMA for the liability for remaining coverage which is
why it is only permitted when the coverage period is less than 12 months for each
contract in the group and the safe harbour election of the PAA can be made.

Onerous contract liabilities are discussed below (see question 7.14).

For general insurance business, on a single premium basis with the initial recognition
when the premium is due, if the option in paragraph 59(a) is not taken, the overall effect
is that of an unearned net premium. Instead of an initial unearned premium (UEP) equal

124



Draft Educational Note February 2019

7.10.

to the written premium, less an initial deferred acquisition cost equal to the deferrable
acquisition costs (DAC), the initial UEP is effectively net of acquisition costs and there is
no DAC asset.

While initially thought of as a UEP model, the PAA’s initial measurement criteria will not
provide users of the financial statements with as much information as an unearned
premium model grossed up for acquisition expenses and any premium owed. The PAA,
through approximating the GMA of netting cash inflows and outflows, will not include the
future inforce exposure by the amount of premium owed.

If the 59(a) option is taken, the initial UEP is equal to the premium received, but with no
DAC. The effect of this is that the net liability is greater than under previous approaches
by the amount of DAC that is not recognised.

This measurement approach does not capture any expectation
significant, policy cancellations on premiums paid could re
or for contracts with a coverage period of greater than
not be appropriate per the requirements of paragrap

of policy cancellations. If
g rstating the liability,
B use of the PAA may

What is the subsequent measurement ap

The subsequent measurement under t
states

at the end of each subse ortingeriod, the carrying amount of the liability
is the carrying amount 4 the stqriQ the reporting period:

(i) plus the prerng ceivgll in the period;

(i) gcquisition cash flows; unless the entity chooses to recognise
expense applying paragraph 59(a);
(iii) s relating to the amortisation of insurance acquisition cash

choose§o recognise insurance acquisition cash flows as an expense applying
paragraph 59(a);

(iv) plus any adjustment to a financing component, applying paragraph 56;

(v)  minus the amount recognised as insurance revenue for coverage provided in
that period (see paragraph B126); and

(vi) minus any investment component paid or transferred to the liability for
incurred claims.

As set out in B126, insurance contract revenue is recognised in each accounting period;

a)  on the basis of the passage of time; but

125



Draft Educational Note February 2019

7.11.

7.12.

b)  if the expected pattern of release of risk during the coverage period differs
significantly from the passage of time, then on the basis of the expected
timing of incurred insurance service expenses.

Onerous contract liabilities and the circumstances under which the adjustment for the
time value of money is required are discussed below (see questions 7.14 and 7.15). In
practice, it is possible to turn this procedure around. In the absence of onerous contract
liabilities, the PAA liability is the (present) value of future revenue (less future premiums).
For single premium contracts where future revenue is pro-rata (see question 7.12 below)
and discounting can be ignored, it may be easier to think in terms of UEP and calculate
premium revenue as UEP at the start of the period, plus premiums received, minus UEP at
the end of the period, similar to previous accounting practice.

What acquisition expenses should be used in the initial measurement?

RS 17 and is used in
ght include

Insurance acquisition cash flows is a term defined in Appeng
Paragraph 59(a). Their amount is an accounting determiga

these expenses must be directly attributable to th o of iNsurance contracts to
which the group belongs. For more details see ch imates of future cash
flows.

(excluding any invest
money and the effect

pattern of release of risk during the coverage period differs
tly from the passage of time, then on the basis of the expected
incurred insurance service expenses.

In practice, unless there are particular reasons to expect an uneven pattern, a good
starting point might be an a priori pro rata assumption, modified to the extent demanded
by credible experience. There is an inherent tension between using the largest possible
portfolio to maximise credibility and smaller sub-portfolios to detect intra-portfolio
variations. The best balance is a matter of judgment.

There is also the question of what does “differs significantly from the passage of time”
mean? This is not defined by the standard although the term “significant” is often used in
accounting frameworks to relate that something has more than a remote likelihood of
causing a misstatement. This appears to be a lower threshold than something that is
material, an item in accounting that would have an impact on the reader of the financial
statement. Some may consider this a matter of accounting, rather than actuarial
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7.13.

7.14.

judgment, where the actuarial role is to provide the analysis on which that judgment can
be based.

For example, the storm damage component of the premium for a home-owners policy in
Queensland, Australia, where cyclone season typically falls between November and April,
would differ significantly from the passage of time. But other perils insured under the
policy may have no such pattern, or even offsetting patterns. Other types of policies may
have more subtle seasonal effects that would, due to the large number of policies sold,
have a significant impact on revenue. For example, auto policies in the northern states of
the US incur 72-74% of incurred losses over the first nine months of a calendar year with
the remaining 26-28% being incurred over the last quarter with the inclement winter
months. This difference is subtle in terms of ultimate loss but might have a significant
impact on the revenue recognition and bottom line profit of the company if the premium
was recognised in line with the expected timing of incurred clg

How should the liability for incurred claims be measured
PAA?

ts valued using the

The PAA is primarily a simplification of the measur, njgoproath for the liability for
remaining coverage under the GMA. However, th ple of minor simplifications
that are permitted when measuring the clai e liability for incurred claims,

For contracts measured under the PAA,
the GMA with one potential modifiQgti
flows for the time value of mo
expected to be paid or receivffd in o
as per paragraph 59 (b).

The GMA allows for g to elect to lock-in interest rates for purposes of recognising
finance income or ex the life of a contract, with changes in market rates going
through other ive income (OCl). Based on paragraphs B133 and B72 (e) (iii),
an entity that ha PAA for measuring the liability for remaining coverage and
wishes to lock-in q&count rates shall do so based on the incurred date of the claim
liabilities, and not t®e initial contract recognition date as per the GMA. For practical
purposes of implementation, one way to do this is to lock-in a discount rate for each
group of contracts based on the average accident date of a period (quarterly or annual).
This could be justified if the average claim size is assumed to be uniformly distributed
over the period.

BS OVe

When and how should an onerous contract liability be recognised?
Onerous contracts, in the context of the PAA, are the subject of paragraphs 18 and 57.

18 For contracts issued to which an entity applies the premium allocation
approach (see paragraphs 53-59), the entity shall assume no contracts in the
portfolio are onerous at initial recognition, unless facts and circumstances
indicate otherwise. An entity shall assess whether contracts that are not
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onerous at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming
onerous subsequently by assessing the likelihood of changes in applicable
facts and circumstances.

57 If at any time during the coverage period, facts and circumstances indicate
that a group of insurance contracts is onerous, an entity shall calculate the
difference between:

(a) the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage determined
applying paragraph 55; and

(b) the fulfilment cash flows that relate to remaining coverage of the
group, applying paragraphs 33—37 and B36—-B92. However, if, in
applying paragraph 59(b), the entity does not adjust the liability for
incurred claims for the time value of money gnd the effect of financial

risk, it shall not include in the fulfilment any such
adjustment.
Note that, in the first instance, this test is applied togEroye o racts within a

portfolio. Unless there are facts, or other circumsign uppgrting the belief that the
00 er at inception whether

f paragraph 18 would indicate that
ther to categorise the contracts in

there is a group of onerous contracts. The
the entity would still need to consider af in®yptio
the portfolio as belonging to a group tha significant possibility of becoming
onerous in subsequent periods or ibed in paragraphs 16 (b) and (c), based on
the likelihood of the facts and g nces changing during the coverage period.

Contracts may be onerous a
period. The wording “
explicit test is not reg
that the portfolio con
judgment. Poss@@glndicRgrs that may inform the decision to conduct testing include:

ay become onerous later during the coverage
Prumstances” in this paragraph implies that an

a. a group of
recognition;

b. past losses in the portfolio;

C. aggressive underwriting or pricing;
d. unfavourable experience trends; and
e. unfavourable external conditions.

Groups of onerous contracts might also be identified by parallel GMA and PAA
calculations. The excess of the GMA over the PAA liability for remaining coverage is
recognised as a loss in P&L and increases the liability for remaining coverage. The GMA
liability is discussed in chapters 2 to 6, but may be modified in accordance with paragraph
57(b) to exclude discounting, if the corresponding liability for incurred claims is (or would
be) undiscounted in accordance with paragraph 59(b).
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7.15.

7.16.

7.17.

If at any time during the coverage period, facts and circumstances indicate that a group of
insurance contracts is onerous, it is necessary to recalculate the difference between the
GMA valuation of the liability for remaining coverage and the carrying amount

(paragraph 57).

An onerous contract liability cannot arise for incurred claims, since these are not part of
the liability for remaining coverage and are already valued at current fulfilment value
under the GMA.

Onerous contracts are discussed further in chapter 5 on unit of account.

When is an adjustment made to the liability for remaining coverage for the time value
of money required, and how is the adjustment made?

Adjustment for the time value of money is subject to paragraph 56. An adjustment is

required where there is a “significant financing component” ptracts in a group. It is
optional to adjust the liability for remaining coverage for t§ ue of money, if the
time between providing the relevant portion of insura d the due date for

The discount rates to be used are as determined
Interest rates are discussed further in chapt

If electing the OCI option to minim

and loss, under the GMA the ¢4 e is locked-in at the start of the coverage period
of the contract. The IASB ha practical difference with the PAA in paragraph
B72 (e) (iii) whereby the gi s locked in based on the date incurred losses are

urposes, for most portfolios of contracts this would
would be based on the average accident date of a
period (e.g., qu

How is ceded rei dealt with under the PAA?

Under paragraph the PAA may be used for ceded reinsurance contracts, if they meet
the same criteria as for direct insurance contracts. For proportional reinsurance, this may
be the case if the direct contract is eligible for the PAA assuming the coverage ison a
losses occurring basis, where the reinsurer covers losses that occur for a defined period of
time under the contract. This is not necessarily true for proportional reinsurance on a
policies or risks attaching basis, where the reinsurer covers losses arising from policies
written over a defined period of time. For example, if these reinsurance contracts attach
policies over a one-year period and the attaching policies are also written over a one-year
period then the reinsurance contracts would have a coverage period of two years and
would not be automatically eligible for PAA based on coverage of one year or less.

Conversely, non-proportional reinsurance is typically written on a loss occurring basis and
may be eligible for the PAA, even if the underlying direct contracts are not, as long as the
coverage period is one year or less. Some non-proportional reinsurance is unlikely to
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7.18.

7.19.

7.20.

7.21.

7.22.

qualify for the PAA. For example, a catastrophe cover for tropical storms and other
aggregate covers with a term in excess of one year may not qualify because the pattern of
risk is likely to differ significantly from pro-rata over time. See earlier scenarios list in
question 7.5.

How is assumed reinsurance dealt with under the PAA?

Paragraph 3 indicates that the standard applies to “insurance contracts, including
reinsurance contracts” an entity issues. IFRS 17 does not explicitly differentiate between
the treatment of an issued insurance contract and an issued reinsurance contract.
Consequently, the PAA may be used if the reinsurance contract meets the requirements
of paragraph 53. It is worth noting again that a risks attaching reinsurance contract, even
with a contract length of one year, would not automatically be eligible for the PAA under
paragraph 53(b) as the coverage provided would be in excess of one year but it might still
be possible to apply PAA.

Under a non-proportional reinsurance treaty, particular
as those covering tropical storms, and other aggrega
differ significantly from pro-rata over time and th ay novt qualify for the PAA if
the contracts have coverage periods in excess of

rophe covers, such

When and how does an entity bifurcate n ce features under the PAA?

Non-insurance features are treated in t
Bifurcation is discussed in chapter 2. Afte
is valued in the same way as a stan

way Under the GMA and the PAA.
ion, the insurance part of the contract
ract.

How are results presented ugier the

See chapter 15.

How is transition to. ol standard treated if the entity will measure its liabilities
using the PAA?

Transition is dis

Appendix C, whic vers transition.

It will usually be str®tightforward to apply the PAA retrospectively in accordance with
paragraph C4 when the duration of most PAA contracts is one year or less, but the
amount of effort may be dependent on internal data capture and systems. Retrospective
implementation will require additional effort for contracts with coverage periods longer
than one year.

How are contract modifications handled under the PAA?
Contract modifications are the subject of paragraphs 72 and 73.

Paragraph 72 indicates that when a contract is modified, “an entity shall derecognise the
original contract and recognise the modified contract as a new contract”. It further notes
that the “exercise of a right included in the terms of a contract is not a modification” but
provides an exhaustive list of conditions under which the contract can be derecognized if,
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and only if, one or more of the conditions is met. These conditions include a modification
that would have changed the group to which the contract would have been assigned at
inception or a modification that would have changed a contract being accounted for
under the PAA to no longer being eligible for that simplification.

Paragraph 73 is written in terms of the GMA, indicating that if none of the conditions are
met under paragraph 72 the “entity shall treat changes in cash flows caused by the
modifications as changes in estimates of fulfiiment cash flows by applying paragraphs 40-
52”. Paragraphs 40-52 detail subsequent measurement under the GMA,; therefore, for
contracts where the PAA is applied, it would seem appropriate to proceed by applying the
guidance for subsequent measurement under the PAA that is in paragraph 55(b).

See also chapter 14 Contract modifications.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
?\
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Chapter 8 — Contracts with Participation Features and Other Variable Cash Flows

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

8.A. What does this chapter address?

8.B

8.C

8.1.

This chapter considers the recognition, measurement and presentation of participating
features, particularly in the case of contracts with direct participation features, as well as
for other cash flows subject to the discretion of the insurer or linked to indices, including
the criteria to be met for those classifications. The specific considerations on transition
for participating contracts are covered in chapter 12 — Transition.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?

Paragraphs 45, 48(b), 71-72, 87,89 111-113 and B27, B67-B B96-B97, B101-B118
provide guidance on this topic.
BC165-BC167, BC171-BC174, BC237-BC249 BC250-BH6 269 BC276 BC365-

BC366 also provides background on the subject.

What other IAA documents are relevant to this toRc?

None

What are the types of particip
IFRS 17 defines different typd of par

a) An insurance conjyfaw i participation features (direct participating

Eontracts are defined in Appendix A and B101 and are

b) Investment tracts with discretionary participating features. These contracts are
endix A and are measured under IFRS 17 rather than IFRS 9.

c) In addition, there are many different types of participating contracts in each
jurisdiction that do not meet the criteria of a) or b). The actuaries in each
jurisdiction will need to examine each type of insurance contract to see if it meets
the requirements to be a direct participating contract (DPC) (see 8.3). For example,
some contracts may have discretionary payments that depend on the return on
assets but do not meet either of the other requirements. Participating contracts
that don’t meet all the requirements to be a DPC are measured in the same way as
insurance contracts without direct participation features.

In assessing whether a contract is DPC, careful consideration must be made of the
impact of guarantees both in terms of guaranteed returns and guaranteed benefit
amounts as this will impact whether the requirement of B101(b) and B101(c) are
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8.2

8.3.

8.4.

met (B108). This means there may be groups of insurance contracts within the same
product which fail to meet the requirements for direct participation, for example,
where different levels of guarantees are chosen by different policyholders. It is
possible that some contracts within a product could be measured as DPCs while
others are measured as insurance contracts without direct participation features.

How is reinsurance handled for participating contracts?

Reinsurance contracts, issued or held, never meet the requirements to be a DPC and
therefore are measured in the same way as insurance contracts without direct
participation features (B109 and explained in BC248-BC249). See also chapter 9 on
reinsurance.

What is the definition of a Direct Participating Contract?
DPC are those contracts which meet the following criteria’
An insurance contract for which, at inception:

(a) the contractual terms specify that the dergflirticipates in a share of a

clearly identified pool of underlyin

an amount equal to a substantial
nderlying items; and

(b) the entity expects to pay to the Mglic

share of the fair value return

(c) the entity expects a sub ortion of any change in the amounts to be

paid to the policyho (o) with the change in fair value of the underlying
items.
For a DPC the definitio owgagegeriod includes the period when the contract
provides investmentg® K as well as insurance services.

The standard defines ° value” in several places, such as in the definition noted above.
The fair value
further discussio
10 Fair Value.

the’measurement of fair value see the separate chapter — Chapter

What does a clearly identified pool of underlying items mean?

The requirement is that underlying items are clearly identified by the contract. The
definition of underlying items is given in Appendix A and expanded upon in B106:

Items that determine some of the amounts payable to a policyholder. Underlying
items can comprise any items; for example, a reference portfolio of assets, the net
assets of the entity, or a specified subset of the net assets of the entity.

In order to meet the definition, B105 requires that the link to underlying items be
“enforceable”. Enforceability (paragraph 2) is a matter of law. This can be contractual
(contracts need not be written and can be implied by “an entity’s customary business
practices”) and includes those imposed by external parties such as law or regulation.
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8.5.

8.6.

8.7.

8.8.

8.9.

Enforceability cannot be assumed to apply for example across all products written by an
entity.

What types of items can be included in the pool of underlying items?

B106 provides more information about the composition of underlying items. This could be
a reference portfolio or the net assets of the entity. It does not need to be a separately

defined fund belonging to the policyholder. The assets do not even need to be held by the
entity e.g., the underlying items could be a defined external index.

Can profits from portfolios of certain insurance contracts owned by a “participating”
fund qualify as underlying items?

This is likely to depend upon the nature of that income and is an issue that needs to be
resolved between the reporting entity and its auditor.

What are some examples of situations that do not meet t ements to be defined
as underlying items?

A couple of examples are set out in B106 as not meejdlg the r ments to be defined
as underlying items:

a) an entity can change the underlying iteRgs th termine the amount of the
entity’s obligation with retrospgc ; or

ified, even if the policyholder could be
eflects the entity’s overall performance
and expectations, or the e and expectations of a subset of assets
the entity holds. Affexamp such a return is a crediting rate or dividend
payment set at tiRg end ofWhe period to which it relates. In this case, the

PR TR er reflects the crediting rate or dividend amounts
gnd does not reflect identified underlying items.

b) there are no underlying ite
provided with a return

This latter examgle woMexclude many traditional participating contracts from qualifying
as DPCs.

What does a subs@ntial share or substantial portion mean?

IlI

IFRS 17 does not specifically define what “substantial” means. In B101(b) the requirement
is that the policyholder shares in a “substantial share of the fair value returns on the
underlying items” and in B101(c) a “substantial proportion” of the amounts paid to
policyholders to vary with the fair value of the underlying items.

This is further clarified in B107. The assessment is not made on a period by period basis
but rather over the duration of the group of insurance contracts and

(ii) on a present value probability-weighted average basis, not a best or worst
outcome basis.

What is the conceptual basis for measuring DPCs?

B104 explains that for a DPC, the entity’s obligation to the policyholder is the net of:
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8.10.

8.11.

(a) the obligation to pay the policyholder an amount equal to the fair value of the
underlying items; and

(b) a variable fee
Further this variable fee is made up of two components:

(i) the entity’s share of the fair value of the underlying items; less

(i) fulfilment cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on underlying items.
So DPCs create:

an obligation to pay policyholders an amount equal in value to specified underlying
items, minus a variable fee for service. That fee is an amount equal to the entity’s
share of the fair value of the underlying items minus any expected cash flows that
do not vary directly with the underlying items.

The detail of this subsequent measurement is set out in B3 with further
comments in BC238 — BC249.

Unlike insurance contracts without direct particip fgffureg, however, “all the

Note that the PAA, as described in Cha
meet the definition of a DPC.

s is identical to the approach used for
icipation features. Fulfilment cash flows and a CSM

What discount rate is d for measurement?

The discount ra ashflows that vary based on the returns on underlying items

are discussed in - B77.

The standard allow®for different approaches. The cash flows can either be discounted
using rates that “reflect that variability”, or the cashflows themselves can be adjusted for
that variability and discounted at a rate that reflects that adjustment. This is the case
regardless of whether the entity actually holds the underlying items or not and whether
the variation is set out in the contract terms or a matter of discretion.

Similarly, nominal cashflows (including the effect of inflation) are discounted using a
discount rate that also includes the effect of inflation; and real cash flows (excluding the
effect of inflation) are discounted at rates that exclude the effect of inflation.

Where minimum guarantees exist, the return is not solely dependent on the return on
underlying items and the discount rate is adjusted to allow for the impact of the
guarantee, even if the guarantee is lower than the expected return on the underlying
items.
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8.12.

8.13.

The standard does not require entities to divide cash flows into those that vary based on
the return on underlying items and those that do not. If a split is not carried out, the
discount rate reflects the impact on the combined cashflows. The standard cites both
stochastic modelling techniques and risk-neutral approaches as appropriate approaches
for doing this. (B77).

How do DPCs work on subsequent measurement?

DPCs are contracts where the entity's obligation to the policyholder is closely related to
the underlying items. The entity's obligation to the policyholder is the net of (see
paragraph B104):

(a) the obligation to pay the policyholder an amount equal to the fair value of the
underlying items; and

(b) avariable fee that the entity will deduct from (a),
(i) the entity’s share of the fair value of the

(ii) fulfilment cash flows that do not var
items.

This relationship between the entity’s obligation t
items requires the contractual service margi
than for insurance contracts without direc®garti

a) The CSM is additionally adjusted fo
of the underlying items (see
risk mitigation is applie

n features.

nge in the entity’s share of the fair value
5(b) and B112), except to the_extent that

paNgraph B115 and question 8.15).

b)  There is no explicit accRgtion of @hterest on the CSM, as this is implicit in (a).

c) The adjustment ngsm®ulfilment cash flows that do not vary based on the
returns on un is measured using current discount rates (see
paragrapheB113(

d) The adjust hanges in fulfilment cash flows that do not vary based on the
returns on Ugderlying items includes the change in the effect of the time value of
money and fiWancial risks not arising from the underlying items (see paragraph
B113(b)), except to the extent that risk mitigation is applied (see paragraph B115
and question 8.15).

e) Please also note that coverage for investment-related services is included, in
addition to coverage for insured events, in the determination of coverage units
when releasing the CSM (following the proposed amendments through the [2018]
annual improvement cycle).

What discount rate is used for DPCs on subsequent measurement?

When making adjustments to the CSM for DPCs, all changes are determined using current
discount rates. This applies to the entity’s share of the change in the underlying items and
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8.14.

8.15.

also changes in estimates of the fulfilment cash flows (B113). No locked-in interest rate is
used.

What cash flows adjust the CSM in a given period for DPCs?

Changes in the value of the obligation to pay the policyholder an amount equal to the fair
value of the underlying items (paragraph B104(a)) do not adjust the contractual service
margin as they do not relate to future service (B111).

Changes in the entity’s share (paragraph B104(b)(i)) adjust the CSM as they do relate to
future service (B112).

Changes in the fulfilment cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on underlying
items (paragraph B104(b)(ii)) consist of two categories (B113). Taking the second first
(B113(b)):

the change in the effect of the time value of money ang jal risks not arising
from the underlying items; for example, the effect of’ arantees. These
relate to future service and, applying paragraph e contractual service
margin...

flows apart from those in
ithout direct participation

In B113(a) all other changes in estimates of the fu
(b) are treated in the same manner as insur corgract
features and hence

onsistent with insurance contracts
etermine to what extent they relate to
aph 45(c), adjust the contractual service margin.

an entity shall apply paragraphs B
without direct participation
future service and, apply ar

How does risk mitigation suq@ as hed@ing impact the measurement of DPCs?

If risk mitigation is us , s, the entity can choose to put some or all of the
changes in the effec mbisk in the entity’s share of the underlying items
component of tige varia¥ge fee (B113(b)) through the CSM. This is to remove accounting
mismatches.

This would for ex2@ple allow the change in the fair value movement in derivatives which
goes through P&L t® be offset by the equivalent fair value movement in liabilities through
P&L, as opposed to the liability impact being spread through the CSM (B115).

There are requirements to do this. These are set out in B116.

“an entity must have a previously documented risk-management objective and strategy
for using derivatives to mitigate financial risk arising from the insurance contracts and, in
applying that objective and strategy:

a) the entity uses a derivative to mitigate the financial risk arising from the
insurance contracts.

b)  an economic offset exists between the insurance contracts and the derivative,
i.e., the values of the insurance contracts and the derivative generally move in
opposite directions because they respond in a similar way to the changes in
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the risk being mitigated. An entity shall not consider accounting measurement
differences in assessing the economic offset.

c) credit risk does not dominate the economic offset.”

This means the risk mitigation cashflows used in the fulfilment cashflows may need to be
allocated to each group and applied consistently in each reporting period (B117).

Finally, if the conditions required to use this approach are no longer met then the
approach cannot be used from that date, however previous periods are not adjusted
retrospectively (B118).

8.16. What happens when a DPC is modified?

If the terms of a contract are changed so that the insurance contract no longer meets the
requirements for direct participation or vice versa (paragraph 72), the original contract is
derecognised and a new contract recognised based on the ng# ll terms. See chapter

14 Contract modifications and derecognition for further d&g tract modification.

8.17. Are there any special requirements for a DPC on tr

There are specific requirements for DPC on transi Y he requirements differ
from insurance contracts without direct participati s. See chapter 12 -
Transition for further details on transition

8.18. What is the definition of an investfgen ct with a discretionary participating
feature?

A financial instrument that p§vides Marticular investor with the contractual right to
receive, as a suppleme ouyll not subject to the discretion of the issuer,
additional amounts:

a. that gre ex®ted to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;

b. the
and

ount of which are contractually at the discretion of the issuer;

C. that are’contractually based on:

(i) the returns on a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of
contract;

(i) realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of
assets held by the issuer; or

(iii)  the profit or loss of the entity or fund that issues the contract.

The treatment of these contracts is covered in paragraph 71 and B27(a) confirms that
these contracts, although not insurance contracts, are in scope of IFRS 17 “provided they
are issued by an entity that also issues insurance contracts”.

138



Draft Educational Note February 2019

8.19. What are some examples of investment contracts discretionary cash flows?

One common example would be discretionary interest payments on a savings-type
product.

8.20 How are Investment Contracts with DPF measured?

Investment Contracts with DPF are subject to the same measurement considerations as
direct participating contracts — refer to questions 8.3 to 8.17.

8.21. What are some other types of participating contracts?

Traditional participating contracts where dividends (bonuses) are declared annually after
completion of the year, not based directly on the return on a specified pool of underlying
assets, are the most common type of contract that may fit heggaEor example, where
there is no enforceable sharing mechanism specified for thg ating contracts in
question, so the dividend (bonus) can be adjusted to su ance on other
anges in the

se or mortality profits as
rldwide so each actuary

to determine whether it

well. There are, however, a great variety of such ¢
needs to look at the particular contract und
meets the requirements to be a direct par

8.22. How are cash flows on those contracts d?

Many insurance contracts exist whe n element of discretion (either in timing
or amount) over the amountgffaid to p®icyholders. Many of these will not meet the
requirements for direct partifpation $hd hence are measured using the general
measurement approac

For these contracts
payments are c
the contract bo

t participation features), expected discretionary

irectly related to fulfilment of the contract and included within
. Any change in the discretionary element paid to
policyholders tha ates to future service adjusts the CSM. In order to assess if such a
change has arisen 8§ expected basis for these discretionary payments is included in the
fulfilment cashflows at inception. The CSM is then adjusted for deviations from these
expected cashflows (B98) subject to the following.

. Changes in these payments can arise as a result of changes in financial risk (these do
not adjust the CSM) on those payments and “discretionary changes to that
commitment” (adjust the CSM) (B99).

. If it is not possible to separate the commitment at inception and the discretionary
element then the commitment is defined “to be the return implicit in the estimate
of the fulfilment cash flows at inception of the contract, updated to reflect current
assumptions that relate to financial risk”. (B100, BC237).

For some types of contracts, amounts may have accumulated over many decades in
participating funds. The ownership of these funds may not be clear cut between
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8.23.

8.24.

shareholders and policyholders. If difficult judgements with unusual levels of uncertainty
are required, this would require suitable disclosure.

In what circumstances are cash flows in one group considered to be impacted by cash
flows in another group?

IFRS 17 recognises that sharing between groups of policyholders arises and has a section
on “Contracts with cash flows that affect or are affected by cash flows to policyholders of
other contracts” (B67 — B71).

This is limited to the sharing that arises from policyholders sharing in the returns on
underlying items with other policyholders, including guaranteed payments either to that
policyholder or the other policyholders. The basis for conclusigmggexplains that this is a
subset of the effect referred to as “mutualisation” (BC171 )4 QFRS 17 only refers to
this specific type of sharing, and other types such as “t ecific contractual
terms to general risk diversification” are not include g0t “sharing.” The
sharing will normally go both ways, so if a group s shares profits with
another group but the second group does not sha reverse, this is not the
mutualisation case being considered.

Payments and sharing of returns betw ing groups of policyholders can be to
current or future policyholders (B68(a)) r g the fact that sharing mechanisms
smooth payments over time and it le to determine when or to whom
payments will be made at an I time.

The important point is not tofouble @unt any impacts i.e., payments that have been
p are not included again in the cash flows of
another.

As in other areg
impact of this sh : grent practical approaches are allowed. IFRS 17 does recognise
that this practical\@0proach may be at a higher level of aggregation than the individual
groups of contract®lf this is the case, then a systematic and rational approach is used to
allocate the effect of the change in underlying items to individual groups of contracts.
Groups of contracts are still subject to the annual grouping requirement, just as contracts

with no such sharing mechanism.

These fulfilment cash flows in a group of contracts may include payments expected to be
made to current policyholders in other groups or to future policyholders. IFRS 17 does
allow an approach where a liability for all such payments to be recognised and measured
at an aggregate level with no allocation to specific groups (B71).

What are examples of situations in which cash flows in one group are impacted by cash
flows in another group?

If profit sharing exists between two different groups, B69 explains the treatment. This is a
very simple example. The first has a guarantee giving rise to fulfilment cashflows of 100.
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8.25.

The second actually supports this guarantee. Without supporting the guarantee its share
of the underlying items would be 350. When it provides support to the other group the
share falls to 250 (350 — 100). Under IFRS 17 the fulfilment cashflows of the group
providing the support reflect the full 350 i.e., including the 100, and the other group,
which receives the support, excludes the 100 in relation to the guaranteed amount. This
may represent a change to current practise where guaranteed payments may be included
in the group where they arise.

Are there any special rules for mutual insurance companies?

The precise nature of mutuals varies widely. For all mutuals, in some manner
policyholders, or subsets of policyholders, will also own the company i.e., “most of the
residual interest of the entity is due to a policyholder and not a shareholder” (BC265).

The treatment will depend on the exact facts and circums e mutual in

question.

Mutual insurers are, however, a specific case of mu
between different groups of policyholders. In fact
policyholders will have rights to some, if not

This means that some policyholders will h tw
mutual insurer/entity, the second an o

roles are considered separately (B

Mutual insurers and the specif nsi

considered further in the Bag for C ions (BC264 — BC269).

As some or all of the pg 0 re in the residual interest, this means that residual
interest payments tq 4@1 olders form part of the fulfilment cash flows regardless of
whether those paymeyare expected to be made to current or future policyholders.

Thus, the Psh flows of an insurer that is a mutual entity generally include
the rights oXlicyholders to the whole of any surplus of assets over liabilities. This
means that, an insurer that is a mutual entity, there should, in principle, normally
be no equity remaining and no net comprehensive income reported in any

accounting period (BC265)

This can give rise to accounting mismatches between the measurement of insurance
contracts, measured at current value using fair value information, and the measurement
of other net assets, not required to be measured at fair value, of the mutual insurance
company. The other assets may be required to be measured on a basis giving rise to a
value lower than fair value (BC266).

This means that liabilities on the balance sheet may be higher than recognised assets,
even though they are solvent for regulatory purposes and therefore are shown to have no
equity rather than negative equity (BC267).
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8.26.

8.27.

8.28.

Comparability across the entire insurance industry is important, irrespective of the nature
of the insurance entity. To allow for the specific nature of mutual insurers, under IFRS 17
those mutual insurers can distinguish between (BC269):

(a) in the statement of financial position, the liability attributable to policyholders in
their capacity as policyholders from the liability attributable to policyholders with
the most residual interest in the entity; and

(b in the statement(s) of financial performance, the income or expenses attributable to
policyholders in their capacity as policyholders before determination of the amounts
attributable to policyholders with the most residual interest in the entity.

When are any ownership rights of a policyholder in the mutual insurance company
measured?

Ownership rights of a policyholder in a mutual insurance co
specifically measured depending on the jurisdiction, the t
of a contract. The actuary may need to discuss the tre

may or may not be
pany and the terms
Eed with his principal

This is a controversial question. In BC265 it iy e IASB believes that normally
mutual insurers will have no equity. This s me ot guidance, however, and it
leaves open the possibility for exceptio i sions in the industry have disagreed that
there is no equity on a variety of gigund n®ng on, among other items, the exact
nts to hold capital.

the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk; but

c. excluding any such changes for groups of insurance contracts with direct
participation features that would adjust the contractual service margin but do
not do so when applying paragraphs 45(b)(ii), 45(b)(iii), 45(c)(ii) or 45(c)(iii).
These are included in insurance service expenses.

An entity can make an accounting policy choice between including the full amount of the
insurance finance income or expense in P&L or disaggregating this amount between P&L
and other comprehensive income (OCI) using a systematic allocation of the expected total
insurance finance income or expenses over the duration of the group of contracts for
contracts without direct participation features (paragraph 88).
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8.29.

8.30.

For DPC the disaggregation is different. The disaggregation eliminates accounting
mismatches with income or expenses included in profit or loss on the underlying items
held (paragraph 89).

In both cases the balance of the amount included in P&L on disaggregation and the total
amount of insurance finance income or expenses in the period is included in OCI
(paragraph 90). The accounting policy choice as whether to disaggregate insurance
finance income or expenses is made at the portfolio of insurance contracts level and is
made in conjunction with an assessment of the treatment of the portfolio of assets
(B129).

Changes in assumptions that relate to financial risk are included in insurance finance
income or expenses. Inflation can be a financial or non-financial assumption. It depends
on the nature of the inflation and how it is used (B128):

or rates or on prices of
elate to financial

a.  assumptions about inflation based on an index g
assets with inflation-linked returns are assu
risk; and

P A
q

b. assumptions about inflation based on ‘s egwectation of specific price
changes are not assumptions that relat§to 1al risk.

How does the OCI option apply to DPCs?

hance income or expenses for DPCs in the
oW the liabilities is equal and opposite to

It or |3ss for the underlying items resulting in “the
eing nil” (B134).

If an entity chooses to disaggregate ins
P&L the insurance finance income
the income or expenses includegyd
net of the two separately pregnted it

C

If contracts no longer qugdi i participation in some periods then the amount
eclassification adjustment in P&L (This is based on
the amount previous rnd is not recalculated for the approach now applying, or

the new assum

i if the entit iously applied paragraph 88(b)—the entity shall include in
e accumulated amount included in other comprehensive income
before the chdnge as if the entity were continuing the approach in paragraph 88(b)

based on the assumptions that applied immediately before the change; and

ii. if the entity had previously applied paragraph 89(b)—the entity shall include in
profit or loss the accumulated amount included in other comprehensive income
before the change as if the entity were continuing the approach in paragraph 89(b)
based on the assumptions that applied immediately before the change.

No restatement of prior periods is required (B135).
How does the OCI option apply for other participating contracts?

For contracts with discretionary features for which changes in assumptions that relate to
financial risk have a substantial effect on the amounts paid to the policyholder but which
are not directly participating, the disaggregation is based on a systematic allocation of the
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expected total finance income or expenses over the duration of the group of insurance
contracts. The systematic allocation is based on characteristics of the contracts, without
reference to factors that do not affect the cash flows expected to arise under the
contracts i.e., if expected recognised returns on assets do not affect the cash flows of the
contracts in the group, the impact of those returns is excluded (see B132(a)).

The systematic allocations are also such that over the duration of the groups of contracts
that total amount recognised in OCl is zero. This means that when a contact matures the
carrying amount of the group of contracts is equal to the amount measured using the
systematic allocation (B130).

The systematic allocation of the future cashflows can be determined in one of two ways:

(i) using a rate that allocates the remaining revised expected finance income or
expenses over the remaining duration of the group of contracts at a constant rate;
or

(ii)  for contracts that use a crediting rate to determi to the
policyholders—using an allocation that is base, ts credited in the

The effective yield approach is defined in the.i i mples (IE 159):

Applying paragraph B132(a)(i), the g ate that allocates the remaining
revised expected finance income ORGXPEMGES over the remaining duration of the
group of contracts at a constggt r ‘Pective yield approach’). The effective
yield approach is not the e he effective interest method as defined in IFRS 9
Financial Instruments.

r&ain thlf same through the years (i.e., no changes related
effective yield will remain the same. However, if the

Mevised effective yield will need to be calculated. The

insurance finance income/expense in the P&L will be

e yield rather than the initial discount rate. The difference

e total impact will go through OCI.

If the financial assumptiga
to future cash flows)

between this and

The second of thes& s the crediting rate approach and is defined in the illustrative

examples (IE 165):

Applying paragraph B132(a)(ii), the entity uses an allocation based on the amounts
credited in the period and expected to be credited in future periods (a ‘projected
crediting rate approach’). In addition, applying paragraph B130(b), the entity needs
to ensure that the allocation results in the amounts recognised in other
comprehensive income over the duration of the group of contracts totalling to zero.
In order to do so, the entity calculates a series of discount rates applicable to each
reporting period which, when applied to the initial carrying amount of the liability
equals the estimate of future cash flows. This series of discount rates is calculated by
multiplying the expected crediting rates in each period by a constant factor (K).

Using the crediting rate approach requires at least the following steps:
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8.31.

8.32.

1.  Calculate the fair value of liabilities on current assumptions (in our example they
increase when interest rates fall).

2. Solve for rates which “amortise” the difference between the new value and the
original estimate, in proportion to how interest is credited.

3.  This scaling factor then scales the future outstanding crediting rates up through
time. This results in the movements on the liability side closely matching the
movements on the asset side.

4, In all cases the OCl balance must be re-spread when conditions change, so that the
outstanding OCI balance at the end is zero.

For the risk adjustment, if the risk adjustment is also disaggregated, the systematic
allocation used is consistent with the allocation of the future cashflows.

For the CSM, the systematic allocation uses the discount ra 0 accrete interest
(locked-in rate) (B132).

Are there any differences with respect to presen{gtiSyffor s?

There are no specific presentation require PCs¥ee chapter 15 for further

details on presentation requirements.
Are there any additional disclosures re DPCs?

For disclosures, an entity is require
finance income or expenses ein

° The composition of thefnderlylg items and their fair value is also disclosed
(paragraph 111)

° If risk mitigatio 3 the CSM is not adjusted for some changes in the
fulfilmen flo he impact of this on the CSM is disclosed (paragraph 112).

. If the basis isaggregation of insurance finance income or expenses is changed
then the perRd when the change occurred, the reason, any adjustments as a result
and the carrying amount of the contracts to which the change applied are disclosed
(paragraph 113).

See also chapter 15
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Chapter 9 — Reinsurance

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

9.A.

9.B.

9.C.

9.1.

9.2.

What does this chapter address?

This chapter provides background and suggested practice on the treatment of reinsurance
under IFRS 17. The note covers both reinsurance ceded (referred to as reinsurance “held”
in IFRS 17) and reinsurance assumed (referred to as reinsurance “issued” in IFRS 17). As
noted in paragraph 3, IFRS 17 is applicable to both reinsurance contracts held, and
reinsurance contracts issued. For consistency with IFRS 17 terminology, reinsurance
“held” and “issued” will be used in this note. Retrocession contracts are included in the
definition of reinsurance contracts.

It is not applicable to reinsurance contracts that are consig & financial
instruments under IFRS.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?

insurance contracts also
ted by specific reference to
for reinsurance held.

As noted in paragraph 4, all references in IFRS 17
apply to reinsurance contracts held unless
reinsurance issued or as specified in parag

None

When is IFRS 17 used to acc

another entity it is kn@ surance ceded. When an entity receives risks from
§s reinsurance assumed. Where there is significant insurance
risk transfer, the ce contract is considered as an insurance contract under IFRS,
and IFRS 17 is app¥able (paragraph 3). This applies to both reinsurance held (the IFRS 17
terminology for a r®nsurance ceded contract) and reinsurance issued (the IFRS 17
terminology for a reinsurance assumed contract).

IFRS outlines the criteria to determine whether there is significant insurance risk transfer
under the contract (see question 9.2 below). Where a contract fails these criteria, IFRS 17
does not apply, and the reinsurance is treated as a financial instrument.

What constitutes significant insurance risk transfer for reinsurance?

To determine if IFRS 17 is applicable, for each reinsurance transaction that a company has
in place, an assessment needs to be made as to whether there is significant insurance risk
transfer under the contract. The criteria are covered in detail in paragraphs B7-B23. See
chapter 1 — Classification of contracts.
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Under IFRS, an insurance contract is one under which one party accepts significant
insurance risk, other than financial risk, from another party by agreeing to compensate
the other party if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects
the other party.

Under IFRS, the insurance risk is significant if, and only if, an insured event could cause the
issuer to pay additional amounts that are significant in any single scenario, excluding
scenarios that have no commercial substance (i.e., no discernible effect on the economics
of the transaction). |IFRS specifically says this condition may be met even if the insured
event is extremely unlikely or even if the expected (i.e., probability-weighted) present
value of contingent cash flows is a small proportion of the expected present value of all
the remaining contractual cash flows.

For reinsurance, there are two specific exceptions to the above general principles:

future event that adversely affects the polic
not adversely affect the policyholder is miti
contract to transfer some of all of thesgarisks
to insurance risk (paragraph B15). THye
this criterion meets the definition
reinsurance contract under IERS 17,
reinsurance issued and reinsu

anoWier party, that party is exposed

insurance contract that satisfies
urance contract and hence is a

o®d be recognised and measured as

or the respective party.

hel

ot expose the issuer of the contract to the

ce loss, the contract is still deemed to transfer
nsfers substantially all of the insurance risk relating
the underlying insurance contracts (paragraph B19).

° Even if a reinsurance c
possibility of a signjfica

Reinsurance Held — (Questions 9.3 — 9.16)

9.3.

How is reinsurance held presented in the IFRS statement of financial position and
statement of financial performance?

Where an entity has entered into reinsurance contracts to cede insurance risk associated
with underlying insurance contracts (either direct insurance contracts or reinsurance
contracts issued), the reinsurance held contracts are recognised and presented on the
balance sheet as groupings of reinsurance contracts held that are assets and groupings of
reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities. This means that for the statement of
financial position, the reinsurance held is shown separately from the underlying insurance
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9.4.

9.5.

9.6.

contracts (paragraph 78). Similarly, for the statement of financial performance, the
income and expense from reinsurance held are shown separately from the expenses and
income of the underlying insurance contracts (paragraph 82).

Does reinsuring insurance contracts impact the recognition of the underlying insurance
contacts?

No. Reinsurance does not impact the recognition of the underlying insurance contracts.
As per paragraph 75, “when an entity buys reinsurance, it shall derecognise the
underlying insurance contract(s) when, and only when, the underlying insurance
contract(s) is or are extinguished”.

Does reinsuring insurance contracts impact the measurement of the underlying
insurance contracts on the IFRS balance sheet?

entity is not impacted
ts issued. The
, the estimates of

No under IFRS 17, the valuation of insurance contracts issued
by entering into reinsurance contracts to mitigate risks in
insurance contracts continue to be valued on a gross bggk

future cash flows of a group of underlying insuranc d usually be the same
regardless of whether there is reinsurance held aggo these obligations. This
also applies to the entirety of the fulfilment cash f ing the risk adjustment for

non- financial risk, and the CSM.

It should be noted that an entity’s apprqgch Q@ diversttying its risk exposure, including
potential use of reinsurance, may impact risk adjustment. However, this would
be an indirect impact based on the ®aij oach to using reinsurance generally to

diversify risk, and not reflect ge for a specific reinsurance held treaty.
How are reinsurance contra asured?

d is represented by the fulfiiment cash flows

eld contract plus a CSM. The measurement value is
the valuation of the fulfilment cash flows and CSM of the
iabilities. See also questions 9.9 and 9.10.

associated with the
separately det i
underlying gros

While the valuatiogmeasurement follows the same general measurement approach as
for insurance contrdcts generally, there are some key differences in the methodology.

With respect to the estimate of future cash flows, paragraph 63 requires consistency
between the assumptions used in the measurement of the reinsurance contracts held and
in the measurement of the underlying gross insurance liabilities (see question 9.9).

With respect to the risk adjustment, a different definition of the risk adjustment is used
for reinsurance held that replaces the general definition used for insurance contracts (see
guestion 9.9)

With respect to the CSM, there are specific additional considerations for reinsurance
contracts held (see question 9.7).
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9.7.

9.8.

9.9.

Does the asset or liability for reinsurance held have a CSM?

Assuming the PAA is not being used, a CSM is determined for reinsurance contracts held
using a similar approach as for other insurance contracts. However, there is a key
difference in that the CSM can both reduce the reinsurance held asset (i.e., present value
of reimbursements from the reinsurance contract exceed the present value of
reinsurance premiums) and therefore defer recognition of profit from the reinsurance
contract, or increase the reinsurance held asset (i.e., present value of reinsurance
premiums exceeds the present value of reimbursements from the reinsurance contract)
and therefore defer recognition of losses from the reinsurance contract.

This means that the concept of an ‘onerous’ reinsurance held contract does not exist (see
paragraphs 29 (b), 61 and 65). The rationale is that a net loss from the reinsurance
contract would usually represent a commercial expense of purchasing reinsurance and

not adjust the CSM on the reinsurance held asset
associated with these same underlying insurance
applies only for subsequent measurement,

This means that where an entity has trags
subsequent measurement to create con in how changes in the fulfilment cash
flows associated with the risks tra eated in the CSM of the reinsurance held
and the gross insurance liabilitj ver, there is no attempt to create similar
consistency at initial measur

a reinsurer, there is an attempt for

Would the future cash
the same as the fut
underlying insurance

sumptions used for the same business in the
dluation?

Paragraph 63 st pe entity shall use consistent assumptions to measure the
estimates of the ntValue of the future cash flows for the group of reinsurance
contracts held ana\ghe estimates of the present value of the future cash flows for the
group(s) of underlying insurance contracts.” This means that assumptions related to
policyholder behaviour or insured decrements (e.g., mortality rates, morbidity rates,
policyholder claims assumptions) would be consistent between the underlying insurance
contract valuation and where these assumptions are used to help determine the value of
the reinsurance held. Other assumptions, such as expenses may be different.

In addition, other variables and determinants of the cash flows, including the contract
boundary, may be different depending on the terms of the reinsurance. See also question
9.11.

How is the reinsurance held risk adjustment for non-financial risk determined?

A specific definition for the determination of the risk adjustment for reinsurance
contracts held is provided that replaces the general definition in paragraph 37 used for

149



Draft Educational Note February 2019

9.10.

9.11.

insurance and reinsurance contracts issued in the standard. Under the definition for
reinsurance held, the quantum of the risk adjustment for non-financial risk represents the
amount of risk being transferred by the holder of a group of reinsurance contracts to the
issuer of those contracts (paragraph 64).

The risk adjustment for the reinsurance held can therefore conceptually be thought of as
the difference in the risk position of the entity with (i.e., net position) and without (i.e.,
gross position) the reinsurance held. As a result, the appropriate risk adjustment for the
reinsurance held could be determined based on the difference between these amounts.

For reinsurance held, because the risk adjustment for reinsurance held is defined based
on the amount of risk transferred to the reinsurer, the risk adjustment for reinsurance
held will normally create an asset. On this basis, where a reinsurance contract held is
reported as an asset the risk adjustment will have the effect of increasing the value of the

asset, and will decrease the liability value where the reinsurg gntract held is reported
as a liability.
How is counter party risk of non-performance by thegg8suer G Burance contracts

reflected in reinsurance contracts held?

ure cash flows to be
d by an allowance for reinsurance
s (paragraph 63). This allowance

In determining the fulfillment cash flows, the esti
received for the reinsurance contracts hel
counter party failure to fulfill the contr
would reflect not only potential reinsura ter party failure due to defaults (i.e.,
credit events), but would include r disputes resulting in reduced payments
as well reflecting the effects of |. Default allowances would normally reflect the
current financial condition a ing of the reinsurance counter party, as well as
the potential for these condi ange over time. If the allowance for non-
performance in the fuy ows is changed, then the change does not adjust the
contractual service agraph 67).

With respect t
adjustment for ial risk represents the amount of risk being transferred by the
entity to the reinser has been interpreted two ways with respect to non-performance
risk. One interpreta®ion is that counter party risk is not considered in the risk adjustment
as this is not a risk formally transferred by the contract. An alternative interpretation that
has been put forward is that counter party risk is appropriate to consider in the risk
adjustment since this is a risk that, at an entity level, exists for the party with the
reinsurance held as a result of entering the contract to transfer risk.

Would grouping of business for reinsurance held be the same as contract grouping used
for the same business in the gross insurance liabilities?

The grouping for business covered by reinsurance held may be different than the contract
grouping for the same underlying business in the gross insurance liabilities.

Under IFRS 17, contracts are normally grouped, although it is permissible to have one
contract in a group. In addition, the general approach is that unless a contract contains
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9.12.

components that would be within the scope of another standard if they were separate
contracts, the contract is contemplated as the most basic unit of account.

A reinsurance contract is a single contract, even though it may consist of cessions of many
underlying insurance contracts.

Because certain reinsurance contracts already aggregate risk and consolidate underlying
contract exposures, it may in some circumstances make sense to make use of the
permission to have one (reinsurance) contract in a group.

The grouping requirements for insurance contracts outlined in paragraphs 14 — 24 also
apply for reinsurance, with the exception that for reinsurance contract held there is an
additional paragraph, 61, to account for the fact that reinsurance contracts cannot be
onerous. Paragraph 61 states that “An entity shall divide portfolios of reinsurance
contracts held applying paragraphs 14-24, except that the references to onerous

For reinsurance held, a single reinsurance t may cover multiple years of
underlying contract cessions or risk attaghm®ats. Sorte reinsurance held contracts, in
addition to covering existing risks/cessio en to accepting future cessions/risk
attachments. This leads to the que easuring the value of an existing group of
reinsurance held contracts at t oONaime T, what future cessions/risk attachments
after time T are reflected in tle modd@ing’of the future cash flows in the fulfillment cash
flows.

There are several re oraphs in the standard.

An entity shall include in the measurement of a group of
uture cash flows within the boundary of each contract in the

Paragraph 33 s
insurance contr
group”.

Paragraph 34 statethat “Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if
they arise from substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in
which the entity can compel the policyholder to pay the premiums or in which the entity
has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with services (see paragraphs
B61-B71). A substantive obligation to provide services ends when:

a)  the entity has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder
and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those risks; or

b)  both of the following criteria are satisfied: (i) The entity has the practical ability to
reassess the risks of the portfolio of insurance contracts that contains the contract
and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risk of that
portfolio; and (ii) the pricing of the premiums for coverage up to the date when the
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risks are reassessed does not take into account the risks that relate to periods after
the reassessment date”.

The above wording in paragraph 34 is written from the perspective of a directly written
insurance contract and must be interpreted for reinsurance held contracts. An
interpretation that has been put forward for reinsurance contracts held is that cash flows
are within the contract boundary for a reinsurance held contract if they arise from
substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the
ceding entity is compelled to pay amounts to the reinsurer or in which the entity has a
substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer.

The implications of the above paragraphs in the standard might best be given by
examples.

Consider 2 possible non-proportionate reinsurance held contracts each, for the sake of
simplicity, considered a separate “group” of 1 contract.

Contract A is a reinsurance contract held where existin
at guaranteed rates. The treaty is open to new risk
cedent can terminate the treaty accepting new ri

insurer would project future cash flows re
and would not project future risk attac

ere is no contractual obligation
jinto the treaty. At time T+1, the cash

at guaranteed rates:
next 3 years, after whi

is open to new risks at guaranteed rates for at least the
Xhe reinsurer can terminate accepting new risks.

The implication y valuation date T that falls within the contract boundary, the
insurer would progt future cash flows related to the existing risk attachments at time T,
and would also progct future risk attachments for risks for the next three years because
the reinsurer has contractually agreed to accept those risks by locking in guaranteed
rates. At time T+1, the cash flows of the reinsurance contract held would include the
projections of cash flows for all risk attachments up to time T+1, including true up of cash
flows for actual versus expected for risk attachments between T and T + 1, plus updated

projected cash flows for future risk attachments for the next two years.
There are other implications to be considered.

. The future cash flows included may impact the ability to use the PAA. Where a
reinsurance contract is intended to cover multiple years of cessions/risk
attachments, it may prove more difficult to prove eligibility to apply the PAA for
contracts where the coverage period for the underlying contract is only one year,
but new risks attach after the inception date.
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. The IFRS 17 application guidance states that, when determining the discount rates
for initial recognition, “an entity may use weighted-average discount rates over the
period that contracts in the group are issued, which applying paragraph 22 cannot
exceed one year” [paragraph B73]. When a reinsurance contract covers multiple
cession years and all cession years are considered as part of the same contract for
purposes, the interpretation that discount rates may only take into account interest
rates during the initial year that a contract is in-force may produce an economic
mismatch when a reinsurance contract is open for multiple years and new cessions
are added in subsequent years after the initial contract year.

. There are additional considerations related to the cash flows to include in the
modelling for proportionate reinsurance contracts (see question 9.13).

9.13. Are there special considerations for the initial recognition of proportionate reinsurance

9.14.

held?

There are additional considerations related to proportigga nce held contracts.

Paragraph 62 states that “Instead of applying para anlity shall recognize a
cts held provide
proportionate coverage — at the beginning of the c&er riod of the group of
reinsurance contracts held or at the initial [tiOQ of any underlying contract,
whichever is later; and (b) in all other cqges

the group of reinsurance contracts held.

Two views on the meaning of Parag
put forward. The first interpr I0n is
recognition until at least the @rst und@lyi
initial recognition of thg

2(aW¥or proportionate reinsurance have been
t the additional consideration that there is no
g contract is recognised applies only to the
AU rejggurance held contracts. It does not impact which

b the group of reinsurance held contracts is initially

ure cash flows expected to be within the contract boundary are
her the underlying contracts have been recognised. The
mes that this additional consideration is broader and means
that only cash floRg associated with underlying contracts that have been recognised are
modeled (i.e., futur® cash flows associated with underlying cessions that have not yet
been recognised are not modeled).

modeled regar
second interpre

Under paragraph 62(b), for non-proportionate reinsurance all future cash flows expected
to be within the contract boundary are modeled without reference to the status of
underlying contracts.

What is a proportionate reinsurance coverage?

Proportionate reinsurance is not a defined term in IFRS 17. In the Basis for conclusions,
which is not a part of the standard, there is a reference to the distinction between
proportionate versus non-proportionate reinsurance [paragraph BC304]. “In some cases,
the reinsurance contract held covers the losses of separate contracts on a proportionate
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9.15.

9.16.

9.17.

9.18.

basis. In other cases, the reinsurance contract held covers aggregate losses from a group
of underlying contracts that exceed a specified amount”.

Can the PAA be used for reinsurance contracts held?

Yes, reinsurance contracts held are eligible for the PAA provided they meet the criteria to
use the approach (paragraph 69). The criteria to use the PAA, such as coverage period of
the contracts in the group, need to reflect the contractual terms of the reinsurance
contracts held in the group, and not the underlying insurance contracts.

Are there potential economic mismatches between the measurement of a reinsurance
contract held and the measurement of associated underlying insurance?

There are several areas of possible economic mismatch.

For reinsurance contracts held, the contract boundary definition means that the

underlying insurance contracts are only valued as
terms of timing of recognition of cessions vegsus u

at inception, whereas any offsetting net related reinsurance contracts held will be
reflected in the CSM and recognis ifime of the reinsurance contract held.
This can create a mismatch in t Iming Of profit and loss on contracts that may be
economically linked (e.g., pri ying contracts frequently reflects impact of
associated reinsurance, parti proportionate coverages).

Underlying contracts et iable fee approach, while associated reinsurance
held contracts are n se the variable fee approach. This can create
measurement ngigpatcMg.due to significant differences in treatment of investment

related impacts.

Would the contract boundary used for reinsurance issued and reinsurance held for the
same contract necessarily be the same?

The contract boundary would normally be the same for both parties. This is because the
contract boundary is determined by looking at the substantive rights and obligations of
both parties to the contract.

How are contractual options such as recapture, cancellation, or commutation treated in
developing reinsurance cash flows?

The cash flows would reflect characteristics of the reinsurance contract. Reinsurance
treaties may contain options that may be exercised at the discretion of the party holding
or issuing the contract. The cash flows might assume that the entities issuing and holding
the reinsurance contract each exercises its control over such options to its advantage

154



Draft Educational Note February 2019

9.19.

9.20.

taking into account any other considerations with respect to expected behaviour.
Advantage would be determined based on the assumptions used in the valuation.

Can reinsurance contracts qualify as insurance contracts with direct participation
features?

Reinsurance contracts, including both reinsurance held and reinsurance issued cannot
qualify as insurance contracts with direct participation features (paragraph B109).
Therefore, they cannot use the CSM approach outlined for contracts with direct
participation features.

How should continuation of a reinsurance contract past a contract boundary be
treated?

Under IFRS 17, two fundamentally different approaches have been put forward for the
situation where a reinsurance contract with a contract boung s extended beyond the
original boundary through the exercise of contractual terng ymple, continuation
of a fully cancellable reinsurance treaty with guarante ast the cancellation
e continuation would
extend the contract boundary of the original cont; pact reflected as changes
in the fulfillment cash flows of the contract. Unde approach, the continuation
would be treated as a new contract with a ct boundary.

The treatment as a change in fulfillmen OWSs Ol'an existing contract is based on the
following considerations:

whicl states that “in determining the estimates
porting period, an entity shall reassess the
boundary of an insuranQe contrd@t to include the effect of changes in circumstances
i and obligations”.

- Itis consistent with Para

roach outlined in paragraphs 72 and 73 for treatment of
ract modifications. Under these paragraphs, such renewal

et the threshold for recognition of a new contract and would
be consider§ff as changes in the estimates of fulfillment cash flows. Interpretation is
odification and de recognition paragraphs 72 and 73. Under
paragraphs 72, there is the statement that “the exercise of a right included in the
terms of a contract is not a modification”. As such, changes in cash flows due to
exercise of contractual rights would be considered as changes in the estimates of
fulfillment cash flows by applying paragraphs 40-52 and not a new contract event.

- While paragraph 35 states that “an entity shall not recognise as a liability or as an
asset any amounts relating to expected premiums or expected claims outside the
boundary of the insurance contract. Such amounts relate to future insurance
contracts”, this requirement is interpreted to mean that such cash flows are not
currently considered, but such assessment is not permanent and can change as
substantive rights and obligations change.
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9.21.

9.22.

9.23.

9.24.

The treatment as a new contract is based on a stricter interpretation of the paragraph 35
statement that “an entity shall not recognize as a liability or as an asset any amounts
relating to expected premiums or expected claims outside the boundary of the insurance
contract. Such amounts relate to future insurance contracts”.

How is reinsurance issued presented on the IFRS balance sheet?

Where an entity has entered into reinsurance contracts to assume risk and obligations,
the value of these contracts is shown on the balance sheet as part of the insurance
liabilities or assets, with contracts grouped into those that are assets, and those that are
liabilities.

Are there special considerations for reinsurance issued liabilities?

In general, reinsurance issued business, once classified as ing A risk, is treated

lisiness, particularly life
reinsurance, than for underlying insurance businegs, igsuring entity is further
removed from the underlying risks than the cedin is reliant on the entity
company for underlying data on insured ris i at there is frequently more
use of approximations both in terms of da ling approach. It is important that
actuaries performing valuations of reins issued business understand the impact of
approximations made and be able el®easonableness.

What are the considerations insurance issued contract may cover multiple
years of underlying insuran risk attachments?

For reinsurance issued ance held contract might cover multiple years of
underlying contract risk attachments, so that in addition to covering existing
risks/cessions, treatie be open to accepting future cessions/risk attachments.

This leads to th
issued contracts
should be reflecte

Mhen measuring the value of an existing group of reinsurance
point of time T, what future cessions/risk attachments after time T
in the modeling of the future cash flows in the fulfillment cash flows.

The considerations and relevant paragraphs in the standard are similar to reinsurance
held as covered in question 9.12.

What additional explanations and disclosures may be included in the actuary’s report
related to reinsurance?

The objective of additional disclosure requirements is to enable the Board and
management to better understand the way in which the actuary has undertaken his or
her work. Key elements of this related to reinsurance, may include:

° discussion of the impact of reinsurance as part of risk mitigation considerations to
determine the company’s risk profile;
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° discussion of any uncertainty in relation to recoverability of reinsured amounts;

° discussion of the insurer’s net risk profile and how this is appropriately reflected as
the difference between the gross and reinsurance risk adjustments.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
v
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Section C — Uses of fair value measurement in IFRS 17

This section considers the use of the fair value measurement of insurance contracts for IFRS 17
including for business combinations or portfolio transfers and on transition if the fair value
approach is chosen. This section comprises three chapters:

° Fair Value — Chapter 10
° Business Combinations and Portfolio Transfers — Chapter 11
. Transition — Chapter 12

Chapter 10 discusses the principles of how to determine the fair value of insurance contracts in
the context of the more general guidance on fair value measurement found in IFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement and of common insurance industry practices.

retrospective and fair value.
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Chapter 10 - Fair Value

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

10.A. What does this chapter address?

This chapter considers the fair value measurement of contracts in IFRS 17 in the context
of the more general guidance on fair value measurement found in IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement and of common insurance industry practices.

10.B. Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?

Paragraphs 39 and B94 specify the use of fair value when contracts are acquired in a
business combination. Paragraphs C5 and C20-24 discuss the use of fair value on
transition to IFRS 17.

10.C. What other IAA documents are relevant to this topic?
Chapter 12 Transition.

10.1. When is fair value measurement applied to insur§nceqQntgfts’’?

In IFRS 17, fair value measurement is use

in a business combination. The fair value
isitfon. See chapter 11, and

(a) atinitial recognition of contracts a

(b) on transition to IFRS 17#4fhen theWair value approach (paragraph C5b) is selected.
The fair value is deternfined as 3 the transition date, which is usually the
beginning of the tely preceding the date of initial application of

For insurance ¢
value of the con

cts Mguired in a business combination, IFRS 17 states that the fair
e consideration received for those contracts (paragraph B94).
Business combinafgns may include other assets and liabilities, in which case the
consideration rece®ed for the insurance contracts needs to be determined separately
from other assets and liabilities acquired, and may exclude certain factors that might be
considered in a business combination (see question 10.4).

This chapter addresses fair value measurement in the context of business combinations
where the consideration received for the insurance contracts is estimated and in the
context of transition to IFRS 17. This chapter may also be useful in the context of
contracts acquired in a transaction that does not form a business combination where
the fair value of groups of contracts is used to allocate the total consideration for the
entire block of contracts to the groups.

17 The term “insurance contracts” as used in this chapter includes all contracts in the scope of IFRS 17.
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10.2.

Fair value measurement is also used to measure embedded derivatives that are
separated from insurance contracts and for financial instruments issued by insurers,
which are not in the scope of IFRS 17. These applications of fair value measurement are

not addressed in this chapter.

What is the fair value of insurance contracts?

IFRS 17 does not provide guidance on determining the fair value of insurance contracts,
except as noted below in relation to a demand deposit floor. IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement provides guidance when other IFRSs require fair value measurement, with
certain exceptions. Insurance contracts are not specifically excluded from the scope of
IFRS 13, and consequently IFRS 13 is relevant to insurance contracts. IFRS 13 does not
provide specific guidance on insurance contracts; hence the entity is left to consider how
to apply the guidance in IFRS 13 to insurance contracts.

IFRS 13 defines fair value as:

“..the price that would be received to sell an

transfer a liability in
e measurement date.”

setgF p
sa

an orderly transaction between market pati
(paragraph 9 of IFRS 13)
A comprehensive discussion of IFRS 13 is on ope of this chapter. What follows

are the relevant considerations of IFRS S apply to insurance contracts.
The price may be ob le bUt if it is not, it Prices for insurance contracts are rarely
must be estim ar ph 2 of IFRS 13). observable. In most cases the fair value of

insurance contracts needs to be
estimated. See question 10.3.

Fair value is a market-based measurement, not
an entity-specific measurement (paragraph 2 of
IFRS13). Fair value should be measured using
the assumptions that market participants would
use (paragraph 22 of IFRS 13).

Measurement from the perspective of a
market participant may be different from
the measurement of fulfilment cash flows
(paragraph 57 of IFRS 13). See questions
10.4 and 10.5.

The objective is to estimate the price under
current market conditions (paragraph 2 of
IFRS 13).

Current market conditions refer not only
to general economic conditions (e.g.,
interest rates) but also to the state of the
market for transfers of insurance
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contracts, which may be difficult to
determine. See question 10.4.

The price is based on a hypothetical transaction
in the principal market or, if there is no principal
market, in the most advantageous market
(paragraph 16 of IFRS 13).

The distinction between the principal
market and the most advantageous
market for insurance contracts may not
make a difference. Market participants are
likely to be limited to other insurers or

The unit of account is determined in accordance
with IFRS 17 (paragraph 14 of IFRS 13) and is the
level at which an asset or a liability is aggregated
I

or disaggregated for recognition purpose
13 Appendix A).

t is described in the standard (see also
pter 5). The fair value would similarly
be measured by groups of insurance
contracts.

When a price for a liability i
the identical item is he/gag
asset, fair value is
perspective of mark
asset (paragra

For this purpose, policy owners are not
considered to be market participants.
Furthermore, the price associated with a
viatical settlement would not be relevant
to the measurement of fair value of a
group of insurance contracts.

Non-performanceWisk, (which includes
consideration of credit standing) is reflected in
the fair value measurement of a liability
(paragraph 42 of IFRS 13).

Fair value measurement reflects non-
performance risk of the entity, however,
the measurement of fulfilment cash flows
under IFRS 17 does not. See question 10.5.

There is a demand deposit floor on the fair value

of financial liabilities (paragraph 47 of IFRS 13).

IFRS 17 states that a demand deposit floor
does not apply when the fair value of
insurance contracts is determined
(paragraph B94 (business combinations)
and C20 (transition)). See question 10.5.
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When price is not observable, the entity
measures fair value using another valuation
technique that maximizes the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimizes the use of
unobservable inputs (paragraph 3 of IFRS 13).

An entity shall use valuation techniques
consistent with one or more of the market
approach, the cost approach and the income
approach to measure fair value (paragraph 62 of
IFRS 13).

Actuarial valuation techniques such as
embedded values, actuarial appraisals and
other present values techniques appear to
be consistent with the income approach to
measure fair value (paragraph B19 of IFRS
13), but may need to be adapted for the
purpose of IFRS 17. See questions 10.5 and
10.6.

IFRS 13 has a hierarchy of inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value
(paragraphs 72-90 of IFRS 13):

e Level 1: Observable quoted pri
active markets.

e Level 2: Quoted prices
but the input is base
market data.

n obse

e Level 3: Unohgf®

The asset or liability e meaSured is

characterized

ue geasurement of insurance
on ould usually require Level 3
uts,Yespecially with respect to non-
rket variables, and hence are likely to
be characterized as Level 3.

IFRS 13 hasa nu r of disclosure requirements
related to fair value measurement after initial
recognition (paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13).

Fair value measurement of insurance
contracts only takes place at an initial date
(acquisition date or date of first reporting
on transition), and therefore the
disclosure requirements of paragraphs 91-
99 of IFRS 13 may have limited
applicability.

10.3. How is the fair value of insurance contracts calculated?

IFRS 13 does not prescribe a valuation technique. In the context of a business
combination, the entity may have an analysis of value that can form the basis of the fair
value measurement, perhaps requiring adjustment to be consistent with the objective of

an exit price.
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10.4.

The application guidance in Appendix B of IFRS 13 provides information about other
possible valuation techniques. Among them are present value techniques (paragraphs
B12-B30 of IFRS 13) for the fair value measurement of a stream of cash flows. These
techniques share many characteristics with the IFRS 17 guidance on measuring fulfilment
cash flows (e.g., paragraph B23 of IFRS 13) and therefore are candidates for the
estimation of fair value of insurance contracts under IFRS 17.

An approach to estimating fair value of a group of insurance contracts using a present
value technique is to adjust the fulfilment cash flows of the group of insurance contracts
in order to fulfil the objectives of IFRS 13. Adjustments to reflect the perspective of
market participants (i.e., to move to an exit price) are discussed in question 10.5.

IFRS 13 does not specify that a fair value estimate be before-tax or after-tax. However,
there is a general admonition that valuations should be internally consistent, with specific
mention that this general principle means that after-tax cashg are discounted with an

at adirect relevant market price
would be found. Furthermore, the transac pri which a group of insurance

contracts is exchanged may include fact as those in paragraph B4 of IFRS 13) that
would be ignored for the purpose i the fair value of a group of insurance
contracts. Factors specificto i ontracts that would be ignored include, for
example:

o Expected profits/
insurance con

realize, but tf®t would not be generally available in the principal market.
Information that would be relevant, if reasonably available, might include:

. Market view of expected expenses associated with fulfilling the obligations of the
insurance contracts in the group,

. Market view of the cost of risk associated with taking on the obligations of the
insurance contracts in the group, and

° Market view of the cost of reinsurance that would be required to take on the
obligations of the insurance contracts in the group.

IFRS 13 requires the entity to maximize the use of relevant observable inputs (paragraphs
3, 36, 61 & 67 of IFRS 13). However, an entity need not undertake exhaustive efforts to
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10.5.

obtain information about market participant assumptions and may use information that is
reasonably available (paragraph 89 of IFRS 13).

When using a present value approach, what adjustments would be made to fulfilment
cash flows to satisfy the objectives of fair value measurement?

When using a present value approach, the fair value of a group of insurance contracts can
be seen as the fulfilment cash flows adjusted to take into account the perspective of
market participants (i.e., move to an exit price).

Possible adjustments that could be made include the following:

. The discount rates applied to the estimates of future cash flows (paragraph Bl4c of
IFRS 13) are increased to reflect the entity’s own credit risk (paragraph B13f of
IFRS 13).

market view of the expenses associated wit
of insurance contracts. For example,
expense cash flows are increased to
(i.e., expenses not directly attribu
insurance contracts belongs)

. Where different from t i iew, other assumptions used in cash flow
projections are adjusteff to refl e market view. For most assumptions, the
market view is like e as the entity’s view because the entity has the

the fulfilment cash flows take into account all

fon. However, for assumptions that are not specific to

the entity, acts (e.g., future population mortality improvement), the

market vi

. Where diffeRnt from the entity’s view, the risk adjustment for non-financial risk is
ect a degree of risk aversion (paragraph B83b of IFRS 17) consistent
with the market view.

. Where different from the entity’s view, the degree of diversification benefit
(paragraph B83a of IFRS 17) included in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk is
adjusted to be consistent with the market view. As noted in question 10.2, the unit
of account for fair value measurement under IFRS 17 is group of insurance
contracts.

. Where consistent with market practice (and where not otherwise reflected in the
estimate of fair value), the risk adjustment is increased to include the cost of capital
or risks not covered in the fulfilment cash flows.
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10.6.

10.7.

10.8.

. Where consistent with market practice (and where not otherwise reflected in the
estimate of fair value), the fair value is decreased to reflect expense, tax, or other
synergies that would be available in the principal market.

. Where not included in the other points above, the return that a market participant
would require for undertaking the activity (see paragraph IFRS 13.41 and B31),
which could be interpreted to include profit margins that a third party would
require for providing services attached to the contract.

How do embedded values or appraisal values compare to fair values?

Embedded values or appraisal values are typically determined in the context of a transfer
of liabilities together with supporting assets, and consider the present value of future
expected profits less the cost of capital.

The fair value of insurance contracts under IFRS 17 is the fair
i.e., ignoring the supporting assets. Therefore, embedded /g

e of the liabilities only,
alues will not be

profit expected from liabilities together with assets
would be required to take over the obligations (ligi

However, embedded/appraisal value calculations
assess the market view of the degree of ri
affecting fair value measurement (see ~For example, a high hurdle rate for
the present value of future profits is likel st a high cost of capital.

Can a group of insurance contr on acquisition?
A group of insurance contra erous if the fair value is less than the

fulfilment cash flows. Thj
nts noted in question 10.5 contribute to the fair
Bt cash flows. However, there may be circumstances in
onspire to make the fair value less than the fulfilment cash

Are there any spe@al considerations for estimating the fair value of insurance
contracts with dirett or indirect participation features?

The general approach is the same as for contracts without participation features.
Adjustments made to fulfiiment cash flows (question 10.5) would reflect the participation
features of the insurance contracts. In particular, if discount rates applied to cash flows
that vary based on the returns on underlying items have been adjusted to reflect that
variability (paragraph B74b), the discount rates used for fair value measurement would be
similarly adjusted.

Alternatively (equivalently), the fair value of a group of insurance contracts could be
estimated as the fair value of the groups’ share of the underlying items with adjustments
as needed to account for the non-participating features of the contracts in the group.
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10.9. Are there any special considerations for estimating the fair value of reinsurance
contracts?

The general approach is the same as for direct written contracts. The market for
reinsurance contracts would be related to the market for the contracts that are reinsured,
as transactions involving reinsurance contracts are usually part of transactions involving
the reinsured contracts. With this perspective, the fair value of a group of reinsurance
contracts can be viewed as the amount that brings the fair value of the reinsured
(underlying direct) contracts to the net fair value of the direct contracts combined with
the reinsurance contracts. In other words, the fair value of a group of reinsurance
contracts is the difference between the fair value of the underlying direct contracts
(ignoring reinsurance) and the fair value of the underlying direct contracts combined with
the reinsurance contracts.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
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Chapter 11 — Business Combinations and Portfolio Transfers

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

11.A. What does this chapter address?

11.B

11.C.

11.1.

This chapter considers the requirements under IFRS 17 when accounting for insurance
contracts or liabilities for incurred claims acquired in a business combination or a
portfolio transfer, and in particular the need to use the fair value of the contracts as the
initial consideration. This chapter considers the interaction between IFRS 17 and the more
general guidance found in IFRS 3 Business Combinations and discusses aspects of business
combinations, such as the determination of goodwill and the recognition of intangible
assets

. Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?

Paragraphs 39, 108, and B93 — 95 provide guidance o
relevant. Appendix D delineates concomitant amen
Combinations.

agraph B5 may be

o |IFN8 3 Business

What other IAA documents are relevant to &gis toRc?

racts uired in a business combination or
0aqes consistent with the approaches used

Chapter 10 Fair Value is directly releva
in a portfolio transfer are measured by a
by the acquiring entity.

What are the general requirgffients o S 3 for accounting for a business combination?

IFRS 3.4 requires the acquisitR\n meti@®d of accounting to be applied to business
combinations within i e. quisition method views a business combination from
the perspective of t e acquirer purchases the assets and assumes the
obligations of t

. Identifying the acquirer,

. Determining the acquisition date,

. Recognising and measuring the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed,

. Recognising and measuring goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.

Identifying the acquirer and determining the acquisition date are sometimes complex
matters that do not require actuarial expertise. These issues are not in the scope of this
IAN. Guidance can be found in IFRS 3.7, which in turn refers to IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, and in IFRS 3, B13-B18.
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This chapter is primarily concerned with step 3 as it relates to insurance contracts and for
acquisitions that do not form a business combination. There are some paragraphs and an
appendix that provide some information about the other aspects of steps 3 and 4 to help
the actuary understand the broader context in which the measurement of insurance
contracts assets and liabilities is taking place.

11.2. What are the requirements of IFRS 17 for insurance contracts acquired in a business
combination or in a transfer of contracts that do not form a business?

IFRS 17 provides guidance on the treatment of contracts acquired in a business
combination or in a transfer of contracts that do not form a business combination. The
distinction between a business combination and a transfer of contracts that does not
form a business is discussed below. The application of the broader, non-insurance
specific, guidance relating to business combinations and other acquisitions of assets or
liabilities is discussed further in later sections of this chapter, W surance-specific
guidance in IFRS 17 relates to determining the initial contr jce margin (CSM)
for acquired contracts. According to paragraphs B93-B

° the recognition date of the acquired c ci@s the date of the business

combination or of the transfer.

° the initial consideration receiv i r the contracts acquired is a proxy

for the premiums received. ZheQ@nsi on excludes amounts paid for any
other assets or liabilities acq he transaction. In a business
combination, in many i initial consideration is the fair value of

the contracts (see - Fair Value).

. the CSM for acquiged con®acts is calculated using the consideration as a

proxy for or received on the acquisition date. In a business
combina e contracts are onerous, the difference between the
considera ne contracts and the fulfillment cash flows forms a loss

L is recognised as part of goodwill. If the transfer of contracts
does a business combination, the entity records a loss in the
eriod for the difference and establishes a loss component for the

The implication of these paragraphs is that the general requirements of IFRS 17 apply to
insurance or reinsurance contracts acquired in a business combination or a transfer and
that the fair value of the contracts is used in the determination of goodwill in a business
combination. The effect of this implication is that the entity examines contracts acquired
in a business combination or a transfer to determine which are in the scope of IFRS 17,
and then applies the guidance in IFRS 17 on measurement, presentation and disclosure to
those contracts. There is not a presumption that a contract is insurance at the recognition
date, even if it had been classified as insurance by the seller. For example, contracts that
had been determined to be insurance contracts at the time that they originated, but, at
the acquisition date, no longer transfer significant insurance risk, would not be in the
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11.3.

scope of IFRS 17 for the purposes of the acquirer. See also chapter 1- Classification of
Contracts.

As noted, the consideration is used in determining the CSM for contracts that do not use
the premium allocation approach (PAA). For contracts that use the PAA, the
consideration represents the remaining unallocated premium of the relevant contracts.

Liabilities for claims incurred on contracts issued by the acquired entity do not have a
CSM. IFRS 17 is generally construed to mean that the acquisition of claims liabilities
constitutes the issuance of a contract that transfers the risk of adverse development to
the acquirer. In some cases, the fair value and the fulfillment cash flows do not differ. In
these cases, there is no CSM. In other cases, the fair value exceeds the fulfillment cash
flows. This difference can be viewed as the part of the consideration that compensates
the acquirer for the service provided. Hence any positive difference between the fair
value and the fulfillment cash flows of claims liabilities acqui business combination
or in another transfer is deferred and released into income qoverage period, i.e.,

It is possible that the fair value of acquired insura isYless than the fulfillment
value. This situation might occur, for example, if t
market participants required a margin for ri
adjustment for risk. A contributing factor
the credit-standing of the entity, wher Ifilment value does not. In this situation
the acquired contracts are onerous, If th tr®ts are acquired as part of a business
combination, there is a loss compon re is no effect on P&L because the amount
by which the fulfillment valu fair value is considered in goodwill. If the
acquisition of the contracts i f a business combination, the entity recognizes a
loss for the difference i

t was less that the entity’s
he fact that a fair value considers

th

IFRSs for business combinations. Most of the relevant
guidance for busi\gg®s combinations is found in IFRS 3, Business Combinations (IFRS 3).
Additional relevan®uidance is in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (IFRS 13), in IAS 12
Income Taxes, and in IAS 38 Intangible Assets. The guidance in these IFRSs that may affect
accounting for business combination or transfers is discussed further below.

What is a business combination and how does it differ from a transfer of insurance
contracts?

IFRS 17 does not define the terms “business combination”. There is guidance for
determining if a transaction is a business combination in IFRS 3, as discussed further
below. For the purposes of this IAN, a transfer is a transaction involving contracts in the
scope of IFRS 17 that may not constitute a business combination. Although not stated as
such, the distinction likely makes no difference to the measurement of the assets or
liabilities, but it may affect the goodwill and the tax accounting associated with the
transaction.
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11.4.

11.5.

What are the general requirements for determining if a transaction is a business
combination?

IFRS 3 in effect defines a process that involves:

(a) Determining the nature of the transaction; i.e., determining whether it is a business
combination or a different type of transaction,

a)  Applying the acquisition method of accounting to transactions that are business
combinations,

b) Recognising and measuring the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
c) Recognising and measuring goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.

The following questions expand on these topics and on related matters.

acquirer obtains control of one or more businesses.” It god Qte that transactions
referred to as “true mergers” or “mergers of equals” gFs combinations. A

“business” is an integrated set of activities and ass Ple of being conducted
of dividends, lower costs

The “acquirer” is the entity that obtains ¢
provides further guidance on determini

acquired. Appendix B of IFRS 3
ction constitutes the acquisition of

For accounting purposes when ther busl
always the entity which legal
the entity whose stock is bei

ss combination, the “acquirer” is not

e other entity. Under a “reverse acquisition”,
cquired is the “acquirer” for accounting purposes,
uirer becomes the “acquired” for accounting

characteristics gr entity. The actuary may want to rely on their principal’s
accounting expe rmine who the acquirer and acquired entities are for
accounting purpo

What if the transaction is not a business combination?

IFRS 3 excludes from its scope the acquisition of an asset or a group of assets that does
not constitute a business. In such cases the acquirer shall identify and recognize the
individual identifiable assets acquired (including those assets that meet the definition of,
and recognition criteria for, intangible assets in IAS 38 Intangible Assets) and liabilities
assumed. The cost of the group shall be allocated to the individual identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. (IFRS 3.2(b)).
This guidance presents the possibility that the initial value of acquired assets or liabilities
is different from their fair values.
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11.6.

11.7.

How can the guidance in IFRS 3 for determining if a transaction is a business
combination be applied to a transaction that involves contracts in the scope of IFRS 17?

One can conclude from IFRS 3 that the necessary conditions for defining a transaction
involving insurance contracts as business combinations are:

. the portfolio or group of contracts must constitute a business or be part of a
business; and

° control over the portfolio must be obtained as a result of the transaction.

The addition of individual or multiple contracts to an entity’s book of business in a single
transaction may not be sufficient to qualify as a business combination. The act of issuing
contracts is unlikely to be considered an acquisition or a business combination. For
example, the issuance of several individual contracts to a single owner (e.g., as in the case
of corporate-owned life insurance) or purchases of individua acts in a secondary
combination. A
business combination may include the right to issue fu . using the same
distribution system associated with the purchased any values directly
associated with such rights to issue contracts are the liabilities or other

n without the transfer of the right
lows associated with a portfolio of
beQufficient for it to be deemed a business.

business combination, as discussed further
to issue future contracts, the potential
insurance contracts to generate profits

tity to another may be considered a
ins control of the associated contracts. An
e Transaction, other than novation or assumption

acquisition is distinct from a
N ers control over all aspects of contracts, whereas a

reinsurance, since an a

insurer may buy an in8 e of business of a multi-line entity by buying certain
qwons through assumption reinsurance and taking control of the
. The insurer in this example does not buy the shares of the

ss has acquired a business and would account for the transaction as a

sellers’ distributi
seller, but noneth
business combinati

What are the transition rules applying to business combinations or portfolio transfers
that occur(ed) before the effective date of IFRS 17?

The general guidance in IFRS 17 for transition applies to contracts in the scope of IFRS 17
acquired in a business combinations or other transfer. As discussed above, the
recognition date of the acquired contracts is the date of the business combination or of
the transfer. Hence the transition does not require the entity to go back to the origination
of the contracts, but rather to the date the entity acquired them. There is no need to
restate any existing goodwill balances.

There may be business combinations that occurred before the effective date of IFRS 3 or
that were acquired before the first-time adoption of IFRS. The IFRSs allow some
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exceptions to the application to IFRS 3 to these transactions. For example, if a company
deemed a business combination to be a merger under guidance in effect before IFRS 3,
the initial value of the contracts acquired may not have been their fair value. The
recognition date for these contracts is the acquisition date, nonetheless, not the original
inception date. IFRS 17 nonetheless seems to require that the initial value for transition
be the fair value at the acquisition date (see paragraph C4a) if the full retrospective or
modified retrospective approach is used, or at the transition date if the fair-value
approach is used. There may be less evidence about the fair value of contracts at the
acquisition date for these transactions (those for which acquired contracts had not been
measured at fair value on the acquisition date) than for contracts that the entity
measured at fair value on the acquisition date. The actuary may find that the fair-value
approach is more appropriate for these contracts.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
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Appendix to Chapter 11

This Appendix provides further information about IFRS 3.

What is the guidance in IFRS 3 for recognizing and measuring identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in a business combination?

IFRS 3 requires the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination to be measured at fair value at the acquisition date (IFRS 3.10 and 3.18). There
is an emphasis on recognizing all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
reflecting the Board’s desire for entities to fully consider the difference between identifiable
intangible assets and goodwill. The treatment of goodwill (see further below) is different
from the treatment of intangible assets with definite lives and the allocation of the
purchase price among these items affects the emergence of future profits.

To qualify for recognition, identifiable assets and liabilities agd

- must be part of what the acquirer and the acquir, Ih the business
combination rather than the result of a separate i FRS 3.12). Examples of
separate transactions that do not constitut siness combination include

settlement of pre-existing relationship b quirer and acquiree and

Applying the recognition principles
seller had not recognised in its fi i tements. The application of the recognition and
measurement concepts in IFRSf for in le assets and other acquired liabilities is
asurement of tangible invested assets, such as
vested assets, is not in the scope of this IAN. It is
pxceptions to the use of fair value measurement; for

What are some exa
involving contracts i

les of intangible assets arising from a business combination
he scope of IFRS 17 and what are the accounting requirements?

Several potential intangible assets could arise from a business combination involving
contracts issued by insurers. These include, but are not limited to:

- renewal periods for short-duration contracts
- distribution systems or relationships

- customer relationships

- service agreements

- brand names, trademarks, and copyrights

- proprietary software or technology
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- licenses to transact insurance business
- product approvals and registrations
- value of liability guarantee

The following paragraphs provide descriptions of some of the more common intangible
assets identified in combinations of insurance entities and some related considerations. The
first step is, as already noted, to determine if the intangible asset can be recognized. If so,
the entity determines the asset’s fair value and the appropriate technique for the
amortization of the asset. Full development of common valuation and amortisation
methods is beyond the scope of this IAN. While specific possible amortisation approaches
are described for these assets, it should be kept in mind that IAS 38 provides that the
amortisation period used should reflect the pattern in which an asset’s future economic
benefits are expected to be consumed by the entity. If that pattern cannot be determined

to the value of potential renew
on market pricing benchmarks
well established for the
at least some markets ;
of annual premium writ

percentage of the premiums in-force or a percentage
t such benchmarks, the fair value may be based on the
expected future R earnings from renewal contracts, usually net of the cost of
capital, discounte et discount rate commensurate with the risk of the cash flows.
Among the method¥gor amortisation that have been used are:

1. in relation to expected distributable earnings used to derive the fair value estimate;
and

2. based on expected premiums from future renewals.

Value of distribution systems/relationships

The value associated with a distribution system may be significant, especially for
distribution arrangements involving contingent commissions, business processing or
purchases of third-party intermediaries. Fair values of such systems can be derived from
cash flow models and from valuation specialists. Two of the possible amortisation methods
that have been used for future business are 1) in relation to expected distributable
earnings, and 2) proportional to new business premiums.
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Customer relationships and customer list — long duration contracts

Selling unrelated contracts to existing customers may provide the basis for an intangible
asset or it may be included in goodwill, depending on the facts and circumstances. Care
should be taken not to double count the value the asset related to a customer relationship
and the value of a distribution system, if the considerations relate to the same future
contracts and cash flows.

Service agreements

When a seller has entered into third-party contracts for certain services like claims
administration, the acquirer considers whether an intangible asset might exist. There may
be an intangible asset for the service component of investment or insurance contracts when
this component is separated for recognition and measurement. Due consideration is given
to whether the terms of such agreements are at, below or above current market rates. The
intangible asset, if any, may relate to the amount in fees that gt an above-market
margin.

Amortisation methods used for such intangibles inclu

1. in relation to the net revenue (fees charged g ssW&sts rovide the service) earned
for providing the service; and

2. onastraight-line basis over the cont®gt p

Brand names, trademarks, copyrights

The entity being acquired may have a right®o certain items such as identifying names,
slogans and logos that would qfffity for rate recognition as intangible assets.
Identifying the additional cash pows asciated with such items may prove difficult.
Amortisation would likel A3 e projected cash flows used to estimate the fair
value. However, some (@ bts may be renewable indefinitely leading to the conclusion
that the intangible shouQfot be amortised.

Proprietary softw

Some insurers have eveloped expert systems that can be separately recognised as having
value. Such systems include underwriting, distribution/cross selling, and investment
management. Amortisation of such systems-related intangible assets may be a straight line
over an assumed lifetime of the system.

Licenses to transact insurance business

IAS 38.88 requires entities to assess whether intangible assets have either a finite useful life
or indefinite useful life. Licenses might be viewed as having an indefinite useful life, such
that their value is not amortised over time (although they may be subject to an impairment
test). Their value might be derivable from market transactions for shell entities or from
brokers in that market.
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Product approvals or registrations

Product forms that have been approved for issue in certain jurisdictions can be determined
to be intangible assets. The value could be viewed as the alternative cost to develop the
same product and go through the approval process. Alternatively, the value could be
viewed as something more if the product is in a niche market with limited access.
Amortisation of the value could be based on the anticipated revenues expected from the
sales of the new product.

Value of Liability Guarantees

Business combinations sometimes include guarantees regarding the claims liability run out,
such as a guarantee to reimburse the acquirer for losses above a certain amount. The
actuary will need to consider when such a guarantee is an identifiable asset that should be
recognized at its fair value. When the guarantee is treated as a rejnsurance asset and
measured according to the entity’s current accounting policieg erence between the
recorded asset and the fair value of the guarantee is reporte™g hngible asset or
liability. This treatment is consistent with the accounti i ation assets, as given

IFRS 3 requires recognition of goodwill as of islion date. Goodwill is the excess of
the consideration transferred over the n identMable assets and liabilities acquired.

connection with the acquisition. GooRy ly includes intangible assets that do not
satisfy the criteria for recognitigg®{I*RS

h ination of the value of consideration can become
idance on determining the value of consideration

Dte is the fact that transaction costs, such as legal, advisory or
h the transaction are not part of the consideration.

transferred. Of particula
accounting fees a

Goodwill represent 3 payment made by the acquirer in anticipation of future economic
benefits from assets §at are not capable of being individually identified, recognised or
reliably measured individually. The value of goodwill need not be justified, but is subject to
tests of impairment. Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill is to be measured subsequently at
the amount recognised at the acquisition date less any accumulated impairment losses. The
goodwill carrying amount must be tested for impairment in accordance with the
requirements of IAS 36, Impairment of Assets (IFRS 3.B63).

The excess of the consideration transferred over the net of the identifiable assets and
liabilities acquired may be negative. In this case, the acquirer reassesses the fair value of
acquired assets and liabilities to be sure that all acquired assets and assumed liabilities have
been identified, recognised and measured properly. If, after making adjustments for the
reassessment, the excess remains negative, a bargain purchase is said to have occurred.
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There is no goodwill. The gain on the business combination is recognised in the acquirer’s
profit and loss in the period in which the acquisition takes place (IFRS 3.33 — 3.36).

Can there be a deferred tax asset or liability as a result of a business combination or other
transfer?

The guidance for deferred taxes is found in IAS 12 Income Taxes. The fair value of acquired
assets and liabilities assumed in a business transaction may be different from the tax value
of the respective assets or liabilities. Temporary differences arise from the business
combination when the tax bases of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are not affected by the business combination or are affected differently. For example, the
initial value of insurance contracts acquired in a business combination is fair value, but the
tax basis of the contracts may remain at the basis that it had to the seller. This difference is
generally a taxable temporary difference which gives rise to a deferred tax asset or liability.
(IAS 12.19) The deferred tax asset or liability is the amount of tj erence multiplied by
the tax rate that is expected to apply when the difference redg ce the calculation
may require a projection of the reversal of the differenc gary to reflect varying
tax rates. There is however no discounting in the calc erred tax asset or
liability.

The resulting deferred tax asset or liability affegts goofwill TW&S 12.66). When a deferred tax
asset or liability is recognized as a result of afliffe etween the fair value of an item
and its tax value in a business combinatiofgthiSlifference is considered in the
determination of the goodwill or the gmou tMbargain purchase gain.

Note that the recognition of a d asset depends on the entity being able to assert
that the asset is recoverable. Affleferredita®asset is generally recognised for deductible
temporary differences to the eXgent thalllit is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the dedu m difference can be utilized. The carrying amount of a
deferred tax asset is ré Be end of each reporting period. The entity reduces the
carrying amount gfa defo®ged tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable xv ill ® available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred
tax asset to be utiliAM Any such reduction can be reversed to the extent that it
subsequently becom¥ probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available for the asset
to be utilized.

What are the disclosure requirements related to business combinations?

Disclosure guidance for business combinations is found in IFRS 3, B64-B67. The disclosures
include both qualitative and quantitative notes that “enable users of [the entity’s] financial
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination”. The
disclosures do not supplant disclosures required by IFRS 17. It may be necessary to make
some of the disclosures for the acquired business separately. Although not explicitly stated
in IFRS 17 or in IFRS 3, these disclosures may apply to transfers as well.
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Chapter 12 - Transition

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

12.A. What does this chapter address?

12.B.

12.C.

12.1

12.2.

12.3.

This chapter considers the one-time event of presenting statements applying IFRS 17 for
the first time. It has four sections: an overview and then a section for each of the three
transition approaches described in IFRS 17 — the retrospective approach of IAS 8 and the
alternative approaches introduced by IFRS 17, modified retrospective and fair value. The
chapter has a sample timeline. It also references content from chapter 10 on fair value
measurement.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?
Appendix C of IFRS 17 provides guidance on this topic.

What other IAA documents are relevant to this topi

|FRS 17?
s are described in Appendix C of IFRS 17

contracts from current accounting stan

None A
. Where does the IASB describe the req 'rw ansition of the in-force insurance
s

The effective date, requirements a roa

and the accompanying Basis f, ncl

The transition requirements fgply whiin an entity first applies IFRS 17.

first applies IFRS d the date of initial application. Some jurisdictions may adopt
other effective da

What IFRS 17 comparative information is required?

There is a requirement to provide IFRS 17 financial statements (comparatives) as of the
beginning of the period immediately preceding the date of initial application.

The dates that follow apply for entities with quarterly financial reporting and an assumed
date of initial application of 1 January 2022. Analogous dates would apply in other
situations.

On 31 March 2022 the entity will report the following on the new IFRS 17 basis:
° the 31 December 2020 statement of financial position

° the statement(s) of financial performance for the 3-month period ending 31 March
2021
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12.4.

12.5.

12.6.

12.7.

° the 31 March 2021 statement of financial position will not be presented, but will be
necessary to the extent needed to prepare the 31 March 2021 statement(s) of
financial performance

° the 31 December 2021 statement of financial position

° the statement(s) of financial performance for the 3-month period ending 31 March
2021

° the 31 March 2021 statement of financial position

Further, on 31 March 2021, the entity will disclose the impact of the change in accounting
standards. This disclosure will be as of 31 December 2020.

Can more than one year of IFRS 17 comparative information be presented?

Yes, an entity is permitted to present more than one year of 7 comparative
information (paragraphs C25-C28). The beginning of the eg
period presented (which would be the beginning of th
date of initial application when only one year of co
called the “transition date”. In the example showigi
would be December 31, 2020 (January 1, 2021). If ooses to present two years
of comparative information (both of which seQon IFRS 17), the transition date

would be December 31, 2019 (January 1, 2 aragraphs C2 and C25.

If provided, how is comparative informa arlier periods presented?
If the comparative information osures for earlier periods are adjusted by
applying IFRS 17, question 1 ies. If the comparative information and

justed, paragraph C27 requires the entity to

disclosures for earlier period
i as not been adjusted, disclose that it has been

RS 9 is deferred until 1 January 2021, what is the interaction
e financial statements?

If the implemeggtion O

with the IFRS 1 @

IFRS 9 does not reQire comparative financial statements. However, the implementation
of IFRS 9 (e.g., the designation of assets) might be different under IFRS 17 than under the
current financial reporting standards. If so, the IFRS 17 comparative financial statements
would be presented assuming the implementation of IFRS 9 that is consistent with IFRS
17. Assuming the above timeline with one year of comparatives, the re-designation of
assets under IFRS 9 would be as of 31 December 2020 for the purposes of IFRS17
comparatives only.

If IFRS 9 is implemented before IFRS 17, are financial assets re-designated when IFRS
17 is implemented?

The guidance for re-designation and related disclosures is in paragraphs C29-C33. If there

are assets designated as fair value through profit or loss to avoid an accounting mismatch,
that designation must be revoked if the accounting mismatch no longer exists under IFRS

17. Otherwise, re-designation of assets is permitted but not required.
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As described in question 12.6 above, the IFRS 17 comparative financial statements would
be presented assuming the implementation of IFRS 9 that will be adopted with IFRS 17.

12.8. What time period does the transition guidance cover?

The transition guidance applies to all insurance contracts in force at the transition date,
which is 31 December 2020 in the above timeline. All insurance contracts issued after that
date would be subject to IFRS 17.

12.9. In addition to IFRS 17, what other guidance applies to transition?

Implementing IFRS 17 is considered a change in accounting policy, so IAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Changes in Accounting Policies applies,
except, per paragraph C3, the entity need not disclose the quantitative information
required by paragraph 28(f) of IAS 8.

12.10. What is the impact on previous business combination ba paragraph C4(b) of
IFRS17?

Paragraph C4(b) requires the entity to derecognise ed to business
combinations that would not have existed had IF ect at the time of the
business combination. For example, value of busin@ss i¥d (VOBA) balances will be
derecognised, but goodwill balances will be e transition date.

12.11. What is to be measured or determine
At the transition date, the followingi each group of contracts:

° the carrying value of the iglitYQQr asset), with separate measurement of the risk
adjustment and the CSiil or losggcoWponent,

”

. the “locked-in disg ing the discount rate used for CSM accretion,

° the accumulat gp OCl option is elected), and

° the balan
approachi

grtised insurance acquisition cash flows (unless the fair value

12.12. How should thes@items be measured or determined?

Appendix C describes three approaches for transition: full retrospective, modified
retrospective and fair value.

The measurement of fulfilment cash flows at the transition date is a straightforward
application of paragraphs 33-37. However, the CSM or loss component, the locked-in
discount rate and the accumulated OCI all require information from the date of initial
recognition, which may be many years before the date of transition. These items are
therefore the focus of the transition guidance.

The following questions of this Chapter describe the identification of groups of contracts,
the determination of the locked-in discount rate, the measurement of accumulated OClI,
and the measurement of the CSM or loss component under the three approaches (full
retrospective, modified retrospective, fair value).
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12.13. How does the entity decide which approach to use for each group of contracts?

As set out in paragraph C5, the full retrospective approach must be used unless it is
impracticable to do so, in which case the entity must choose between the modified
retrospective approach and the fair value approach. However, if reasonable and
supportable information necessary to apply the modified retrospective approach is not
available, the fair value approach must be used.

12.14. How does the entity identify groups of contracts at transition?

Paragraphs 14-24 describe the criteria for identifying groups of contracts. Under the full
retrospective approach, identification of groups requires the assessment of these criteria
as at the date of initial recognition of the contracts in each group. If this information is not
available, the full retrospective approach would not be used. Identification of groups
under the modified retrospective approach and the fair value approach are described in
later questions of this chapter.

12.15. What other information is needed to use the full ret

See questions 12.24 to 12.32. If any material infor
retrospective approach would not be used.

12.16. Would multiple approaches be used on a le gluUp

For a group of contracts, only one appr@achSQgould pplied.

12.17. What does impracticable mean?
IAS 8 states:

“Applying a requirement is i le When the entity cannot apply it after making
every reasonable effor particular prior period, it is impracticable to apply
a change in an acco blicy retrospectively or to make a retrospective restatement to
correct an error if:

(a) the effects pective application or retrospective restatement are not

(b) the retrospectiWp application or retrospective restatement requires assumptions
about what management’s intent would have been in that period; or

(c) the retrospective application or retrospective restatement requires significant
estimates of amounts and it is impossible to distinguish objectively information
about those estimates that:

. provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the date(s) as at which those
amounts are to be recognised, measured or disclosed; and

Il.  would have been available when the financial statements for that prior period
were authorised for issue from other information.”

Effectively, this means that the entity must demonstrate that although it has made every
reasonable effort to gather the necessary information to enable it to determine the
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12.18.

12.19.

12.20.

12.21.

12.22.

12.23.

required elements retrospectively, that information is not available, or not available in a
form that would enable it to be used without undue cost and effort. Information might be
unavailable for a variety of reasons including:

° the information is no longer in the entity’s possession;

° the information is available but outside the entity’s normal retention policy and so
might not be complete;

° the entity has the information but is unusable because of technological constraints;

. the need to determine what decisions management might have taken in the past
(e.g., declaration of bonus rates);

. the information requires hindsight to understand management’s intent or the
entity’s view.

Paragraph BC378 gives examples of items needed for retrg pplication for which

measurement would often be impracticable.

Are separate disclosures required for groups usin Sroaches?

Yes. Paragraphs 114-116 describe the required dis

After transition, can new contracts be ad eroups established at transition?

TW116 would prohibit new contracts being
t®modified retrospective approach or the

The disclosure requirements of paragra
added to groups measured at trangi
fair value approach.

What is different for groups #f insur ontracts with (vs. without) direct

participation features?

C

s not needed for CSM accretion or future CSM adjustments
option is elected.

The locked-in discoug
and so is only require

What is differe
approach?

s of contracts measured using the premium allocation

For the liability for ¥emaining coverage, there is no risk adjustment or CSM or loss
component to be determined at transition. Also, the locked-in discount rate is not
needed.

What is different for incurred claims liabilities?

There is no CSM or loss component to be determined at transition. The locked-in discount
rate is not needed for CSM accretion or future CSM adjustments and so is only required if
the OCl option is elected.

What is different for groups of reinsurance contracts?

There is never a loss component for groups of reinsurance contracts. This is true even if
(per paragraph 66(c)(ii)) losses are recognised in profit and loss (rather than adjusting the
CSM) to mirror the treatment applying to a group of underlying direct contracts.
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12.24. Are simplifications and approximations permitted when applying the full retrospective
approach?

The full retrospective approach involves looking back to the date of initial recognition and
determining the liability (and in particular, the CSM or loss component) on that date as if
IFRS 17 had been in effect. Then, to determine the CSM or loss component at the
transition date, the CSM or loss component at the date of initial recognition would be
adjusted through time as described in paragraphs 43-45 (CSM) and 50-52 (loss
component).

Simplifications and approximations are permitted if they do not have a material impact on
the results. If any material information is not available, the full retrospective approach
would not be used.

12.25. How are groups of contracts identified?

acts. Under the full
sment of these criteria

Paragraphs 14-24 describe the criteria for identifying
retrospective approach, identification of groups re
as at the date of initial recognition of the contrac

12.26. How is the locked-in discount rate deter d?

t tha uld have been established at the
h 36.

The locked-in discount rate is the disco
date of initial recognition as described in

12.27. How is the liability (and in particu
date of initial recognition?

or loss component) determined at the

Actual policy data for theco cts inflhe group would be used. Information (e.g.,
cq™®n expenses) required to estimate future cash flows,

the risk adjustment Sl 0 l0ss component would, to the extent possible, be

recognition, wit » of hindsight.

In particular, the adjustment at the date of initial recognition should reflect the
assessment of risk Wom the perspective of the entity as at the date of initial recognition.
As noted in question 12.26 above, the discount rate would be the discount rate that
would have been established at the date of initial recognition as described in paragraph
36.

12.28. How is the CSM or loss component measured at the transition date?

The CSM or loss component at the transition date would be measured by taking the CSM
or loss component at the date of initial recognition (determined as in question 12.27
above) and adjusting through time as described in paragraphs 43-45 (CSM) and 50-52
(loss component) of IFRS 17.
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12.29. Should contracts that are not in-force at the transition date, but which at the date of
initial recognition would have been included in the group of contracts as determined
in question 12.25 above, be included in the retrospective calculation?

Yes. All contracts that were in the group at the date of initial recognition would contribute
to the determination of the liability at the date of initial recognition. Furthermore, cash
flows and coverage units associated with these contracts would contribute to the
adjusting through time of the CSM or loss component described in question 12.28 above.

12.30. What pattern should be used for CSM amortisation between the date of initial
recognition and the transition date?

The adjustments made to the CSM or loss component would, to the extent possible, be
consistent with the information that would have been available at the date each
adjustment would have been made, without the use of hindsight. However, per
paragraph C3(b), for groups of contracts with direct particig gtures, the option
described in paragraph B115 (to reflect the economic offse¥ ives in profit and
loss rather than the CSM) would not be applied.

The adjustments to the CSM or loss component as at each reporting date
between the date of initial application and the trar@i

component would be materially similar, adj be made less frequently, (e.g.,
annually).

12.31. If the OCI option is elected, how is the ted OCI at the transition date
measured?
For groups of contracts for wifch cha in assumptions that relate to financial risk do

not have a substantial effect @ the aflounts paid to the policyholder, the accumulated
OCl at transition is the een the fulfilment cash flows measured using the
locked-in discount ra a Ifilment cash flows measured using the discount rate in

a substantial effeqbn the amounts paid to the policyholder but which are not insurance
contracts with dire® participating features where the entity holds the underlying items
(i.e., when paragraph 88 applies), the systematic allocation that would have been
adopted at the date of initial recognition (per paragraph B132) would be determined and
applied retrospectively to measure the accumulated OCI at transition.

For groups of contracts applying the premium allocation approach, the accumulated OCI
at transition for the liability for incurred claims is the difference between the fulfilment
cash flows measured using the discount rate in effect at the date the claim was incurred
and the fulfilment cash flows measured using the discount rate in effect at the transition
date.

For groups of contracts with direct participation features where the entity holds the
underlying items (i.e., when paragraph 89 applies), the accumulated OCI at transition
would be measured retrospectively applying paragraphs B134-B136.
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12.32. How is the balance of unamortised insurance acquisition cash flows determined?

The balance of unamortised insurance acquisition cash flows would be determined by
taking the insurance acquisition cash flows allocated to the group for the purpose of
calculating the CSM or loss component at the date of initial recognition and removing the
portion that would have been amortised under paragraph B125.

12.33. When can the modified retrospective approach be used?

When it is impracticable to apply the full retrospective approach to a group of contracts,
the entity must choose to use either the modified retrospective approach or the fair value
approach. However, the entity may only choose the modified retrospective approach if it
can obtain reasonable and supportable information necessary to do so. If not, as per the
requirements of IFRS17, the fair value approach must be useg

12.34. What is the modified retrospective approach trying to 4

The objective of the modified retrospective approac® togch e closest outcome to

the full retrospective approach possible.
12.35. How does the entity achieve this objective?

The entity would maximise the use of infofgati would have been used to apply
the full retrospective approach, though he extent that information is reasonable
and supportable and available wit or effort.

Appendix C describes specific yfi ns, each of which is permitted only to the extent
that the entity does not hav nd supportable information to apply the full

" “available information” should be read as “reasonable

RN that is available without undue cost or effort”.
12.36. How are group ontracts identified under the modified retrospective approach?

If the information i
paragraphs 14-24.

vailable, groups of contracts would be identified applying

Paragraph 14 requires the identification of portfolios of insurance contracts, where a
portfolio comprises contracts that are subject to similar risks and managed together. To
the extent information is not available, one of the permitted modifications of the
modified retrospective approach allows the entity to identify portfolios of contracts based
on how its business is managed at transition.

Furthermore, insurance contracts with direct participation features would be in different
portfolios than contracts without direct participation features. At the time of transition,
information from the date of initial recognition about whether contracts would have met
the definition of insurance contracts with direct participation features when they were
issued may not be available. In this case, one of the permitted modifications of the
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modified retrospective approach allows the entity to use information available at
transition to determine whether a contract meets the definition of an insurance contract
with direct participation features, i.e., contracts would be included in a portfolio of
insurance contracts with direct participation features if they meet the definition of
insurance contracts with direct participation features at the date of transition.

Paragraphs 15-21 indicate that portfolios are split into three (or more if desired) groups
based on the profitability of contracts at initial recognition. At the time of transition,
information from the date of initial recognition about the profitability of contracts issued
in past years may not be available. In this case, one of the permitted modifications of the
modified retrospective approach allows the entity to use information available at
transition to assess the profitability of contracts for the purpose of grouping. That is,
information about the profitability of contracts currently being issued can be applied to
similar contracts issued in past years. However, such informatj ust be reasonable and
supportable, otherwise the fair value approach would be Ronger it has been
since the policy has been issued may be a consideratio g if the information
at transition is reasonable and supportable.

a phsg®4-21 to be further divided
e nOQyftiuded in the same group.
ent when information is not

Paragraph 22 requires the groups determined pe
so that contracts issued more than one year apart
Paragraph C10 permits a modification of tQjs

available. This modification allows the egtit gro ontracts issued more than one
year apart to allow the application of the d retrospective approach whenever
reasonable and supportable infor ary to do so is available. For example, if
reasonable and supportable i is only available for contracts issued within five

years of the transition date affd the egti ishes to use the modified retrospective
approach for such contrg il could establish two groups of contracts, viz., those
lon date (for which the modified retrospective

. hose issued more than five years before the transition
date (for which fair WQlue approach would be applied).

12.37. How is the loc ount rate determined under the modified retrospective
approach?

If contracts issued more than one year apart are included in the same group (i.e., the
modification in paragraph C10 is made), the entity is permitted to determine the locked-
in discount rate using the discount rate in effect at the date of transition rather than the
discount rate in effect at the date of initial recognition.

Otherwise, if available, the locked-in discount rate is the discount rate that would have
been established at the date of initial recognition as described in paragraph 36.

If not available, one of the permitted modifications of the modified retrospective
approach allows the entity to use the relationship between an observable yield curve and
the current discount rate to estimate the discount rate as at the date of initial recognition
as follows:
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If there is an observable yield curve that approximates the current discount rate for at
least three years before the transition date, that observable yield curve at the date of
initial recognition would be used to determine the locked-in discount rate.

If such an observable yield curve does not exist, but there is an observable yield curve
with a reasonably consistent spread to the current discount rate, the average spread
between that observable yield curve and the current discount rate would be applied to
that observable yield curve at the date of initial recognition to determine the locked-in
discount rate. The average spread should be an average over at least three years before
the transition date (paragraph C13b).

12.38. How is the CSM or loss component at the transition date measured under the
modified retrospective approach?

The full retrospective approach would be used to the extent information is available. The
following modifications are permitted to the extent inform

Insurance contracts without direct participation featu

° Discretionary cash flows — The entity would i at the transition date
(rather than the date of initial recognition) i ow to identify

discretionary cash flows for the purpo ragraphs B94-B96. That is,
the entity would use policies on discqgti yments that apply at the date of
transition if the policies on discre ayments that applied at the time of initial

recognition are not available.

estimated as the futur
information is availabl

e transition date.

nt — The risk adjustment at the date of initial recognition would be
estimated as Whe risk adjustment at the transition date adjusted by the expected
release of risk before that date. The expected release of risk would be based on the
release of risk for similar contracts the entity is issuing at the transition date
(paragraph C14).

. CSM amortisation — The entity would estimate the amount of CSM recognised in
profit or loss because of the transfer of services (paragraph 44(e) between the date
of initial recognition and the transition date by comparing the remaining coverage
units (for contracts still in-force at the transition date) with the coverage units
provided under the group of contracts before the transition date.

. Loss component — If there is a loss component at initial recognition, the entity
would estimate the amount allocated to the loss component before the transition
date using a systematic allocation consistent with the modifications adopted above.
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Insurance contracts with direct participation features

The entity would measure the CSM at the transition date as the total fair value of the
underlying items at the transition date minus:

. the fulfilment cash flows at the transition date, adjusted as described in paragraph
C17(c), and

° (if CSM), minus the amount of CSM that relates to service provided before the
transition date, estimated by comparing the remaining coverage units with the
coverage units provided under the group of contracts before the transition,

° (if loss component), adjust the loss component to nil and increase the liability for
remaining covering by the same amount.

If information is not available to apply a permitted modification, the fair value approach
must be used.

12.39. If the OCI option is elected, how is the accumulated @£l 3 sition date
measured under the modified retrospective appro

For contracts with direct participation features wiRgRre e e holds the underlying
items (i.e., when paragraph B134 applies), the accufgula Cl at transition would be the

accumulated OCI on the underlying items

Otherwise, the accumulated OCI at tran®@ion uld be:

° the difference between the h flows measured using the locked-in
discount rate and the fu h flows measured using the discount rate in
effect at the date of tr ntracts for which changes in assumptions that
relate to financial g ot hglfe a substantial effect on the amounts paid to the
policyholder, a

° nil for contracts
substanti

hich changes in assumptions that relate to financial risk have a
e amounts paid to the policyholder.

Furthermore, @f€ontracts issued more than one year apart are included in the same
group (i.e., the@odification in paragraph C10 is made), the entity is permitted to
determine the accumulated OCI as nil.

Note that the accumulated OCI would be nil whenever (per the first paragraph of
question 12.36 above) the entity chooses to determine the locked-in discount rate as the
discount rate in effect at the date of transition.

12.40. How is the balance of unamortised insurance acquisition cash flows determined
under the modified retrospective approach?

The modification related to future cash flows in question 12.37 above can be used if the
information required to determine the balance of unamortised insurance acquisition cash
flows retrospectively (see question 12.31) is not available.
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12.41. What is the fair value used for?

The CSM or loss component at transition is determined as the fair value of a group of
contracts at the transition date minus the fulfilment cash flows of the group as at the
transition date.

12.42. How are groups of contracts identified under the fair value approach?

Per paragraphs C21-C22, the entity may choose to use the information available at
transition rather than the information as at initial recognition to identify groups of
contracts. This includes identifying portfolios of insurance contracts (see question 12.35

above).

Furthermore, per paragraph C23, the entity may choose not to apply paragraph 22 and

Per paragraph C23, the entity may cho
discount rate in effect at the date

Note that the same locked-in
portfolio.

of ghntracts as at the transition date measured?

12.44. How is the fair value g

JQ
-

acts is analogous to the consideration received/paid on
Ness combination. It is the amount the entity would have to pay
th®obligations and risks of the group.

The fair value of a g
portfolio transfer or b
a third party to

IFRS 13 Fair Value
10 for guidance on
IFRS 17.

The fair value at the date of transition would use observable market information,
assumptions, economic information, views on the cost of risk etc. as at the date of
transition.

easurement provides guidance on measuring fair value. See chapter
e application of IFRS 13 to insurance contracts on transition to

12.45. How are the fulfilment cash flows of the group as at the transition date measured?

The measurement of fulfilment cash flows at the transition date is described in
paragraphs 33-37.
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12.46. If the OCI option is elected, how is the accumulated OCI at the transition date
measured under the fair value approach?

For contracts with direct participation features where the entity holds the underlying
items (i.e., when paragraph B134 applies), the accumulated OCI at transition would be the
accumulated OCI on the underlying items.

Otherwise, the entity can choose to set the accumulated OCI to nil, or to measure the
accumulated OCI retrospectively if the information is available.

12.47. Is balance of unamortised insurance acquisition cash flows required under the fair
value approach?

No.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
?\
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Section D — Other IFRS 17 Topics

This section includes three chapters that cover topics that do not logically fall within any of the
other sections. These are:

° Embedded Derivatives — Chapter 13
. Contract Modifications and Derecognition - Chapter 14
° Measurement, Presentation and Disclosure — Chapter 15

Chapter 13 discusses the issues which may arise in detecting and identifying embedded
derivatives in such contracts which may need to be separated. This chapter only considers the
requirements under IFRS 17 for the separation of certain derivatives embedded in contracts
subject to the scope of IFRS 17. Further information about embedded derivatives based on
other IFRS is found in IAN 10 Embedded Derivatives.

Chapter 14 discusses what is and is not considered to be a contr8 Wation and how to
account for them. The chapter also discusses the circumsta h a contract is
derecognised whether due to a contract modification or

Chapter 15 discusses the measurement, presentation arfg di s resulting from IFRS 17. In
many instances these are significantly different fr hosQof mOst existing accounting regimes
used for insurance contracts and companies. Th ap o considers changes in

presentation permitted or required when usirfitheQ@A. Any changes permitted when using
the VFA are discussed in chapter 8.
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Chapter 13 - Embedded Derivatives

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

13.A. What does this chapter address?

13.B.

13.C.

13.1.

13.2.

This chapter considers the requirements under IFRS 17 for the separation of certain
derivatives embedded in contracts subject to the scope of IFRS 17. This chapter discusses
the issues which may arise in detecting and identifying embedded derivatives in such
contracts which may need to be separated. Further information about embedded
derivatives based on other IFRS is found in the existing IAN 10 Embedded Derivatives.

Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?
Paragraphs 11c and B10 provide guidance on this topic.
What other IAA documents are relevant to this topic?
None

What is a derivative and an embedded derivativ

Derivatives and embedded derivatives are d
IAS 39, IFRS 9 differentiates between deri

accordingly references to “derivatives
and 70 (a) of IFRS17 relating to the premi
to the definition of a derivative rath

IFRNin paragraph 4.3.1. As in

mbedded derivatives and

d in the contract” (as in paragraphs 54 (a)
tion approach) might be seen to refer

hat of an embedded derivative.

Paragraph 4.3.3 of IFRS 9 inciffdes co ns for separating an embedded derivative,
which are applicable accordifg to parfgraph 11 (a) of IFRS 17 to insurance contracts and
other contracts in the o] . The guidance regarding definition of derivatives
and embedded deri e conditions for separation of those has not changed
from those in | ccordingly the contents of IAN 10 Embedded Derivatives
referring to IAS alid. This also applies to other aspects of accounting for

t are to be separated.

What are the IFRS ¥/ requirements on the accounting for derivatives embedded in the
contract and embedded derivatives?

The requirements in IFRS 17 on the accounting for derivatives embedded in the contract
and embedded derivatives are limited (see paragraph 11(a) as noted above).

IFRS 9 defines a derivative as a “financial instrument or other contract within the scope of”
and IFRS 9 as “with all three of the following characteristics:

a. Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial
instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates,
credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial
variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called
the ‘underlying’).
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13.3.

b. It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than
would be required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a
similar response to changes in market factors.

c. It is settled at a future date.”
On the conditions for separating an embedded derivative in paragraph 4.3.3 of IFRS 9:

° Paragraph 4.3.3 (b) (meeting stand-alone the definition of a derivative) might be
seen as not met if the embedded derivative would be considered stand alone under
IFRS 17 (see paragraphs B10 of IFRS 17 and 2.1 (e) of IFRS 9).

° Paragraph 4.3.3 (c) (fair value measurement of the entire contract) for separation
might be seen to be met generally by contracts in the scope of IFRS 17 since the
condition might be seen to refer explicitly to the measurement of the entire
contract.

Paragraph B.4.3.1 of IFRS 9 notes that paragraph 4.3.3 of | dires the entity to

Embedded derivatives that are not required
considered as part of the insurance contra

Paragraph 8 of IFRS 4 stated
insurer need not separatgga

ception to the requirements in IAS 39, an

at fair value a policyholder's option to surrender
unt (or for an amount based on a fixed amount and
an interest rate), eve ise price differs from the carrying amount of the host

requirement to @ bedded derivatives of that kind, if they meet the conditions in
paragraph 4.3.3. &

In addition, the IFR¥4 implementation guidance (IG3 and 4) provided 20 examples of
products, some with and some without embedded derivatives requiring separation. The
IFRS 4 implementation guidance has not been included in the implementation guidance
to IFRS 17. As a consequence, there may be a difference in the scope of embedded
derivatives requiring separation. This might require an assessment based on the nature of
individual contract types.

Experience of applying IFRS 4 showed that in many countries the majority of insurance
products do not contain embedded derivatives which require separation. It is unclear yet
whether the mentioned changes might have a different result.
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13.4. Are there specific disclosure requirements for embedded derivatives?

For embedded derivatives that are not separated and so are part of an insurance
contract, there are no additional specific disclosure requirements in IFRS 17. For
reference in IFRS 4, paragraph 39(e) specifically required that information about the
exposure to market risk be disclosed if such embedded derivatives are not measured and
presented at fair value through profit or loss.

For embedded derivatives that are separated, the disclosure requirements are as set out
in IFRS 17.

Q
N
Qg)\z\
?\
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Chapter 14 - Contract Modifications and Derecognition

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

14.A. What does this chapter address?

This chapter considers the treatment under IFRS 17 of contract modification to insurance
contracts, including reinsurance contracts, and de-recognition including on transfer to
third parties.

It discusses what is a contract modification and which of these:

° result in the derecognition of the original contract and recognition of the modified
contract as a new contract for a deemed premium; or

° can simply be treated as a change in estimates.

The chapter also describes:

. a possible approach for determining the de i hen the modification is

Paragraphs 72 to 77 provide gui
BC 306 and 316-322 also pr
14.C. What other IAA documents relev@int to this topic?

None
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This flowchart is included to help in understanding whether or not there is a contract
modification which needs to be accounted for. It is designed to be used in conjunction
with the questions in this chapter.

Change in contract?

no /\ yes

£ —~
No contract Change due to exercising of
modification contractual right(s)?

PN

yes 0
/
No contract modification . e
Sp modification
per paragraph 72
AN
De-recognition of original S no

contract \
Recc;imt:(r)n::an(:;/v rc]o7n7tr t Reflect as change in
Per paragrap 2 cash flow estimates
14.1. Whatis a contracE

Refer to chapter 1 “Classification of Contracts and Contract Boundaries”.
14.2. How does IFRS 17 define a Contract Modification?

IFRS 17 defines a contract modification as a change to the legally enforceable terms of the
contract, for example, either by agreement between the parties to the contract or by
change in law or regulation (see paragraph 72). Note that the exercise of any rights or
options available under the contract, by one or both parties, are not contract

modifications (see paragraph 72) and form part of the expected cash flows of original
contract.

196



Draft Educational Note February 2019

14.3. What is a contract modification?

Examples of what is and is not a contract modification for IFRS 17 purposes are given
below. These examples are not a complete or exhaustive list.

(a) The following are considered to be a contract modification (so long as it does not
arise from an option available to either the insurer or policyholder) as they require
the agreement of both insurer and policyholder to take affect (note, this does not
include any requirement to notify the other party in order to exercise the option):

(i) anincrease or decrease in the nature or level of benefits under the contract,
note these could include changes to extend or reduce the period of cover
under the contract (i.e., affect the contract boundary) — unless they arise from
the exercise of an option under the contract, or they only effect coverage
beyond the contract boundary (refer Chapter 1);

(ii)  the addition or removal of benefits under the

(iii) the addition or removal of coverages un 8
(iv) the addition or removal of options or ilable under the contract;
(v) anychange to premiums;

(vi) any change of reinsurance co and conditions requiring the
consent of both parties;

(vii) by change to contractufter, ksing from change in regulation;
(b)  The following are consi no be a contract modification:

(i) the exercise of any dgtions ajailable to the policyholder under the terms of the

contract (or | it ontract boundary, that do not require the
agreement (this does not include any requirement to notify the
other party in er to exercise), for example:

renew the contract under the terms of the contract without

° an option to surrender the contract or to cease paying premiums while still
receiving benefits under the contract;

° exercise of a contractual right to suspend and later resume cover under the
contract without a new risk assessment;

o an option to increase cover on renewal e.g., with consumer price index or
at other times under the contract (e.g., guaranteed future insurance
options) without further underwriting;

° contracts arising from guaranteed insurability options as these form part of
the original contract terms and are neither a new contract nor a contract
modification (e.g., guaranteed annuitisation option under a deferred
annuity contract);
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(ii) the exercise of any options available to the insurer under the terms of the
contract (or law), within the contract boundary, that do not require the
agreement of the policyholder (the need to notify the other party to exercise the
option does not mean their agreement is required, unless they have right to
refuse the exercise of the option), for example:

° changes to premium or benefits permitted under terms of the contract, law
or regulation. Note:

o) if the policyholder has the right to terminate the contract upon such
a change, this does not mean agreement of both parties is required
for the insurer to exercise the right to make such changes, simply
that it gives the policyholder rights. In both cases they can be
exercised without the agreement of the other party and hence these
are not contract modifications;

where the insurer has the right or pga y to change the

premium is outside

e quesStion 14.3) form part of the expected
cash flows under the contract (see ¢chapt sOpng as they are within the contract
boundary (see chapter 1). Thatis b

a) measuring it upon initigfrecogniti

B62; and

14.5. What about the exerclyof a contractual option to add features that is outside the
contract boun

under paragraphs 32 -35, paragraphs B61 and

b)  upon subsequ kure t under paragraph 40.

A special case magccur if there is a contractual right to add new features to the original
contract which col§l be outside the contract boundary because the entity is able to
reprice or underwrite the contract for the additional feature added at the time it is
added.

IFRS 17 treats cash flows outside the contract boundary as relating to future insurance
contracts (paragraph 35) and such a new feature might be eligible to be treated as a new
contract.

The treatment of contractual options and their interaction with the contract boundary
was discussed at the IASB May 2018 TRG meeting (see AP0O3 Cash flows within the
contract boundary and the IASB Summary of the May TRG Meeting).

It was observed by the TRG, that unless the contractual option of itself, even before
exercise, qualifies as a separate contract (see IASB Feb 18 TRG paper AP01 Separation of
insurance components of a single insurance contract and IASB TRG summary for the
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14.6.

limited circumstances in which this may apply), then it is a contractual feature of the
insurance contract. In that case it is included in measurement of the original contract to
the extent it is with in the contract boundary.

The staff view was that:

° as the unit of account is the contract as a whole, the contract boundary depends on
the substantive rights and obligations as a whole; and

° the ability to reprice a part (e.g., the feature being added on exercise of the option)
does not mean that part has a different contract boundary.

° If the addition, upon exercise of the option, was able to be repriced at time of
exercise, then the insurer would need to decide whether there was any contractual
obligation that needed to be measured prior to exercise.

(i.e., the cash flows
of the new feature and the original contract are highly inté otreatitasa
separate new contract.

If not distinct, then the addition of new features utsjgle of the contract
boundary (e.g., because they can be underwritten i
appropriate price for the change in insuranc®gggk, i
might be treated as a contract modificatio
underwrite the new feature effectively e consent of both parties is required. An
example of such a feature is the r ayment limits (with risk assessment for the
reduction) that occurs in Germ insurance.

e alternative TRG view is taken)
of addition, as the ability to

If the contract modification ifnot a sgecifed modification under paragraph 72, then
paragraph 73 applies, i. is not de-recognised and the changes in cash flows

Which are the s
original and reco

tract modifications that result in the derecognition of the
ion of the modified contract as a new contract?

These are those coMtract modifications specified in paragraph 72, (“specified contract
modifications”). The discussion in the Basis for Conclusions (see BC317 — BC320) indicates
that these criteria in paragraph 72 capture modifications that IASB sees as resulting in
significantly different accounting treatment. For example, if the modified terms had
applied at inception, they would have caused differences in the applicability of IFRS17, or
the separation of components, or the contract boundary (only if substantially different),
or the applicability of the measurement model of the original contract.

The specified criteria are such that had the contract had been written at inception as now
modified, it would:

° not have been classified as an insurance contract (see chapter 1); or
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14.7.

14.8.

. have been included in the different group from the one it was included in at initial
recognition; or

. have a substantially different contract boundary; or

° have had different components separated, resulting in a different insurance
contract for IFRS 17; or

. if the PAA was applied to the contract and it would not have qualified (see Chapter
7); or

° have qualified (or ceased to qualify) for treatment as an insurance contract with
direct participation features.

How do contract modifications or the exercise of options available under the contract
influence the contract boundary?

The contract boundary is re-assessed in each reporting peg pragraph B64) and

ends when the criteria of paragraphs 34 are fulfilled (s

What qualifies as a substantially different contrac ry foOPthe purposes of

paragraph 72?

The intent in setting the criteria in paragra wato capture those contract
modifications that would result in a signifiCQgtly nt accounting treatment (see
BC317-BC320) for the modified contractRgd new terms always applied and only those
contract modifications (see BC320

ia for assessing if the change in contract
t inception, might impact on the accounting

This indicates that it is possibl cri
boundary is substantial, if it llhd occuge
treatment.

anges the contract boundary in such a way that, if the
at inception as modified, it would:

A contract modificatg
contract had been wri
° have not the PAA, when it was being accounted for under the PAA; or
° would have Reen included in a different group

is clearly a contract modification that results in a significantly different accounting
treatment, as it is captured under the other criteria in paragraph 72.

Other contract boundary changes that possibly could be considered to result in a
significantly different accounting treatment include but are not limited to:

° a change such that the renewal of the contract is now outside the contract
boundary (e.g., the modification gives the insurer the right to reprice the contract at
renewal) so that the contract becomes eligible for the PAA upon renewal; or

° a change to the contract boundary that has a substantial effect on the contract’s
CSM release pattern.
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14.9.

Note that, if the relevant criterion is the impact of the change in contract boundary the
impact of any other modifications to the contract on the contract’s CSM release pattern
would, if material, need to be excluded from this assessment. For example, if the criterion
is simply the change in the contract boundary itself, then a change that increased or
decreased the contract boundary by 50% or more at inception of the contract, might be a
substantial change, but one that changed it by 20% or less might not be a substantial
change, e.g.,

. The extension of a contract term from 20 years to 40 years might be substantial;
and

° The extension of contract that originally provided coverage from age 30 up to age
60 to age 65 might not be substantial.

It should be noted that these examples are for illustrative purggses only and that every
case needs to be considered on its own merits.

How are specified contract modifications accoun or,
The entity:

(a) derecognises the contract being mogifi he group to which it was allocated
at inception by:

Iim®ht value, including the risk adjustment
zero (paragraph 76 (a));

. setting the contributio

and incurred claims t

° adjusting the nunffoer of cgveMge units for expected remaining coverage

(paragraph.74

ion in fulfilment value of the group from setting that for the
tract prior to modification to zero (paragraph 77(a)(i)); and

©)

o) the premium it would have charged for a new contract issued at the
date of contract modification with equivalent terms, net of any
additional premium charged for the modification (paragraph 77(a)(iii));

° per paragraphs 44(c) and 45(c), the CSM can only be adjusted to the extent
that the adjustment does not reduce the CSM below zero, except in the case
of reinsurance held. If there is a loss component already, paragraphs 44(c)(ii),
45(c)(iii) and 50(b) apply;

and

(b) recognises the modified contract as a new contract as at the date of modification
under IFRS 17 assuming the net equivalent premium noted above was paid as at the
date of modification (see paragraph 77(b)).
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14.10. If the insurer does not have contracts with equivalent terms, how is the premium
determined?

The premium is the price that the entity would have charged the policyholder if it had
entered into a contract with equivalent terms at the date of the actual modification (see
paragraph 77(a)(iii)).

The assumptions used in determining the premium would usually be consistent with
those used in determining the liability arising from the modified contract at the date of
actual modification, except for the CSM.

For example, the premium might be determined as the sum of:

° the fulfilment cash flows (the unbiased expected present value of the future cash
flows, excluding the premium being determined and including any taxes on the
premium, acquisition costs for the modified contract, a g adjustment for risk);

IFRS 17 that the

. any other elements not included in fulfilment cash, {8

entity would normally include in setting premiu .2, Qengfhl overheads and
costs not directly attributable to a portfolio ce coNtracts and charge for
capital; and

. the CSM after allowing for any eleme
reflects the entity’s current approgac
business.

in fulfilment cash flows, that
gets when pricing for similar

Note, this may not be the same as
premium possibly could differ,

of the modified contract, and the

fa lue because:

(@) it uses entity-specific agumptiofls for some inputs, including the degree of risk
aversion, where cally uses market participant assumptions in all

(b) it exclud 's own non-performance risk, whereas fair value would include

erformance risk; and

(c) itincludes ti'R entity’s targets for CSM, whereas fair value includes no such margin,
although fair ¥alue implicitly includes a current value for any additional margin that
market participants would require.

14.11. What other types of contract modifications are there?

Apart from specified contract modifications, as per paragraph 72, there are other contract
modifications. Examples could include:

. Addition or removal of benefits, where they do not cause the contract to fall into
another portfolio and hence different group;

° Increase or reduction in benefits, where they do not change grouping;
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Changes to what is covered, e.g., an extension or renovation under home insurance,
or a new car under motor insurance; or

Extension or reduction of the contract term, with no substantial change in benefit
levels, provided this does not materially change the contract boundary or change
eligibility for PAA.

14.12. How are other contract modifications accounted for?

Contract modifications not specified in paragraph 72 are accounted for by treating the
resulting changes in the fulfilment cash flows (i.e., expected cash flows, risk adjustment)
as a change in estimates as per paragraphs 40-52 (see paragraph 73).

14.13. When can contracts be derecognised?

Contracts can be derecognised only when:

the group to whi

A specified contract modification occurs (see qu
modified contract is treated as a new contrac
from the contract pre and post modificatio

gle), in this case the
ts all obligations arising

Sssu

A contract is transferred to a third par: ee Mragraph 77 and question 14.14

below), this applies only when the c ac sferred as a whole including any
obligation for incurred claims arisiTQ&fr ast coverage, otherwise the contract in
full has not been extinguishegand t ®e derecognised as per paragraph 74; or

All obligations under th racqEre extinguished (see question 14.15 below). This
includes not only the ligbility fogfu®re coverage but also for incurred claims arising
from past coveragg ragrgbh 74(a)).

ansferred to a third party derecognised?

ia) that is the contract being transferred is derecognised from
was allocated at inception by:

setting the coWtribution of its fulfilment value (including the risk adjustment and
incurred claims) to the group to zero;

adjusting the number of coverage units (see paragraph 76(c))
adjusting the CSM of the group for the difference between:

o the reduction in the insurance contract liability of the group from setting that
for the contract prior to modification to zero; and

o the premium charged by the third party for transfer of the contract.
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14.15. How are contracts derecognised other than due to a specified contract modification or
transfer to a third party?

In a similar way to the derecognition of a contract upon a specified contract modification
(per paragraph 72 criteria), that is the contract being transferred is derecognised from the
group to which it was allocated at inception by:

. setting the contribution of its fulfilment value (including the risk adjustment
and incurred claims) to the group to zero;

° adjusting the number of coverage units (paragraph 76(c));

° adjusting the CSM of the group for the reduction in fulfiiment value of the
group from setting the fulfilment value relating to future service for the
contract being derecognized to zero.

14.16. What if only the obligation for future coverage is transfegf®

In this case, the contract does not qualify for derecognij
treated as a contract modification.

14.17. How are modifications to reinsurance co ts a§counted for?
Reinsurance contracts are insurance co modifications to them are
accounted for in the same way as for oth®8A nce (paragraph 4), see also chapter 9.

To the extent that they chan®a the exllected cash flows under the reinsurance contract,

they are:

° reflected in the eastmement of the reinsurance contract (as per paragraphs 40-
46 and 6 .

° not reflect the’CSM of the reinsurance contract to the extent that they do not
adjust the CR of the underlying group of insurance contracts (see paragraph 66(c))

and relate to future service.
14.19. How are contract modifications and derecognition accounted for under the PAA?

The requirements of paragraphs 73, 76 and 77 presume that the contract is being
measured under the GMA. Where PAA applies to a contract (and in the case of a contract
modification it continues to qualify for PAA), one possible interpretation is that they have
no effect for PAA contracts.

Another possible approach is to apply the requirements of paragraphs 73, 76 and 77
appropriately modified for PAA, e.g.,

(a) For non-specified contract modifications, as per the answer to Q14.12 and Q14.15,
(because a change in estimates under PAA only impacts the liability for incurred
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claims as per paragraph 40 (b)) this element would reflect this change if
appropriate. However, if the contract modification where to:

(i)  cause the group of which it is a part to be viewed as onerous, paragraphs 57
and 58 would apply and liability for remaining coverage would also change as
per these paragraphs; or

(ii)  cause the premiums received to change then this would be reflected in the
liability for remaining coverage as per paragraph 55.

(b) For specified contract modifications, the answer to Q14.9 applies, modified for PAA
as follows:

(i)  de-recognises the modified contract from the group of which it is part by
setting the contribution of its carrying value to the group including liability for

(ii)  recognises the modified contract as a new con'Qg

terms, net of any additional premium
77(a)(ii)) was received as at the

() When derecognising a contract, the
PAA as per (b) (i) above.

(d) When derecognising a contr
Question 14.14 applies,

14.20. What if a modified contracgwas palg of an onerous group?

If the modification is ci WPparagraph 72, then paragraph 73 applies and the
changes in estimate cash flows are treated in accordance with paragraphs
50 and 51 inth me as any other subsequent change in fulfilment cash flows under
IFRS 17.

If the modificatior&s specified in paragraph 72, then it is treated as per paragraphs 74-77,
(see question 14.9)®nd there is no CSM to be adjusted in respect of the onerous group to
which the contract was allocated at inception. However, as noted in question 14.9 it is
allocated to the loss component as required by paragraphs 44(c)(ii), 45(c)(iii) and 50(b)
unless measured under PAA.
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Chapter 15 — Measurement, Presentation and Disclosure

Before consulting this chapter, be sure to read the introduction to this IAN, particularly the
sections on references to IFRS 17, materiality and proportionality.

15.A. What does this chapter address?

This chapter considers the general requirements for presentation of financial information
under IFRS contained in IAS 1 as well as the specific additional requirements in IFRS 17. It
also provides general comments on the disclosures required to explain the presentation
such as the required reconciliations. This chapter discusses the additional requirements of
IFRS 17, what constitutes revenue and expenses, how experience variances are
presented, what is to be reported in the statement of financial performance versus other
comprehensive income, the level of aggregation to be used in presentation and
disclosure, and required reconciliations. This chapter also cgft gnges in presentation

8 of this IAN on contracts with participation featur,
This chapter is split into three sections discussing i
° Section A — Measurement

° Section B — Presentation and

° Section C — Disclosures

However, it should be noted
will need to read the whole pter t@appreciate the subject in total. These three

° Overview of IF ation;
position;

° Statement nancial performance;

° Presentation:Miming of cash flows;

° Presentation of acquisition costs and other insurance expenses;
° Presenting other features of IFRS 17 measurement;

° Presentation for different types of entity; and

° Interim reporting, disclosures and transition to IFRS 17.

15.B Which sections of IFRS 17 address this topic?
Paragraphs 78 to 132 and B120 to B137 set out the requirements on this topic.
Paragraphs BC328 to BC366 also provide background on the subject.
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15.C What other IAA documents are relevant to this topic?

None

15.1. What is meant by “presentation” in IFRS 17?

IFRS 17 sets out the items that will be presented in the statement of financial position (a
term used in IFRSs for balance sheet) in paragraphs 78 to 79 and in the statement(s) of
financial performance (a term used in IFRSs for the income statement or statement of
profit or loss) in paragraphs 80 to 92 and B120 to B136. In addition to the profit or loss,
the statement of financial performance also includes changes in the statement of
financial position not included in the profit or loss, which are referred to as “other
comprehensive income” or “OCl”.

Insurance contracts are not included in IFRS 17 presentatio
the date of derecognition of those contracts.

ate to periods after

published by EY. This illustrative example reflects
others may well choose other options.

207



Draft Educational Note February 2019
Statement of financial position
As at 31 December Asatl
January
2021 2020 2020 IAS 1.10(a)
In €000 Notes restated  restated *°1°1*1
Assets IAS 1.51(d)(e)
Cash and cash equivalents 180 57 892 IAs 1.54()
i i i i IAS 1.54(d), IFRS
EgLrulth:nd debt instruments at fair value through profit 9 6,597 5.452 4517 S8
Debt instruments at fair value through other 10 IFRS 7.8(h)
comprehensive income 11,356 10,687 9,525
Debt instruments at amortised cost 11 1,036 987 940
Insurance contract assets 12 102 92 83 IFRS17.78(a)
Reinsurance contract assets 12 2,880 2,811 2,382 IFRS17.78(c)
Deferred tax assets - - IAS 1.54(0)
Other assets - - IAS1.55
Total assets 22,151 18,339
Liabilities
Current tax liabilities 75 22 IAS 1.54(n)
Insurance contract liabilities 12 5 ’618 15,730 IFRS 17.78(b)
Reinsurance contract liabilities 12 25 24 22 IFRS 17.78(d)
Deferred tax liabilities 43 16 50 [AS 1.56,lAS 1.54(0)
Other payables 0 190 173 IA51.55
Total liabilities 18,048 17,053 15,997
Equity
Issued capital IAS 1.54(r), 1AS
d 150 150 150 50
Retained earnings IAS 1.54(r), IAS
9 3,873 2,835 2,141 200
Fair value reserve IAS 1.54(r), IAS
268 126 152 e
Insurance/reinsurance finance resg IAS 1.54(r), IAS
/ (188) (78) (101) Vo
Total equity 4,103 3,033 2,342
Total liabilities and equit 22,151 20,086 18,339

The accounting policies and No ag
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

In €000 Notes restated
Insurance revenue 6 2,581 2,293
Insurance service expense 12 (1,541) (1,411)
Insurance service result before reinsurance contracts held 1,040 882
Allocation of reinsurance premiums 7 (448) (546)
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims 279 348
Net expense from reinsurance contracts held 7 (169) (198)
Insurance service result 684
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
Other interest and similar income
Net fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value 10

through profit or loss
Net fair value gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets _

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Impairment loss on financial assets (5) 2)
Net foreign exchange (expense) / income (50) 22
Total investment income 8 1,252 927
Insurance finance expenses for insurance contracts issued (742) (673)
Reinsurance finance income for reinsurance contra@s hel )1 98 119
Net insurance financial result (644) (554)
Other income and expense (210) (191)
Profit before tax 1,269 866
Income tax expense (231) 172)
Profit for the year 1,038 694
Other comprehensive income
OClI to be reclassified t it or lo subsequent periods
Change in fair value of fi 8 179 (35)
Amount reclassified to pr loss 8 1) 2
Debt instruments at fair e through other comprehensive 8
income 178 33
Insurance finance expenses for insurance contracts issued 8 (194) 38
Reinsurance finance income for reinsurance contracts held 8 56 (9)
Net insurance financial result (138) 29
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified (8) 1
Total other comprehensive income 32 )
Total comprehensive income 1,070 691

IAS 1.81A, JAS 1.9(d),

IAS 1.10¢b), IAS 1.51(b}(e)
IA5 1.29, 1A5 1.32

1A5 1.104,

IAS 1.46, 1AS 1.45
IAS 1.82(aXii), IFRS 17.83
IAS 1.82(ab), IFRS 17.84

IFRS 17.86

IFRS 17.86

IAS 1.82(ac), IFRS 17.82
IFRS 17.80(a)

IAS 1.82(aXi)

IFRS 7.20(aXi)

IAS 1.82(aa)

1AS 1.82(ba)

1AS 1.82(bb), IFRS 17.87
IAS 1.82(bc), IFRS 17.82

1AS 1.82(d), IAS 12.77
1AS 1.81A

1AS 1.82A(aXii)
IFRS 7.20(aXviii)
IFRS 7.20(aXviii)}

IFRS 17.88(b), 89(h)
IFRS 17.82

The accounting policies and Notes on pages 11 to 81 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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15.2.

The following commentary is based on GMA. Other treatment may apply for PAA and this
is discussed in the discussion below.

The insurance service result (paragraphs 83-86 and B120-B127), includes:

o Insurance revenue, comprising the release of expected claim and other expense
cash flows, release of CSM and release of risk adjustment for the period; and

o) Insurance service expenses, comprising actual incurred claims and other expenses,
including acquisition expenses, for the period.

Insurance finance income or expenses (refer paragraphs 87 — 92 and B128 — B136), for the
effect of the time value of money and financial risk, includes:

o Investment income earned on assets during the period, and

o The effect of discounting of the expected future cash flgu

ent of the result
e or expenses can

The insurance service result can be broadly thought of as
relating to claims and underwriting risk while insuranc
be thought of as the component relating to financi

ed between the profit or
ce accounting mismatches

The insurance finance income and expenses can bQdi
loss and other comprehensive income (OCl) jgordeRo re
(refer paragraphs 88(b) and B129 — B130).

This section considers the general r for measurement of key line items for
insurance contracts in the sta nt oNginancial performance in IFRS 17. It covers
changes in presentation perrfitted oreqliired when using the PAA, but differences in
presentation for the VF ere the chapter 8 of this IAN on contracts with

participation featur

How is insurancg reveige, gross of reinsurance, measured?

S that “[...]Insurance revenue shall depict the provision of
services arising from the group of insurance contracts at an amount
sideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for

IFRS 17 paragrap
coverage and oth8
that reflects the co
those services.[...]”

The measurement of insurance revenue is set out in paragraphs B120 to B127. Some of
the key themes from these paragraphs are discussed below, but it is important to refer to
the specific requirements in IFRS 17 as well.

In effect, insurance contract revenue represents the value of the services that the entity
expected to provide during the reporting period. This includes amounts in the statement
of financial position at the start of the reporting period for the value of future coverage,
including the release of CSM and risk adjustment, which will not be included in the
statement of financial position at the end of the reporting period as the related coverage
is provided in the reporting period. This component of the revenue is based on a view of
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what services would be provided in the financial reporting period that were already
included in the opening balance sheet.

It is necessary to also include revenue in respect of coverage provided by insurance
contracts which were recognised for the first time during the financial reporting period
and provided coverage during that period. The amount of this revenue is based on the
value of the contracts at initial recognition and the portion of coverage and other services
provided by those contracts during the reporting period.

Over the lifetime of the contract, the total revenue is the sum of the premiums received,
adjusted for a financing effect and excluding investment components. It is still the
premium but, for long term business, recognised in a very different way and timing
compared to most accounting bases applying prior to IFRS 17.

Insurance revenue related to insurance acquisition cash flows is measured by allocating a
portion of premiums related to recovering these cash flowsgdf ea®yeporting period. This
allocation is based on the passage of time. An equal and oTRgtting ahount is recognised

in insurance service expenses (see paragraph B125).

Under the PAA, insurance revenue is measured asgh ectggh premium receipts
adjusted to reflect the time value of money and thigef inancial risk where
significant (excluding any investment com cated to the period. In addition,
paragraph 56 specifies that the time valye ed not be reflected if the time
coOMage is one year or less. The allocation is
based on the passage of time, unl ted pattern of release of risk differs
significantly from the passage ; which case it should be allocated based on the
expected timing of incurred i ice expenses (see paragraph B126). Liability for
remaining coverage is define®Qin parafraph 40(a) and Appendix A. Paragraph 55 specifies
i r the PAA. See also chapter 7.

The impact of reinsur ssed in question 15.9.
e service expenses?
The items include\n insurance service expenses are identified in paragraph 103b as:

i Incurred®claims (excluding investment components) and other incurred
insurance service expenses;

ii. amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows;

jii. changes that relate to past service, i.e., changes in fulfilment cash flows
relating to the liability for incurred claims; and

iv. changes that relate to future service, i.e., losses on onerous groups of
contracts and reversals of such losses.

As discussed in question 15.34 amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows are equal
and offsetting to the amount included in insurance revenue.

The term “liability for incurred claims” is defined in paragraph 40(b) and in Appendix A.
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15.4.

15.5.

What is the insurance service result?

Paragraph 80 details that the insurance service result comprises the insurance revenue
and insurance service expenses, which are presented excluding investment components.
Insurance revenue and insurance service expenses are discussed in the previous two
guestions and the exclusion of the investment component is discussed in the question
below.

What does it mean to exclude the investment component from the presentation of the
insurance revenue and insurance services expenses?

This question is primarily interested in the presentation on investment components that
are not distinct. Appendix A defines investment components as “The amounts that an
insurance contract requires the entity to repay to a policyholder even if an insured event
does not occur.” The paragraph below briefly explains the treatment of distinct
investment components, which are excluded from revenue enses and the

pr IFRS 17. It will be
necessary to identify which insurance contracts havej : ponents that are not
distinct but need to be presented separately.

The IASB has separate financial reporting standar ial instruments (IFRS 9) and
contracts with customers (IFRS 15). Insuran ts typically combine elements of the
characteristics of both financial compo e components. In paragraph IN4
the IASB explains, in its rationale for imp g IFRS 17, long-term and complex
insurance risks are difficult to refledgi astrement of insurance contracts, are not
typically traded in markets an de a significant investment component which,
poses further measurement . Npragraph IN7 explains that IFRS 17 results in the
liability for a group of insura contrlicts relating to remaining future service under

dly consistent with IFRS 15 except that the liability
often includes an in g ponent typically not in contracts within the scope of

An investment coRgoonent of an insurance contract is the amounts the entity is required
to pay to the policyWolder even if the insured event does not occur (Appendix A). For
example, where there are guaranteed benefits, some profit commission arrangements or
where there is a fund that is repaid to the policyholder if it is not required to settle claims
or pay benefits. For example, guaranteed amounts or repayments of funds payable by the
entity when a contract lapses or is surrendered, may meet the IFRS 17 definition of
investment components as the payments do not depend on an underlying insured event.

Distinct investment components, will already have been separated from insurance
contracts and reported for in accordance with IFRS 9 (see paragraphs 10-12 of IFRS 17).
This question is referring to investment components that are not distinct. Paragraph 13
makes clear that later references to investment components in IFRS 17 refer to treatment
of indistinct investment components that have not already been separated and reported
as if they were separate investment contracts.
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15.6.

15.7.

IFRS 17 requires that insurance service revenue and insurance service expenses exclude
investment components (refer to paragraphs 42(b), 55(b)(vi), 84, 85, 103(b)(i)), B120,
B123(a)(ii), B124(a)(ii)). Paragraph 103 (c) requires that investment components excluded
from insurance revenue and insurance service expenses are disclosed separately in the
reconciliations.

How is the investment component of an insurance contract in scope of IFRS 17
measured?

It is not necessary to explicitly measure investment components in order to be able to
exclude them from insurance revenue and insurance service expenses. The requirement is
only to exclude the amounts identified as arising from investment components at the
reporting date. This is explained in BC34.

IFRS 17 identifies the determination of these investment compgnents as a significant
judgment and requires disclosure of the inputs, assumptio imation techniques
used (see paragraph 117(c)(iv)).

There is a specific requirement to allow for the diffegfhce jget the expected and
actual value of investment components that bec ble g the period, in the CSM
(paragraph B96(c)). See chapter 6 for further inforigati e CSM.

tities will need to define a basis for
e contracts being reported under IFRS 17.

At the time of drafting, it seems likely tha
measuring investment components of i

What is the insurance finance inc n%e and how can it be presented in the

statement of financial perfor

Paragraph 87 defines insura i ome or expenses as the change in insurance
contract liabilities arisin he effifct of the time value of money or changes in the
time value of money e unwinding of the discount rates applied to the
fulfilment cash flows, he discount rates applied to the fulfilment cash flows
and the accreti t on the CSM) and the effect of financial risk or changes in
financial risk.

Groups of contracRwith direct participation features that are onerous, may experience
gains or losses due Yo the time value of money or financial risk that would otherwise
result in an adjustment to the CSM if the contracts were profitable. These gains or losses
arise when the carrying amount of the CSM is exceeded by the entity’s share of a
decrease in the fair value of the underlying items or increases in the fulfilment cash flows
relating to future service (or when these amounts reverse due to the entity’s share of an
increase in the fair value of the underlying items or decrease in the fulfilment cash flows
relating to future service). These gains or losses are excluded from the insurance finance
income or expenses and reported in the insurance service expenses.

An accounting policy choice needs to be made between reporting insurance finance
income or expenses entirely in profit or loss, or splitting it between profit or loss and OCI.
The reasons for allowing this choice of presentation are considered in chapter 3 on
discounting.
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15.8.

15.9.

If an entity chooses to split insurance finance income or expenses for a portfolio of
insurance contracts between profit or loss and OCI, the standard sets out the
presentation requirements in two categories:

1. Contracts with direct participation features for which the entity holds the
underlying items; and

2. All other contracts.

The basis for determining the discount rate that applies when calculating the insurance
finance expense is covered in chapter 3.

When do you not need to present insurance finance expense?

Paragraph 56 indicates that under the PAA an “entity is not required to adjust the carrying
amount of the liability for remaining coverage to reflect the time value of money and the
effect of financial risk if, at initial recognition, the entity expg the time between
providing each part of the coverage and the related premi®g due d®e is no more than a
year.” In this case no insurance finance expense calcugfion i

Are ceded reinsurance premiums and recoveries4 in ggvenue or as negative
expenses?
Insurance contract revenue is calculated o afon to groups of insurance contracts

issued (paragraph 83).

eld is presented separately in the
me from insurance contracts issued
me and expenses from a group of reinsurance
sent separately the amounts recovered from the
iums paid that together give a net amount equal

are presented as part of the claims that are expected to be
reimbursed. HoweWr, other reinsurance cash flows that are expected to be received that
are not contingent on the claims to the underlying contracts, e.g., some types of ceding
commissions, are presented as a reduction to the premiums paid to the reinsurer.

Presentation: timing of cash flows

15.10. How are future premiums on existing insurance contracts allowed for in revenue, for

example, instalment premiums, adjustment premiums and reinstatement premiums?

Paragraph B124 sets out that insurance revenue is for the reduction in the liability for
remaining coverage because of services provided in the period. Consequently, only future
premiums in respect of service provided in the period would be included in revenue for
that period. This may include premiums that have fallen due but have not yet been
received, for example, from brokers where balances are settled quarterly or where
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adjustment premiums are paid at the end of the coverage period relating to changes in
exposure across the entire reporting period.

Future premiums, such as instalment premiums and reinstatement premiums, may relate
to the provision of future coverage, not services provided in the period so will be included
in the valuation of insurance contracts but are not included in revenue until the services
are provided. This means that the value of premiums receivable will be recognised in the
statement of financial position based on when those premiums will be received as they
are within the contract boundary for insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 17 but
will not be included in the statement of financial performance until a subsequent
reporting period when the services related to those premiums have been provided.

Future premium collections in some instances relate to coverage provided in the past,
such as for retrospectively rated contracts and audit premiums found in some non-life
policies. In that case, these future premiums might have alre gen reflected in a past
income statement while still impacting the current state cial position.

Scope, recognition and contract boundary consideratjgfs are '8 d in chapter 1
15.11. How are premiums already paid and premiumsgo id igthe future in relation to
currently held ceded reinsurance contracts showrgn t ements of financial

position and financial performance?

t ast sO are not included in the valuation of
ncial position.

Premiums already paid to reinsurers ar
reinsurance contracts held in the statem

Future premiums due to be pai
meet the recognition requireffients a

ct of Currently held reinsurance contracts that
within the contract boundary are included in
the valuation of reinsurance @ntract@n the statement of financial position. They will be
included in insurance e atement of financial performance when the
services are provide insurer which may be in a subsequent reporting period.

15.12. How is theii
insurance reven

t of xpected policy terminations determined and reflected in the

Under the generalgnodel, paragraph B124 sets out that insurance revenue is for the
reduction in the lialfility for remaining coverage because of services provided in the
period.

B124a indicates that revenue includes “insurance service expenses incurred in the period
(measured at the amounts expected at the beginning of the period)”. Therefore, insurance
revenue reflects policy terminations expected at the beginning of the period and will not
reflect unexpected policy terminations that occur during the period. If the change in the
terminations changes the expected cash flows for future coverage then this adjusts the
CSM.

If the unexpected terminations change the entity’s view of risk which leads to a change in
the valuation of the risk adjustment during the reporting period, this may change the
amount of risk adjustment included in insurance revenue. If the change in the
terminations changes the valuation of the risk adjustment for future coverage then this
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adjusts the CSM, see chapter 5, which may affect the amount of CSM included in revenue
in the period.

Unexpected termination in a reporting period may lead to changes in the assumption for
terminations in respect of future coverage. The impact of changes to the assumptions for
future terminations on the valuation of insurance contracts that do not result in an
adjustment to the CSM (e.g., when the impact is a further loss on a group of onerous
contracts where the is no CSM) would be presented as an insurance expense in the period
when the assumptions are updated but are not included in insurance revenue.

15.13. How is the impact of unexpected policy terminations determined and reflected in the
insurance expense?

To answer this question, it is necessary to consider separately the impact of the
unexpected policy terminations on the actual cash flows in the period and whether this
changes the assumptions for the expected future cash flowgfo ent service (i.e., the
liability for incurred claims) and the expected future cas ure service (i.e., the
liability for remaining coverage).

Assumptions about the number of policy termina actghe likelihood of expected
future cash flows and are taken into account in thegimi amount of cash flows for
calculating the time value of money and th seQf the CSM, whilst uncertainty about
the level of future policy terminations is,re e risk adjustment.

Presentation of changes to actual cash f e reporting period

Where the level of policy termigati diffefent to that expected in the reporting
policy terminations will be reflected in the
actual cash flows in the repoRing per@d, which are included in the insurance expense for
that period.

Presentation of cha ted future cash flows for the current or past coverage
periods

If the difference olicy terminations compared to those expected also leads to a
change in the estiate of the fulfiiment value for future cash flows for the liability for
incurred claims (i.eY where the coverage has already expired), then the change in the
valuation of the insurance contracts due to the change in assumptions for terminations is
included in insurance service expense.

Presentation of changes to expected future cash flows for future coverage

Where the change in the valuation of insurance contracts relates to future coverage, the
CSM may be adjusted. See chapter 6 on the CSM for when and how changes in
assumptions may lead to a change in the CSM. If the impact of the changes in
assumptions in relation to future policy terminations cannot be offset by adjusting the
CSM (i.e., because it relates to the current period and not future coverage), then the
value of that impact of the change in assumptions is included in insurance expense.
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Disclosure of changes in termination rates

There is no explicit requirement to present or disclose the impact of changes in the
number of policy terminations separately and these changes in assumptions may be
combined with other assumptions changes. However, where policy terminations are a key
assumption to the overall valuation, a reporting entity may consider that it would be
appropriate to refer to changes in experience in the narrative disclosures describing the
risk characteristics of the business (paragraphs 121-126) and consider whether it is
appropriate to include the termination assumptions in the sensitivity analysis disclosures
(paragraph 128-129). It may also be necessary to consider the significance of changes in
termination rates when developing and explaining the reconciliations required in
paragraphs 104-107.

inancial information
bments in IFRS 17. It

This section considers the general requirements for presen
under IFRS contained in IAS 1 as well as the specific additio

The general principles for presentation of § tements under IFRS are set out in
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Stateme Iso apply to insurance contracts. In
addition, IFRS 17 includes specific princip nly apply to insurance contracts. To
understand the presentation requi insurance contracts under IFRS 17, it is
necessary to consider IAS 1.

Paragraph 10 of IAS 1 sets olRwhat alomplete set of financial statements comprises. The

° The statement
sheet un ther

osition, which is traditionally referred to as the balance
orting bases, and

° The statem ancial performance, which is also referred to as the statement
of profit or I&s and OClI (in IAS 1).

The statement of financial performance has three parts.

1.  The top part presents sources of income and expenses that are included in profit or
loss and ends with the assessment of profit or loss for the period.

2. Below this is presented sources of OCI that do not contribute to profit or loss.

3. Both these parts contribute to a total assessment of “comprehensive income” for
the reporting period at the bottom of the statement.

IE185 includes an example of this presentation. While helpful for showing the three parts
described above, this example is only intended to illustrate the amounts recognised as
part of the insurance service result and not presentation requirements. For more details
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on the presentation requirements see examples 3 and 9 of the IASB’s illustrative
examples.

Amounts included in OCI typically include items that affect the financial position of the
company but do not directly relate to the performance of the business in the reporting
period, for example, some unrealised gains on financial investments. In some cases there
are options for the reporting entity to elect whether performance is reported in OCl or in
profit/loss. In relation to insurance contracts, companies can choose in their accounting
policies whether to show movements in the value of insurance contracts arising from
changes in the current discount rates in the reporting period in profit or loss or as OCI.
Paragraphs 82 and 83 of IAS 1 set out what should be presented in profit or loss or in OCI.
IAS 1 paragraph 89 requires that all items of income and expenses should be included in
profit or loss unless an IFRS requires or permits otherwise. Paragraphs 90 to 96 of IAS 1
specify some items to be included in OCI. There is more specifigguidance in individual
standards, such as in and IFRS 17 for insurance contracts.

should not be applied in isolation but in th
IAS 1 makes numerous reference to th
Reporting, (Conceptual Framework). This
preparation and presentation of fifgcj

framework serves as a guide t IA
resolving accounting issues tjliat are ngt
Interpretation.

the overarching IFRS principles.
ual Framework for Financial

SCes the basic concepts that underlie the
ents for external users. The conceptual

dressed directly in an IAS or IFRS or

IAS 8 Accounting Polg
overarching standard
IFRS 17. In the

ges in Accounting Estimates and Errors is another

may need to be considered when implementing and applying
standard or an interpretation that specifically applies to a
transaction, man needs to use its judgment in developing and applying an
accounting policy Rat results in information that is relevant and reliable. In making that
judgment, IAS 8 pagraph 17 requires management to consider the definitions,
recognition criteria, and measurement concepts for assets, liabilities, income, and
expenses in the IFRS framework.

In developing accounting policies in relation to IFRS 17, the entity may want to consider
the distinction between the need to make future changes to the estimation basis within
the context of the company’s relevant accounting policy and when it may be necessary to
make future changes to the companies account policies, which would require
restatement of prior year comparatives.

15.15. What principles of materiality apply to IFRS 17 presentation?

There is an IFRS Practice Statement on Making Materiality Judgements. Reporting entities
should have a basis for setting materiality for each set of financial statements and the
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same materiality criteria should be applied to the application of IFRS 17. In the first
instance it would be appropriate to ask one’s principal what level of materiality should
apply.

Although IAS 1 refers to separating material classes of similar items, IFRS 17 contains
several levels of aggregation and disaggregation requirements, which also need to be
taken into consideration for the purposes of presentation and measurement (see
guestion 15.16 below). Materiality for presentation applies at the level of items required
to be presented in the statement of financial position and statement of financial
performance, not at the more granular level required for measurement. This means that
where an assumption has a non-material impact on one class of business it may be
regarded as a non-material assumption. However, even if an assumption has a non-
material impact on each of several classes of business, it may still be necessary to
consider whether the combined impact of that assumption ongdle reported line items is
material to determine whether the assumption itself is a

and from other contracts; and disaggrega cts issued more than one year
apart. Similar principles also apply for r ce contracts held (paragraph 61). All these
requirements apply to the measurgment gRgasUMnce contracts and to reinsurance
contracts held. Presentation and dis insurance contracts and reinsurance
contracts held does not necegfarily nedQto be at this level of granularity. In particular,
disclosures do not necessarilfineed te at the insurance contracts group level as
defined in paragraph 1g#MRer formation on the level of aggregation for

measurement, plea @ o chapter 5.)

g@nd further that these two groups should be further
subdivided betw groups of contracts that are onerous and those that are not. As the
valuation of insurafce contracts takes into account all future cash flows including future
premiums it is possible that insurance contracts may be valued as assets rather than
liabilities when the future premium income expected exceeds the future benefit
payments, claims payments and expenses — for example, during the early stages of the
coverage for contracts with regular or instalment premiums.

Paragraph 78 r
insurance contr

Paragraph 82 requires that income and expenses from reinsurance contracts held be
presented separately from the expenses or income from insurance contracts issued.

IAS 1 (paragraphs 29-31) requires that each material class of similar items is presented
separately. Paragraph 96 of IFRS 17 provides examples of aggregation bases that might be
appropriate for information disclosed about insurance contracts. Examples of aggregation
bases that might be appropriate for information disclosed about insurance contracts are:
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(a) type of contract (for example, major product lines);

(b) geographical area (for example, country or region); or

(c) reportable segment, as defined in IFRS 8 Operating Segments.
15.17. What is segment reporting?

Although IFRS 17 sets requirements for the level of aggregation of insurance contracts in
paragraph 96, it also refers to the requirements for reporting segments under IFRS 8,
which already applies to insurance entities reporting under IFRS. It is only mandated for
entities and groups with listed debt or equity, or those filing for a listing (IFRS 8 paragraph
2).

The core principle in IFRS 8 is that an entity should disclose information to enable users of
its financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
activities in which it engages and the economic environme nwaaich it operates. IFRS 8
applies to individual financial statements for an entity and solidated financial
statements for a group.

Operating segments are identified on the basis ofg
the entity that are regularly reviewed by manage
the segment and to assess its performance. &ggilarl
measures used for internal reporting for t
about how the entity identifies its oper
services from which each segmentgeriv

repggting about components of

ents and the types of products and
ev@nues.

An actuary considering how t y
existing approach to reportirflf segmegts
level of aggregation for ig

17 may also wish to consider the entity’s
der IFRS 8 in order to consider the appropriate
rXace conracts in each component of the business.

Statement of financial pog

15.18. What amoun
contracts?

ented in the statement for financial position for insurance

As explained in th@answer to question 15.16 above, IFRS 17 requires that groups of
insurance contract®hat are assets be presented separately from groups of insurance
contracts that are liabilities. This is a change from IFRS 4 where, in some jurisdictions,
insurance contracts are currently presented as one item. This may be operationally
difficult as entities may not be set up to segregate the measurement of insurance
contracts in this way when applying IFRS 17 for the first time.

“Insurance contracts” refers to all contracts issued by an entity that meet the IFRS 17
definition of an insurance contract (paragraphs 3-8), which includes reinsurance contracts
issued and investment contracts with discretionary participating features. IFRS 17 also
applies to reinsurance contracts held but IFRS 17 specifies where the requirements
applying to reinsurance contracts held are different to those for insurance contracts
issued. Please refer to chapter 9 on reinsurance.
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Presentation of insurance contracts is after separating distinct investment components,
distinct service components and, where required by IFRS 9, embedded derivatives
(paragraphs 10-12), which are accounted for under IFRS 9 and IFRS 15.

Insurance and reinsurance contracts should be included in the statement of financial
position when they meet the IFRS 17 recognition requirements (paragraphs 25-28 and
62), which are considered further in chapter 10, and subject to the requirements for
modification and derecognition (paragraphs 72-77), which are considered further in
chapters 1 and 14.

15.19. What amounts are presented in the statement for financial position for reinsurance
contracts held?

As explained in the answer to question 15.16 above, reinsurance contracts held are to be
presented separately from insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts that are

No. Amounts in respect of reinsurance contracts
amounts in respect of insurance contracts isgued i
performance and financial position and inge
these statements.

ing disclosures required to explain

15.21. How are future cash flows that ef u®but have not yet been received or paid
shown in the statement of finaggi ition ffor example, premiums, claims, benefits,
expenses and acquisition co

The measurement of insiged ts under IFRS 17 includes all expected future cash
PHence, if these cash flows are expected to be
BWncluded in the liability for remaining coverage, or

urred claims for situations such as retrospective premium

ms for certain non-life policies.

possibly the lialgk
adjustments or

If there is a risk th@cash flows may not be received the probability-weighting for those
cash flows should b® adjusted to reflect the likelihood of receipt.

Under PAA, only premiums received are included in the liability for remaining coverage.
Hence if the premium is due but not received, this would not be included in the liability
measurement.

This may represent a significant change from previous financial reporting bases. Typically,
local reporting bases for long term insurance contracts have included the value of the
insurer’s rights to future premiums in the valuation of the insurance contracts. In
contrast, for non-life insurance business where unearned premium reserves are held, the
unearned premium component of the technical provisions is often based on the total
premium expected to be received, regardless of whether it has been received or not, and
the portion of the premiums expected to be received in the future is presented as a
receivable. Similarly, the reinsurer’s portion of unearned premiums is based on the total
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premiums expected to be paid including amounts not yet paid where the latter are
presented in the liability for payables.

15.22. How are cash flows paid for services not yet received shown in the statement of
financial position? (For example, reinsurance premiums paid for cover that has not yet
expired?)

The IFRS 17 measurement basis for amounts presented in the statement of financial
position is a prospective cash flow basis. Cash flows already completed are not included in
the measurement of insurance contracts issued or reinsurance contracts held.

Statement of financial performance
15.23. What line items are required in the statement of financial performance?

Paragraph 80 requires that, for insurance contracts, the entity includes the following line
items in the statement of financial position:

° Insurance revenue;
° Insurance service expenses;

° Insurance service result (comprising thQtw&Ritcgf® above); and
° Insurance finance income and S,

Presenting other features of IFRS 17 measur&gen

15.24. When is the value of options an
guarantees presented in the s
performance?

and changes in the values of options and
of financial position and financial

Paragraph 11(a) requir
accounted for under,
host contract, these a
the fulfilment c

15.25. When and whe
statement for fina

ed gerivatives to be separated from host contracts and
or allembedded derivatives that are not separated from the
easured and presented under IFRS 17 and included as part of
e paragraph B65(d)).

th&additional value for onerous contracts presented in the
ial position?

For all insurance contracts meeting the IFRS 17 recognition requirements at the reporting
date, the additional value of onerous contracts is included in the value of insurance
contracts. Paragraph 103(b)(iv) requires the disclosure of a reconciliation for the changes
in losses for onerous groups of contracts and the reversal of such losses over the
accounting period.

15.26. How is the value for onerous contracts at initial recognition and changes in that value
at subsequent measurement included in the statements for financial performance?

The illustrative examples include several examples considering the measurement of
onerous contracts. Example 1 (IE4-IE17), specifically example 1B, shows initial
measurement of an onerous contract. Example 2B (IE24-1E28) considers an example
where changes in fulfilment cash flows create an onerous group of insurance contracts
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and shows a possible format for reconciliation of the changes in value of the insurance
contract (IE26-1E27) and shows the presentation in the statement of financial position and
financial performance (IE28). Example 8 (IE81-IE98) shows possible formats for the
reconciliation of the reversal of losses in an onerous group of insurance contracts.

15.27. How does presentation of financial position and financial performance differ for
contracts measured using the PAA?

There are no changes to the presentation requirements for entities using the PAA.
However, the amounts presented are based on the measurement amounts under the PAA
(see chapter 7) and there are changes to the disclosure requirements explaining the
presentation.

Under the PAA the contribution towards the value of insurance contracts from the liability
for remaining coverage is the sum of the value of premiums allgcated to the unexpired
portion of insurance contracts recognised at the reporting ¢ any additional
liability for onerous contracts.

Insurance revenue under the PAA is the portion of

the unexpired coverage as entities using t
value of money and the effect for finanggl r'&if, at IMitial recognition, the entity expects

related premium due date is no more

than one year or the financial effec igWficant (paragraph 56).
Similarly, where the coverag i ch contract in a group of contracts is no more
than one year, the entity ma recognise any insurance acquisition cash flows as

expenses when it incu aragraph 59(a)). See also question 15.21 above.

Entities using the PA d to make additional disclosures as set out in paragraph
97.
Some of the req e®® to disclose reconciliations (paragraphs 97-109) are amended or

not applied when ging the PAA.
15.28. How are contracts measured using the variable fee approach presented?

Adjustments to presentation under the variable fee approach are explained in chapter 7
on contracts with participating features and other variable cash flows.

Presentation for different types of entity
15.29. How does the presentation differ for mutual entities?

IAS 1 paragraph 6 explains that entities that do not have equity, such as some mutual
funds, and entities whose share capital is not equity, such as some cooperative entities,
may need to adapt the financial statement presentation of members’ or policyholders’
interests. Prior to implementation of IFRS 17, some entities presented a liability for
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unallocated divisible surplus to represent the surplus which had not been allocated
between participating policyholders prior to reporting the financial statements.

Under IFRS 17 estimates of the expected cash flows to participating policyholders are
included in the value of insurance contracts. Unallocated divisible surplus will not be
presented as a separate item and the amount is included in the fulfilment cash flows.
Accounting mis-matches could give rise to equity in mutual entities (see BC266 and
BC267).

BC269 notes that a mutual entity can distinguish:

(a) inthe statement of financial position, the liability attributable to policyholders in
their capacity as policyholders from the liability attributable to policyholders with
the most residual interest in the entity; and

gses attributable to
gtion of the amounts

(b) in the statement(s) of financial position, the income or g
policyholders in their capacity as policyholders beforg
attributable to policyholders with the most residugpi

15.30. How does the presentation differ for entities wit ess?

In this IAN, run off business refers to where an en ed to issue new policies for
part or all of its business but is continuing t nagQpreviously issued contracts. (This is
sometimes also referred to with regard to anmg business as “closed books”.)
Provided that a business is a going conc 17 presentation applies in the same way
to reporting entities where some u®ness is running off and to entities that
continue to write new business

nMty reporting on an IFRS basis makes an
assessment of the entit tinue as a going concern. An insurer or reinsurer
or IFRS reporting purpose even if all the business is
entity is not considered to be a going concern, IAS 1
requires additi disclaures which may need to be taken into consideration when
applying IFRS 1

15.31. How does IFRS 1 presentation results differ for consolidated financial statements?

There are no differences in the requirements for presentation by a solo insurer or
reinsurer and for a group that has issued insurance contracts within one of its group
companies. However, as explained above, IFRS 17 needs to be applied with reference to
the requirements of other relevant standards.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, sets out the requirements for producing
consolidated financial statements. One of the requirements of IFRS 10 is that intra-group
balances are eliminated on consolidation (see paragraph B86(b) of IFRS10). For example,
where there are intra-group reinsurance arrangements, the consolidated amounts for
insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts are not simply the sum of these amounts in
the entity financial statements. Rather the amounts presented exclude the intra-group
balances such that the value of reinsurance contracts for the consolidated group are only
in relation to contracts entered into with parties outside the group. Consequently, it is

224



Draft Educational Note February 2019

also necessary to be clear which entities in the group are consolidated for financial
reporting purposes, as the consolidation requirements differ for wholly owned
subsidiaries, different levels of participation in other businesses and joint ventures.
Although these requirements are set out in IFRS 10, IFRS 17 and IAS 28, it is also
important to understand how the reporting entity has implemented these requirements.

Where the consolidating group includes more than one insurer or reinsurer the valuation
of groups of insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held may be different
in the results of the solo company compared to in the group results. One example of this
is in relation to the calculation of the risk adjustment and the CSM. Paragraph B88
permits the allowance of diversification in the calculation of the risk adjustment at the
reporting entity level. This is discussed further in chapter 4 on risk adjustment.

Further changes to the granularity of disclosures may be required, for example, in relation
to segment reporting (see question 15.20 above), if the seg ported for the group
and the solo entities within the group are not the same.

Interim reporting, disclosures and transition to IFRS 17

15.32. What is interim reporting and how does IFRS 1§a o this?

nt either a complete or

eriod (i.e., a financial reporting
presctibes the minimum content of an
gnition and measurement in financial

An interim financial report is a financial repogt that
condensed set of financial statements for g | i
period shorter than a full financial year
interim financial report and the principle

ifferent entities with different interim reporting periods
for similar transactions.

15.33. Why can an entit§change its IFRS 9 classification of financial instruments the first time
it implements IFRS 17?

Paragraph C29 sets out the conditions for redesignation of financial assets under IFRS 9 if
the entity applied IFRS 9 to annual reporting periods before the initial application of IFRS
17.

This may be important to reporting entities as the designation of financial instruments
affects whether the performance of those financial instruments is reported in profit/loss
or in OCI. Considering the presentation of financial instruments and insurance contracts
together under IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 respectively, can help to minimise accounting
mismatches by allowing movements due to the same underlying factors (e.g., movements
in financial market values and market consistent assumptions) to be presented in the
same statement i.e., in profit/loss or in OCI.
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If a redesignation of financial assets under IFRS 9 is made upon initial application of IFRS
17, then the entity must:

- Apply the designations and classifications retrospectively, applying the relevant
transition requirements in IFRS 9 (paragraph C30);

- Either restate prior periods to reflect changes to designations and classifications or
if the entity does not restate prior periods then the entity must recognise the
impact of the redesignation in opening retained earnings (or other component of
equity) (paragraph C31); and

- Include certain disclosures pertaining to any redesignation of financial assets
(paragraphs C32-C33).

Presentation of acquisition costs and other insurance expenses

15.34. When and where are acquisition costs included in the st of financial position
and financial performance?

When insurance contracts are recognised (see chapt e cluded in the

attributable to the portfolio to which the co
in order to sell insurance contracts where
on commission per contract sold, the en
contracts that are ultimately not pggcha

included in the initial measurement of the
at the CSM is reduced for the cost of the

recognition of the contract,
portfolio of insurance cog

acquisition expenses a

Peen incurred prior to the financial reporting date and are
pntracts which will not be recognised until a later date, there
ce contracts to which those expenses can be allocated. In those
circumstances, th&&eporting entity can include an asset or liability in the statement of
financial position fof the value of those acquisition costs. This asset or liability for
acquisition costs is derecognised when the relevant insurance contracts are recognised so
there is a group of insurance contracts to which the acquisition expenses can be allocated
(paragraph 27). If the contract boundary is one year or less and the PAA is used, this
treatment of acquisition costs is optional and the reporting entity can choose to recognise
the acquisition costs as expense or income in the statement of financial performance
when they are incurred (paragraphs 27, 38(b) and 59(a)).

will be no group

Assets or liabilities for acquisition costs are not shown as a separate line item in the
statement of financial position but are included in the carrying amount of the related
groups of insurance contracts issued or reinsurance contracts held (paragraph 79).

There are a number of specific disclosure requirements for insurance acquisition costs. In
relation to the reconciliations required in paragraph 100, these are covered in paragraph
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103-107. If an entity uses the PAA, it also discloses the method it has chosen to recognise
insurance acquisition cash flows applying paragraph 59(a).

15.35. When and where are claims handling expenses included in the statements of financial
position and financial performance?

Under the GMA, claim handling costs (i.e., the costs the entity will incur in investigating,
processing and resolving claims under existing insurance contracts, including legal and
loss-adjusters’ fees and internal costs of investigating claims and processing claim
payments) are included in the insurance contract cash flows (paragraph B65(f)) and so are
recognised in the financial statements when the associated insurance contracts are
recognised, if those cash flows are within the contract boundary. Consequently, claims
handling expenses are included in the valuation of insurance contracts and reinsurance
contracts heId in the statement of flnanC|aI p05|t|on are mcIuded in insurance revenue in

the statement of financial position
contracts that are recognised firggcial statements and if the expense cash flows are
within the contract boundar\ll See ch$pteY 1 for insurance contract recognition and

contract boundary.

Paragraph B65(l) se
restrictions on their in
contracts using
excludes costs th
development and
detail in chapter 2.

ypes of insurance expenses may be included and

ion. For example, overheads must be allocated to groups of
t are systematic and rational. Paragraph B66(d) explicitly
nnOt be directly attributed to the portfolio (e.g., some product
ining costs). Which cash flows may be included is covered in more

Indirect expenses and overheads that are included in the valuation of insurance contracts
are recognised in the financial statements when the associated groups of insurance
contracts are recognised provided those cash flows are within the contract boundary.
Consequently, indirect expenses and allocated overheads are included in the valuation of
insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts held in the statement of financial position;
are, under the GMA, included in insurance revenue in respect of insurance services
expected to be delivered in the financial reporting period; and are included in insurance
service expense in the period in which the costs are incurred.

Expenses that cannot be included in the valuation of insurance contracts are recognised
in the statement of financial performance in the period in which they are incurred, unless
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they fall within another accounting standard which prescribed an alternative accounting
treatment.

This section provides general comments on the disclosures required to explain the presentation
such as the required reconciliations.

Overview of IFRS Disclosures
15.37. What is meant by “disclosures” in IFRS 17?

The objective of the disclosure requirements is for an entity to disclose information in the
notes to the financial statements, enabling users of the financial statements to assess the
effect of contracts within the scope of IFRS 17 on the entity's statement of financial
position and statement(s) of financial performance and statement of cash flows. The
disclosures cover information about the amounts recogniseg inancial statements;
significant judgment and changes in those judgments; and and extent of risks
from contracts in scope of IFRS 17. The disclosure reqgfemer gfet out in paragraphs
93 to 132.

15.38. What is the objective of the disclosure requireni@gnt at might be the role of an
actuary helping to produce IFRS 17 disclos ?

of WasclosUuT®requirements is to give users of
financial statements, together with infor ioMmresented in the statement of financial
position, statement of financial pe d statement of cash flows, a basis to
assess the effect that contrac in@e scope of IFRS 17 have on the entity’s financial

Paragraph 93 specifies that the objecti

Uy m will have ultimate responsibility for the
inancial statements, including the disclosures. The actuary’s

responsible for i e overall financial statements. This may include:

° Preparing n@erical information specific to the disclosures that is not recorded in
core finance Ystems or which is sourced from actuarial models — for example
estimates of claims development and sensitivities to insurance and market risks.

° Supporting the preparation of, or reviewing, qualitative information included in the
disclosures — for example qualitative information on how the entity manages the
various types of risk to which it is exposed.

° Review of other qualitative or quantitative information included in the financial
statements to support the overall integrity of the disclosures and to ensure that the
information included presents a fair and accurate representation of the effect of the
contracts within the scope of IFRS 17 at the reporting date.
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15.39. Do you need to show separate reconciliations for reinsurance contracts held?

Yes, paragraph 98 specifies that separate reconciliations shall be disclosed for insurance
contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held and that the reconciliations should be
adapted to reflect the features of reinsurance contracts held that differ from insurance
contracts issued.

15.40. Are there any changes to the presentation or disclosure requirements when applying
IFRS 17 for the first time?

Paragraphs C25 — C28 specifies exceptions to the presentation of comparative
information when applying IFRS 17 for the first time. These are summarised below.

° Comparative information for periods earlier than the beginning of the annual
reporting period immediately preceding the date of initial application may be
included but is not required.

. Disclosures specified in paragraphs 93 — 132 are nqt
periods before the beginning of the annual rep
the date of initial application.

)r comparative
mediately preceding

. If unadjusted comparative information and re presented for earlier
periods, it must be disclosed that the i alPn has not been adjusted and explain
the basis on which it has been prepa

ouNpJaims development that occurred earlier
7 need not be disclosed. However, if an
ation, it shall disclose that fact.

° Previously unpublished information
than five years prior to transi
entity does not disclose info

If an entity redesignates finaRgial assglis under IFRS 9 in accordance with paragraph C29
then additional disclo ade in accordance with paragraphs C32 and C33.
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Appendix — How does presentation and disclosures differ in IFRS 17 compared with the
previous standard for insurance contracts IFRS 4?

The answer here is intended to give an overview of the key differences. The details of the
changes in IFRS 17 are considered in more detail in other questions in this chapter.

Under IFRS 4, presentation of insurance contracts in the financial statements in each
jurisdiction could vary as IFRS 4 permitted the grandfathering of previous accounting policies
based on the local GAAP basis applying before IFRS 4 was implemented. Entities reporting
under IFRS 4 also had to apply the principles set out in IAS 1. The presentation of insurance
contracts in the statement of financial position under IFRS 17 might be broadly similar to the
typical way in which the balance sheet is presented under IFRS 4. However, the values
presented may be significantly different. This difference arises because the measurement basis
for contracts within the scope of IFRS 17 is based on expected future cash flows rather than the

also be adjusted for future cash flows to be received or
valuation of insurance contracts and ceded reinsurance

basis between IFRS 4 and IFRS 17, notably the j ion of, or changes to, the discounting
basis (see chapter 3), the basis for setting rgin (see chapter 4), and the introduction
of the CSM (see chapter 6).

Under IFRS 17, it will be necessary Y@ presej and disclose separately the investment
cluded from revenue and expenses. Paragraphs 84-
85, being read with refere gsaph 13, requires that insurance revenue and insurance

insurance revenue and rance service expenses.

The presentation of finar®ial performance for insurance contracts is likely to be significantly
different under IFRS 17 compared with IFRS 4. IFRS 17 introduces a new definition of revenue,
which does not necessarily reconcile to actual premium income over the reporting period. IFRS
17 also sets out a new basis for calculating profit or loss. The presentation of financial
performance separates the profit and loss arising from the insurance service from insurance
finance income and expense, which includes the effect of allowing for time value of money. The
extent of the changes to the presentation of financial performance may make it relatively
difficult to make comparisons between the income and expenses presented under IFRS 17 with
equivalent amounts presented on an IFRS 4 basis except where the PAA is used under IFRS 17.
For contracts where PAA is used, the presentation is likely to have greater similarity to the
presentation under IFRS 4. This will particularly be the case if the IFRS 4 reporting basis was
based on earned premiums and claims reserves i.e., as is/was common for many non-life
contracts under IFRS4.
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The objectives of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 17 are broadly similar to those in IFRS 4.
However, because the measurement basis in IFRS 17 is significantly different to the
measurement basis used by insurers reporting under IFRS 4, there are requirements for many
new reconciliations to explain the amounts presented in the financial statements (see
paragraphs 97-117). To meet the overarching objective for disclosures under IFRS 17, risk
metrics used in the disclosure on the nature and extent of risks (paragraphs 121-132) need to
be consistent with the IFRS 17 measurement basis.
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